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                              GLOSSARY OF TERMS


      The following terms and abbreviations used in the text of this report
are defined as indicated:

Bcf - Billion cubic feet.

Btu - British thermal unit.

Bypass - Obtaining service from a new supplier without utilizing the facility
of the former supplier.

Cogeneration - The use of gas for on-site production of both electricity and
heat for industrial and large commercial users.

Company or Registrant - National Fuel Gas Company.

Condensate - A liquid hydrocarbon recovered at the surface as natural gas is
produced.

Data-Track - Data-Track Account Services, Inc.

Degree Day - A measure of the coldness of weather experienced, based on the extent to which the daily mean temperature falls below a reference temperature, usually 65 degrees Fahrenheit (F). For example, on a day when the mean temperature is 35 degrees F, there would be 30 degree days experienced.
Development Well - A well drilled to a known producing formation in a previously discovered field.
Distribution Corporation - National Fuel Gas Distribution Corporation.
Empire - Empire Exploration, Inc.
Exploratory Well - A well drilled to a previously untested geologic structure to determine the presence of oil or gas.
Farm Out - An arrangement whereby the owner of a lease assigns the lease, or some portion of it, to another party for drilling.
FERC - Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.
Firm Transportation - Pipeline transportation under contractual arrangements providing service not subject to interruption.
Highland - Highland Land & Minerals, Inc.
Holding Company Act - Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as amended.
Horizontal Drilling -A drilling technique in which the well bore runs horizontal or parallel to the earth's surface. This exposes a greater portion of the underground producing rock formation to the well bore than conventional vertical drilling, improving overall productivity by permitting maximum recovery from a reservoir.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS (Continued)
Leidy Hub - Leidy Hub, Inc.
Mbbl - Thousand barrels.
Mcf - Thousand cubic feet.
MMcf - Million cubic feet.
MMcfe - Million cubic feet equivalent.
NFR - National Fuel Resources, Inc.
NGV - Natural gas vehicle.
Nonregulated Operations - Consist of the Company's Exploration and Production and Other Nonregulated business segments.
Note or Notes - Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
PaPUC - Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission.
Penn-York - Penn-York Energy Corporation.
PSC - State of New York Public Service Commission.
Regulated Operations - Consist of the Company's Utility and Pipeline and Storage business segments.
Reserves - Estimated volumes of oil, gas or other minerals that can be recovered from deposits in the earth with reasonable certainty.
Seneca - Seneca Resources Corporation.
SEC - Securities and Exchange Commission.
SFV - Straight fixed-variable.
Supply Corporation - National Fuel Gas Supply Corporation.
System - The Company and its subsidiaries.
Throughput - The sum of volumes of gas sold and volumes of gas transported for customers.
Transportation Service - The movement of gas for third parties through pipeline facilities for a fee.
UCI - Utility Constructors, Inc.
Unbundled Service - The separation of pipeline company services, such as storage, gathering and transmission, with rates charged which reflect the cost of each service.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS (Continued)
Underground Storage -The injection of large quantities of natural gas into underground rock formations for storage during periods of low market demand and withdrawal during periods of peak market demand.
WNC - Weather normalization clause.
Working Gas - Gas in an underground storage field that is available for market which is in excess of the base gas.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
The Company, a registered holding company under the Holding Company Act, was organized under the laws of the State of New Jersey in 1902. The Company is engaged in the business of owning and holding all of the securities of the subsidiary companies identified below. All references to years in this report are to the Company's fiscal year ended September 30 unless otherwise noted.
The System constitutes an integrated natural gas operation and consists of operations which are regulated as to their rates and operations which are not so regulated. The Regulated Operations fall within two business segments:
Utility Operation and Pipeline and Storage. The Nonregulated Operations consist principally of the Exploration and Production business segment. Other Nonregulated operations include the System's natural gas marketing and brokerage operations, pipeline construction operations, sawmill and dry kiln operations, and natural gas market area hub operations.
The Utility Operation is carried out by Distribution Corporation. Pipeline and Storage operations are carried out by Supply Corporation. Effective July 1, 1994, all of the Company's natural gas storage services were consolidated into Supply Corporation through the merger of Penn-York into Supply Corporation. Seneca is engaged in Exploration and Production operations. Effective July 1, 1994, all of the Company's Exploration and Production operations were consolidated into Seneca through the merger of Empire into Seneca. Supply Corporation's exploration and production activities were transferred to Empire, effective on January 1, 1994. Other Nonregulated operations are carried out by NFR, UCI, Highland, Seneca, Data-Track and Leidy Hub.
No single customer, or group of customers under common control, accounted for 10% or more of the System's consolidated revenues in 1994.
Financial information about the Company's business segments can be found in Note H - "Business Segment Information," on pages 79 to 81 of this report.
Distribution Corporation, a New York corporation, is a public utility that sells natural gas and provides gas transportation service in western New York and northwestern Pennsylvania. During 1994, Distribution Corporation served an average of 727,700 retail customers, compared with an average of 724,400 retail customers served during 1993. The principal metropolitan areas served are Buffalo, Niagara Falls and Jamestown, New York, and Erie and Sharon, Pennsylvania.
Supply Corporation, a Pennsylvania corporation, is engaged in the transportation and storage of natural gas for System and nonaffiliated companies. Supply Corporation owns and operates an integrated gas pipeline system extending from southwestern Pennsylvania to the New York-Canadian border at the Niagara River. Supply Corporation owns and operates 30 underground storage fields in its operating area and four additional underground storage fields are operated jointly with certain major interstate pipeline companies.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (Continued)
Seneca, a Pennsylvania corporation, is engaged in the exploration for, and the development and purchase of, natural gas and oil reserves in the Gulf Coast of Texas and Louisiana, in California, and in the Appalachian region of the United States. Seneca's production is, for the most part, sold to purchasers located in the vicinity of its wells. In addition, Seneca is engaged in the marketing of timber from its Pennsylvania land holdings.
NFR, a New York corporation, is engaged in the marketing and brokerage of natural gas and performs energy management services for utilities and end-users.
UCI, a Pennsylvania corporation, is engaged in pipeline construction and other construction work for the System and nonaffiliated companies, and is headquartered in Linesville, Pennsylvania.
Highland, a Pennsylvania corporation, operates a sawmill and kiln in Kane, Pennsylvania.
Data-Track, a New York corporation, provides collection services for the subsidiaries of the Company, particularly Distribution Corporation, primarily through the issuance of collection notices.
Leidy Hub, a New York corporation, is a partner in the Ellisburg-Leidy Northeast Hub Company, which operates a natural gas market area hub in northeastern Pennsylvania serving the consuming regions of the Northeast, Mid-Atlantic and Canada. The hub offers services designed to simplify the complexities and the volatility of the gas market for gas buyers and sellers.
RATES AND REGULATION
All System companies are subject to regulation by the SEC under the broad regulatory provisions of the Holding Company Act, including provisions relating to issuance of securities, sales and acquisitions of securities and utility assets, intra-System transactions and limitations on diversification. Distribution Corporation is subject to regulation by the PSC and the PaPUC concerning rates and other matters. Supply Corporation is subject to regulation by the FERC, concerning rates and other matters. In addition, System companies are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations concerning numerous other matters.
On November 2, 1994, the SEC issued a concept release soliciting comment on modernization of the Holding Company Act. The SEC has deemed that a reexamination of the need for, and role of, a federal holding company statute is necessary in light of recent utility and regulatory developments. The Company is unable to predict, at this time, what type of modernization may occur as a result of this reexamination and therefore what the impact will be on the Company.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (Continued)
UTILITY OPERATION
Gas Sales and Transportation
The System's Utility Operation is conducted solely through Distribution Corporation. Substantially all of its sales are requirements sales (i.e., sales that vary and are not subject to significant minimum take obligations). In 1994, Distribution Corporation's sales and transportation volumes by customer class were 52% residential, 21% commercial and 27% industrial. In 1994, the Utility Operation accounted for approximately 52% of System operating income before income taxes. Information regarding the results of operations for the Utility Operation can be found in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," on pages 33 to 51 of this report.
On average, 97% of Distribution Corporation's retail customers use gas for space heating, which makes throughput, for the most part, weather-sensitive. In Distribution Corporation's New York jurisdiction, it was 3.6% colder than the prior year and 3.9% colder than normal, based upon the number of Degree Days for the year. In Distribution Corporation's Pennsylvania jurisdiction, it was 9.6% colder than the prior year and 8.4% colder than normal, based upon the number of Degree Days for the year.
Weather that was colder than the prior year contributed to a 5 Bcf increase in retail sales in 1994. Although industrial volumes sold remained level when compared with the prior year, they reflected a 2.5 Bcf switch from sales to transportation service, offset by increased gas sales to a new cogeneration customer.
The impact that major weather variances have on revenues and margins is tempered by a weather normalization clause that the PSC has authorized in Distribution Corporation's New York retail jurisdiction. This WNC is designed to adjust the rates of retail customers to reflect the impact of deviations from normal weather. Weather that is more than 2.2% warmer than normal results in a surcharge being added to customers' current bills, while weather that is more than 2.2% colder than normal results in a refund being credited to customers' current bills. In 1994, the WNC was in effect for the period from October 1993 through May 1994. During this time, there were periods of both warmer than normal and colder than normal weather. Overall, the WNC resulted in a net reduction to customer bills of approximately $5.8 million in 1994.
Distribution Corporation requested a WNC in the Pennsylvania rate jurisdiction in its March 8, 1994 rate case filing. However, the PaPUC denied Distribution Corporation's request. This decision continues to subject Distribution Corporation's operating results to the impact of major weather variances.
Distribution Corporation offers large commercial and industrial customers transportation services and flexible rate designs. Transportation service, which allows end-users to purchase gas directly from a producer or marketer and transport it through the System's pipeline network, provides the <PAGE 9>
ITEM 1. BUSINESS (Continued)
customer with various options in buying gas and transportation services, thus providing the opportunity for cost savings to the customer. In 1994, 52.2 Bcf of gas were transported to such customers of Distribution Corporation, a 7% increase over the 48.9 Bcf transported in 1993. Transportation volumes represented 30% of the Utility segment's total throughput in 1994 and 29% in 1993.
The volume of gas transported by this segment increased 3.3 Bcf in 1994 mainly because of industrial and commercial boiler fuel sales customers switching to transportation service, which amounted to approximately 2.9 Bcf. In addition, transportation volumes increased by approximately 2 Bcf for large- and small-volume industrial customers. Partly offsetting these increases was a decline in transportation in the Pennsylvania jurisdiction of approximately 0.8 Bcf because of the shut down of three industrial customers and a decline of approximately 0.8 Bcf because of the bypass of the Company's pipeline system in favor of local producer gas service. Rates that became effective in December 1994, in the Pennsylvania rate jurisdiction, compensate for the loss of throughput related to these customers.
Distribution Corporation has a supplemental service rate in New York and a bypass rate in Pennsylvania which are intended to induce customers not to bypass the System. These rates are designed to recover Distribution Corporation's cost of providing back-up service to customers utilizing an alternative gas supply. In addition, Distribution Corporation has a flexible transportation tariff in Pennsylvania and New York, which allows it to negotiate a competitive rate to encourage customers to stay on the System.
The unbundling of services under the FERC's Order 636 has required transportation customers to incur storage service costs for use of storage facilities. These costs were previously bundled and charged only to sales customers. As a means of providing options to its customers, Distribution Corporation offers a Daily Metered Transportation rate in Pennsylvania. Customers using this rate would only incur storage charges for storage service utilized, as determined through a daily metering process, thus increasing the importance of each customer's management of its gas needs. Distribution Corporation has proposed a similar rate in its New York jurisdiction rate case filed in October 1994.
Through open dialogue with customers, utilization of the various rates discussed above and Distribution Corporation's in-house gas acquisition expertise which industrial customers and other end-users may not have, Distribution Corporation has been able to mitigate bypass of the System.
Distribution Corporation also offers competitive boiler fuel rates to large commercial and industrial customers in its New York rate jurisdiction. These rates allow Distribution Corporation to adjust rates monthly to compete against suppliers of No. 6 oil and other boiler fuels. <PAGE 10>
ITEM 1. BUSINESS (Continued)
If boiler fuel and supplemental service rates in New York, the bypass rate in Pennsylvania and flexible transportation rates in both jurisdictions were not available, Distribution Corporation could become vulnerable to losses in throughput since natural gas is, in many cases, directly replaceable by No. 6 oil in industrial boilers, or can be obtained through bypass of the System.
Distribution Corporation also offers rates in both its New York and Pennsylvania jurisdictions that provide competitive gas prices encouraging new technologies, such as the installation of small-packaged cogeneration and gas-fired cooling and dehumidification systems that utilize gas on an all-year or summerload basis.
The System continues to encourage the development of the natural gas vehicle market. The System operates over 400 NGVs along with four public-access refueling stations. A fifth public-access station is scheduled to open in 1995.
Distribution Corporation is not currently subject to any material restrictions upon the connection or service of new residential, commercial and industrial customers in its service territory. However, because of the high natural gas saturation and the maturity of Distribution Corporation's service territory, its focus will be on retaining existing customers through rate design initiatives and, in the longer term, through the development and marketing of new natural gas utilization technologies.
Gas Supply
One of the major effects of restructuring of the natural gas industry under the FERC's Order 636 was the transfer of responsibility for acquiring gas supply from pipeline companies to natural gas utility companies. This transfer of responsibility also carried with it the transfer to utility companies of the risks related to the purchasing of adequate and reliable gas supplies, transportation arrangements and storage arrangements. In addition, the role of the state public utility commissions in monitoring the prudency of purchasing practices of the utility has become more significant.
As a result of Supply Corporation's restructuring, which became effective August 1, 1993, gas supplies for the System are now obtained by Distribution Corporation in essentially the same manner operationally, as they were in recent years by Supply Corporation.
Distribution Corporation's basic gas acquisition objective is to obtain reliable, diversified, long-term sources of gas supply at competitive prices and to maintain appropriate levels of pipeline and storage capacity to transport and store its gas supply.
As a result of Order 636 restructuring, Distribution Corporation was provided a share of pipeline and storage capacity on Supply Corporation and on the upstream pipeline companies formerly serving Supply Corporation. Distribution Corporation has entered into contracts for the necessary capacity on Supply Corporation and on these upstream pipeline companies, to meet the requirements of its firm sales customers. <PAGE 11>
ITEM 1. BUSINESS (Continued)
Distribution Corporation has firm transportation capacity from Supply Corporation and the following pipeline companies: Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company, Texas Eastern Transmission Corporation, Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corporation, CNG Transmission Corporation (CNG) and Columbia Gas Transmission Corporation (Columbia). Total contracted capacity on these pipelines, in the aggregate, is approximately 155,916 MMcf annually.
Distribution Corporation has contracted storage capacity of 25.3 Bcf from Supply Corporation as well as contracted storage capacity, in the aggregate of 4.6 Bcf, from CNG and Columbia. At September 30, 1994, Distribution Corporation had 28.0 Bcf of gas in storage.
Pipeline companies' transportation and storage rates have been designed on a SFV basis, as mandated by Order 636. This rate design allows pipeline companies to recover all of their fixed costs through a demand or reservation charge. Thus, Distribution Corporation pays nearly all costs of its contracted pipeline transportation and storage through a demand charge. Distribution Corporation maintains its current level of firm capacity so it can continue to provide reliable service to its firm sales customers during peak winter months. Distribution Corporation must pay to reserve capacity year round even though the demand of the firm customers significantly decreases during the summer months. Distribution Corporation has reduced a small amount of its fixed costs by releasing unused capacity during off-peak periods and will continue to utilize capacity release programs.
In order to provide gas service to its customers and fill the pipeline capacity obtained in the Order 636 unbundling process, Distribution Corporation was assigned Supply Corporation's pre-Order 636 gas purchase agreements and has since entered into its own gas purchase agreements. Currently, approximately 92% of Distribution Corporation's daily winter capacity on upstream pipelines is supported by long-term gas supply contracts, primarily with Southwest producers. Distribution Corporation's firm gas supply portfolio is comprised of contracts, having an average six-year term, which supply gas from a variety of production areas and suppliers. Many of Distribution Corporation's long-term supply contracts are adjusted to reflect the seasonal variations in customer demand, thereby decreasing costs. Spot gas continues to be utilized when short-term gas supplies are plentiful and when it is economical to do so. During off-peak periods, Distribution Corporation is able to make off-system sales when supplies are not needed to provide service to its firm sales customers.
While Distribution Corporation's purchases of Appalachian produced gas has continued to decline, gas received from local producers and transported by Supply Corporation and Distribution Corporation for large industrial end-users, remains an important source of gas supply for these end-users.
For additional details on sources of gas supply, see the "Sources of Gas Supply - Regulated Operations" on page 13 of this report.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (Continued)
Based on information currently available to the Company, Systemwide gas supply remains sufficient to meet anticipated demand.
In 1994, Distribution Corporation's average cost of purchased gas, including the cost of transportation and storage, was $3.74 per Mcf, a decrease of 3% from Distribution Corporation's average cost of $3.84 per Mcf in 1993. Regulation of gas prices at the wellhead is virtually nonexistent, and therefore, the market primarily dictates gas supply and gas prices.
The total quantity of gas purchased by Distribution Corporation in 1994 was 145.9 Bcf, compared with 131.5 Bcf purchased by Distribution Corporation and Supply Corporation (net of intersegment purchases) in 1993, an increase of
14.4 Bcf or 11%.
The 14.4 Bcf increase in purchases was the result of the following (refer to "Selected Statistics of the System's Regulated Operations" on page 16 of this report): (1) Net injections into storage in 1994 were 4.3 Bcf compared with net withdrawals from storage in 1993 of 3.0 Bcf. This accounts for a 7.3 Bcf increase in the amount of gas required to be purchased in 1994.
(2) Gas used in operations, shrinkage and other increased 8.5 Bcf in 1994. Shrinkage represents a percentage of gas retained by pipeline companies for purposes such as fueling their compressors. Purchases reported by the System are gross amounts (i.e., prior to shrinkage). The amount of shrinkage is dependent upon where title to such gas is taken. The System has experienced a steady increase in the past several years in the amount of gas it has taken title to in the Southwest. In 1994, Distribution Corporation took title to approximately 95% of its gas purchases in the Southwest. Thus, amounts required to be purchased by Distribution Corporation were higher than amounts available for sale to Distribution Corporation's customers. (3) A 5.1 Bcf increase in Distribution Corporation's retail sales required increased purchases in 1994. (4) Elimination of Supply Corporation nonaffiliated wholesale sales under Order 636 restructuring, which amounted to 6.5 Bcf in 1993, resulted in decreased purchases in 1994.
Total System throughput increased 34.4 Bcf or 13% to 307.3 Bcf in 1994, from 272.9 Bcf in 1993. This increase is mainly attributable to higher volumes of gas transported through Supply Corporation's Canadian gas transportation facilities and higher retail sales by Distribution Corporation which were up primarily because of colder weather and increased gas sales to a new cogeneration customer.
The following table, "Sources of Gas Supply - Regulated Operations", sets forth the sources and quantities of gas purchases over the past three years. (System throughput volumes are contained in the table on page 16.)
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS (Continued)

                              Sources of Gas Supply - Regulated Operations

                                 Annual
                                Contract              Volumes Delivered-MMcf
                               Volumes in            Year Ended September 30,
                                  MMcf    (1)        1994       1993     1992

Producers and Marketers:

    Long-Term Contracts           124,471 (2)      107,487   60,664    28,819

    Appalachian                     4,595 (3)        4,595    7,366    11,883

    Affiliated Production           2,474 (4)        2,474    4,265     5,067

Spot Market                             - (5)       31,319   52,785    86,142

Interstate Pipelines                    - (6)            -    6,434     2,298


  Total Gas Supply - Regulated
   Operations                     131,540          145,875   131,514  134,209

(1) This column reflects annual volumes under currently existing contracts. Thermally-expressed annual contract quantities have been converted to their volumetric equivalent on a nominal 1,000 Btu per cubic foot basis.
(2) The producers and marketers from which Distribution Corporation purchases gas pursuant to long-term supply contracts (contracts with a term of two years or longer, the average length of Distribution Corporation's contracts being six years) are: Chevron U.S.A., Coastal Gas Marketing, Enron Gas Marketing, Inc., Enron Excess Corporation, Exxon Company U.S.A., Meridian Oil Trading, Inc., MidCon Gas Services, Corp., Mobil Natural Gas, Inc., Natural Gas Clearinghouse, Shell Oil Company, et al., Tejas Power Company, Texaco Gas Marketing, Transco Energy Marketing Company and Vastar Gas Marketing, Inc. (formerly Arco Natural Gas Marketing, Inc.). In addition, the amounts include Canadian gas under contract with Boundary Gas, Inc. and ANE Gas Marketing.
(3) The annual contract volume represents 1994 purchases from independent producers in the Appalachian region. The independent producer contracts generally continue until the reserves dedicated to them are economically depleted. The annual contract volumes applicable to these contracts vary as a function of the deliverability of the wells committed to them. The vast majority of this production is long-term dedicated supply.
(4) The annual contract volume represents supply from the System's own production in the Appalachian region. Volumes decreased significantly in 1994, as the System's own production is being sold to various end-users.
(5) No annual contract volume is shown here as, generally, spot contracts are very short-term. <PAGE 14>
ITEM 1. BUSINESS (Continued)
(6) No contract volumes are shown here as interstate pipeline companies have terminated their merchant function under the FERC's Order 636. Distribution Corporation has contracts with interstate pipeline companies for pipeline capacity to transport gas purchased under direct contracts.
For a discussion of Distribution Corporation's obligations under its nonaffiliated pipeline capacity, gas purchase and gas storage contracts, see Note G - "Commitments and Contingencies," on pages 77 to 79 of this report.
PIPELINE AND STORAGE
The System's Pipeline and Storage operations are conducted by Supply Corporation. In 1994, these operations accounted for approximately 36% of System operating income before income taxes. Information regarding the results of operations for the Pipeline and Storage operations can be found in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" on pages 33 to 51 of this report.
Pipeline Capacity and Transportation
Supply Corporation currently has service agreements for substantially all of its pipeline capacity, which approximates 1,860 MMcf per day. Distribution Corporation has contracted for approximately 1,120 MMcf per day or 60% of this capacity.
Effective with Supply Corporation's restructuring under Order 636, most of its upstream pipeline contracts have been assigned to its former sales customers. Currently, there is a small amount of unallocated capacity on three upstream pipelines related to capacity which was not accepted by certain customers. The reservation charges related to the unallocated capacity are considered stranded transportation costs, a category of Order 636 transition costs. Supply Corporation is recovering these amounts from its customers pursuant to FERC authorization.
Supply Corporation's transportation throughput in 1994 was 295.3 Bcf compared with 138.6 Bcf in 1993. The increase in 1994 is primarily the result of unbundling of services under Order 636 under which Supply Corporation's former sales customers became transportation customers. Also, throughput increased as a result of weather that was colder than the prior year, increased utilization of Supply Corporation's Canadian gas transportation facilities and the expanded capacity of these facilities.
For a discussion of the impact of the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 on Supply Corporation's compressor stations, see Note G - "Commitments and Contingencies," on pages 77 to 79 of this report.
Underground Storage
To facilitate operational efficiencies, all of the System's natural gas storage services were consolidated into Supply Corporation through the July 1, 1994 merger of Penn-York into Supply Corporation. Supply Corporation owns and <PAGE 15>
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operates 30 underground storage fields in its operating area. Four additional underground storage fields are operated jointly with certain major interstate pipeline companies. All of these fields are former gas-producing reservoirs and are operated under FERC certification.
Supply Corporation has available Working Gas capacity of approximately
69.9 Bcf. Of this amount, approximately 7 Bcf has been retained by Supply Corporation in order to render no notice transportation service and meet other delivery obligations. Of the remaining available Working Gas capacity of approximately 62.9 Bcf, Distribution Corporation has contracted for 25.3 Bcf and nonaffiliated customers have contracted for 35.6 Bcf.
The primary terms of current storage service agreements representing
23.3 Bcf of the amount contracted for by nonaffiliated customers expire on March 31, 1995. Service continues year-to-year and can be terminated upon one years notice. None of these customers have elected to terminate service nor extend their term for ten years as provided under a settlement of a previous Penn-York rate case.
Supply Corporation's proposed Laurel Fields Storage Project is a 19 Bcf underground natural gas storage development project. Filings with the FERC were made in June 1994 to implement this project. An "open season" was held in August 1994 to identify prospective customers for this project with whom agreements are currently being negotiated. On November 4, 1994, a proposal was sent to the FERC to divide the project into two phases. Phase I would encompass the expansion of the Limestone storage field to accommodate approximately 7 Bcf of storage and phase II would consist of the development of the Callen Run storage field, a depleted gas production field. The estimated cost of both phases of this project, including related transmission facilities, is approximately $200 million. Timing of the project has not been finalized.
The Company believes that underground storage will have enhanced economic value in the post-Order 636 environment. Furthermore, the growing demand for natural gas for home heating in the Northeast and on the East Coast creates a demand for peak period gas supplies, which may require additional storage service. Supply Corporation's storage fields are strategically located between Southwest and Canadian gas supplies and the growing demand for natural gas in the Northeast and East Coast areas.
The magnitude of future expansion in the System's Regulated Operations depends, to a large degree, upon market conditions coupled with adequate rate relief.
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SELECTED STATISTICS OF THE SYSTEM'S REGULATED OPERATIONS

(Intra-System Sales Eliminated Where Appropriate)

                                         Year Ended September 30,
                                 1994     1993      1992      1991      1990
GAS AVAILABLE FOR SALE (MMcf):
Natural Gas Purchased-
  Producers and Marketers      112,082    68,030    40,702   37,078    20,387
  Spot Market Purchases         31,319    52,785    86,142   90,822    93,961
  Interstate Pipelines               -     6,434     2,298    3,103    22,377
                               143,401   127,249   129,142  131,003   136,725

Natural Gas Produced             2,474     4,265     5,067    5,088     4,823

  Total Gas Supply             145,875   131,514   134,209  136,091   141,548
Gas Withdrawn from (delivered
 to) Storage - Net              (4,306)    2,992    (2,449)  (5,671)    2,320
Used in Operations, Shrinkage
 and Other                     (17,535)   (8,986)   (3,665)  (2,446)  (1,705)
  Total Gas Available for Sale 124,034   125,520   128,095  127,974   142,163

SYSTEM THROUGHPUT (MMcf):
Retail Sales -
    Residential                 90,565    86,854    84,762   79,299    85,761
    Commercial                  26,937    25,598    25,909   25,634    28,646
    Industrial                   6,532     6,528     9,131    9,893    10,872
Wholesale Sales                      -     6,540     8,293   13,148    16,884
  Total Gas Sales              124,034   125,520   128,095  127,974   142,163
Transportation                 183,255   147,357   172,505  128,731   101,512
  Total System Throughput      307,289   272,877   300,600  256,705   243,675

GAS OPERATING REVENUES INCLUDING TRANSPORTATION
 (Thousands of Dollars):

Retail -
    Residential               $677,068  $613,039  $533,908 $494,332  $517,026
    Commercial                 177,249   156,851   139,662  135,718   150,637
    Industrial                  31,096    31,609    35,985   38,395    45,707
Wholesale                        6,930*   27,451    30,150   43,917    47,773
  Total Gas Operating Revenues 892,343   828,950   739,705  712,362   761,143
Transportation                  68,695    64,641    61,204   42,308    35,192
  Total Gas Operating Revenues
    Including Transportation  $961,038  $893,591  $800,909 $754,670  $796,335

AVERAGE NUMBER OF UTILITY
 CUSTOMERS:
Retail -
    Residential                680,043   676,876   672,877  668,240   663,697
    Commercial                  46,518    46,344    46,051   45,292    44,859
    Industrial                   1,181     1,188     1,201    1,202     1,207
Transportation                   1,306     1,293     1,088      957       750
                               729,048   725,701   721,217  715,691   710,513

* 1994 wholesale revenues represent revenues from Distribution Corporation's off-system sales. <PAGE 17>
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EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION
The System's Exploration and Production operations are carried out by Seneca. Seneca is engaged in the exploration for, and the development of, natural gas and oil reserves in the Gulf Coast of Texas and Louisiana, in California, and in the Appalachian region of the United States.
To facilitate operational efficiencies, all of the System's exploration and production operations were consolidated into Seneca through the July 1, 1994 merger of Empire into Seneca. Supply Corporation's exploration and production activities were transferred to Empire, effective January 1, 1994.
Exploration and production activities in 1994 accounted for approximately 13% of System operating income before income taxes. Information regarding the results of operations for the Exploration and Production operations can be found in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" on pages 33 to 51 of this report.
Gulf Coast/West Coast Exploration and Production
Seneca's Gulf Coast activities in 1994 were directed toward continued offshore exploration for natural gas in the Gulf of Mexico and drilling of horizontal wells for gas production in the Austin Chalk formation in Seneca's Northeast Clay field in central Texas.
The offshore exploration program uses advanced computer and seismic technology in an attempt to identify low risk gas prospects which can be drilled and placed in production in less than one year. As of September 30, 1994, Seneca had acquired and evaluated new offshore seismic data covering an area of over 45,000 square miles. In 1994, Seneca drilled six gas wells in the Gulf of Mexico, five of which were successful. The most significant discovery was in West Cameron Block 552 where one gas well was drilled in 1994.
Seneca has continued to achieve its goal of placing new wells in production within one year. Two of the five successful wells in the Gulf of Mexico were in production by September 30, 1994. The other three wells are expected to be in production by March 31, 1995. Future offshore activity should continue to be strong with Seneca's acquisition of three blocks in the Federal Lease Sale and acquisition of one block through a farm out. These acquisitions have increased Seneca's inventory of offshore prospects to eleven, some of which will be evaluated in 1995.
In addition, Seneca actively pursued identifying and drilling gas reserves in the tight Austin Chalk formation in its Northeast Clay Field in central Texas. In 1994, Seneca drilled or participated in five horizontal wells, all of which were successful. The scope of Seneca's horizontal drilling is expected to expand in 1995. Seneca has acquired nearly 4,000 acres and 6,000 acres to the west and east of the Northeast Clay Field, respectively. Plans are to begin development of this acreage in 1995. <PAGE 18>
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As a result of this activity in the Gulf Coast Region, 93.4 Bcf of gas reserves and 1.1 million barrels of oil reserves were added in 1994.
Reserves related to the Gulf Coast Region at September 30, 1994 amounted to 3.8 million barrels of oil and 153.2 Bcf of gas, or approximately 22% and 62% of Seneca's total oil and gas reserves, respectively. This represents a decrease of approximately 0.3 million barrels of oil and an increase of 73.7 Bcf of gas compared with September 30, 1993.
Seneca's California activities in 1994 were concentrated primarily on cost control and improving production in the Sespe and Silverthread Fields in Ventura, California while continuing development drilling in the new Temescal Field. In 1994, Seneca drilled one additional successful well in the Temescal Field.
Reserves related to Seneca's California operations at September 30, 1994, amounted to 13.5 million barrels of oil and 32.0 Bcf of gas, or approximately 77% and 13% of Seneca's total oil and gas reserves, respectively. This is a decrease of 0.7 million barrels in oil reserves and
2.4 Bcf of gas compared with September 30, 1993.
During 1994, Seneca's combined Gulf Coast and California operations produced 1.0 million barrels of oil and 17.0 Bcf of gas compared to 0.8 million barrels of oil and 13.2 Bcf of gas produced in 1993. This represents an increase of 25% in oil production and 29% in gas production. In 1994, oil and gas sales were made to marketers and refiners under long-term agreements, which contain flexible pricing provisions.
Appalachian Exploration and Production
Most of the gas production Seneca owns in the Appalachian region, is transported to end-users by the System. A percentage of the production from these wells is dedicated to the System's Regulated Operations' gas supply. Seneca's drilling programs in this region depend, to a large degree, on gas prices. In 1994, Seneca drilled or participated in drilling 8 net gas wells, of which 5 were completed as producers and 3 were plugged and abandoned as dry holes. Approximately 0.7 Bcf of gas was discovered as a result of these efforts. This is compared with 1993's drilling program of 18 net wells, of which 11 were completed as producers, and 1.1 Bcf of gas discovered.
In 1994, Seneca's gas production from its Appalachian wells amounted to
6.3 Bcf compared with 6.6 Bcf in 1993. At September 30, 1994, Seneca had 1,998 net productive wells in the Appalachian Region. Seneca's gas reserves at September 30, 1994, located in this region amounted to 62.3 Bcf, or approximately 25% of Seneca's total gas reserves. This represents an increase in gas reserves of 1.0 Bcf compared with 1993, as current year discoveries from drilling activities, revisions of previous estimates and acquisitions of reserves in place more than offset current year production. Seneca's Appalachian oil production and oil reserves are not significant. <PAGE 19>
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Oil and Gas Prices
During 1994, the System's weighted average oil price at the wellhead was $14.86 per barrel, a decrease of $1.92 per barrel, or 11%, from 1993. The System's weighted average gas price at the wellhead was $2.18 per Mcf, a decrease of $.02 per Mcf, or 1%, from 1993. Nonetheless, efforts to stabilize prices through hedging activities contributed approximately $1.6 million of operating revenues for the year. See further discussion of hedging activities in Note A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies on pages 58 to 62 of this report.
At September 30, 1994, Seneca did not experience an impairment of its oil and gas assets under the SEC full cost accounting rules. Wellhead price declines in the future, if material, could have a negative impact on Seneca's oil and gas assets.
OTHER NONREGULATED
The Systems's Other Nonregulated operations are carried out primarily by NFR, UCI, Highland and Leidy Hub, which are engaged in natural gas marketing and brokerage operations and energy management services; pipeline construction operations; sawmill and dry kiln operations; and natural gas market hub activities, respectively. Other Nonregulated operations also include the marketing of timber. In 1994, these operations accounted for 1% of System operating income before income taxes. Corporate operations reduced System operating income before income taxes by 2%. Information regarding the results of operations for the Other Nonregulated operations can be found in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" on pages 33 to 51 of this report.
In 1994, Leidy Hub received SEC approval to enter into a partnership with a subsidiary of Natural Gas Clearinghouse (Clearinghouse) to develop a market area hub in north central Pennsylvania, where, in order to manage their gas supply, customers such as pipelines, marketers and utilities can store or borrow gas short-term, move gas from one pipeline to another, and buy or sell gas. The partnership became effective September 1, 1994. Leidy Hub has a 50% interest in this partnership.
COMPETITION
The natural gas industry was a competitive one in 1994 and is expected to become more competitive in the future. Competition existed among providers of natural gas, as well as between natural gas and other sources of energy.
Management continues to believe that there will be increased usage of natural gas nationwide over the longer-term and, therefore, opportunities exist for increased sales, transportation and storage of natural gas, primarily on behalf of off-system end-users. This increased use of natural gas nationwide is expected to result mainly from the increased use of natural gas as an electric generation and cogeneration fuel, conversion of home heating load from oil to gas, economic and population growth and competitive <PAGE 20>
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prices. Nonetheless, there is currently downward pressure on gas prices due to milder than normal weather and increased supply because of the continued growth of Canadian imports and increasing domestic supplies attributable to more efficient exploration and production technology. While seasonal swings in gas prices between the heating and nonheating season are expected to continue, the longer term trend in natural gas prices is dependent upon the balance of demand and supply. Current estimates of the United States demand growth rate range from 1 - 4%, while estimates for increases in available supply range from 2 - 5%.
The continuing deregulation of the gas industry should also enhance the competitive position of gas relative to other energy sources by removing some of the regulatory impediments to adding customers and responding to market forces. In addition, the environmental advantages of natural gas compared with other fuels should increase the role of natural gas as an energy source. The potential environmental role of natural gas was enhanced by the passage of the Clean Air Act in 1990. Moreover, natural gas, which is abundantly available in North America, is a dependable domestic alternative to foreign oil.
The electric utility industry is moving toward a more competitive environment as a result of the Energy Policy Act of 1992 and actions of various regulatory commissions. It is unclear at this point what impact this restructuring will have on the natural gas industry.
System companies compete on the basis of price, service, quality and reliability, product performance and other factors.
Utility Operations
The changes precipitated by the FERC's Order 636 are redefining the roles of the utility industry and the state regulatory commissions. Competition has arrived for utilities, and it is anticipated that, similar to what was done in the pipeline sector of the natural gas industry, regulators will require utilities to unbundle their services. The anticipated result is that utility service will divide into "core" markets consisting of the traditional residential and commercial customers, as well as customers taking firm transportation service and "non-core" markets consisting of competitive commercial and industrial markets. It is anticipated that competition for the "non-core" market will continue from parties desiring to bypass the System by selling and/or transporting gas directly to Distribution Corporation's industrial and commercial customers. Furthermore, the FERC, in its recent Bypass Policy, appears to be unwilling to shield local distribution companies from bypass. In addition, competition will exist with fuel oil suppliers and electric utilities in making retail energy sales. Distribution will attempt to retain, and if possible expand, its most vulnerable markets, such as the large industrial market, through favorable rate design, business development and related efforts. Distribution Corporation continues to (a) develop or <PAGE 21>
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promote new sources and uses of natural gas and/or new services, rates and contracts; (b) purchase gas from lowest cost suppliers consistent with operating and long-term gas supply needs; and (c) emphasize and provide high quality service to its customers.
Pipeline and Storage Operations
The Pipeline and Storage segment competes for market growth in the natural gas market with other pipeline companies transporting gas in the Northeast and with other companies providing gas storage service. The System has some unique characteristics which enhance its competitive position. Its service area, which is located adjacent to Canada and the Northeast United States, and partially connects the Northeast with the South, Southwest and Midwest, is advantageous for the provision of increased transportation and storage service in the future. The Company will continue to evaluate ways to take advantage of its location to open up new markets and expand existing ones, especially in the gas storage business. There will, however, be increased competition to provide services due to a number of recent large pipeline expansions in the Northeast. Likewise, new storage projects face competition from existing storage facilities and a number of planned storage projects which have been announced as a result of Order 636.
Exploration and Production
The Exploration and Production segment competes with other gas and oil producers and with fuel oil and electricity wholesalers and producers. Seneca competes with other oil and gas exploration and production companies of various sizes for leases and drilling rights for exploration and development prospects, and competes with other producers for markets to sell its production based on price and deliverability.
To compete in this environment, Seneca acts as operator on most prospects, sheds risk of exploratory efforts through partnerships, applies the latest technology for both exploratory studies and drilling operations and focuses on market niches that suit its size, operating expertise and financial criteria.
Other Nonregulated
In the Other Nonregulated segment, NFR competes with other gas marketers and energy management services providers. Leidy Hub competes with other gas market service providers. Highland competes with other sawmills in northwestern Pennsylvania, and UCI competes with other pipeline construction companies in its area of operation. Sources and providers of energy, other than those described above, do not compete with System companies to any significant extent.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
A discussion of capital expenditures by business segment is included in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," on pages 33 to 51 of this report.
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS
Supply Corporation is engaged in discussions, but not formal proceedings, with the New York Department of Environmental Conservation (NYDEC) concerning the 71 plugged and abandoned gas wells located within the boundaries of the Bennington and Holland, New York, underground natural gas storage fields. Supply Corporation voluntarily agreed to re-plug 30 wells which were believed to be venting small amounts of natural gas to the atmosphere. Twenty-seven of those wells have been plugged, at a cost of approximately $3.1 million, and the other 3 have been found not to be venting gas anymore. There are on-going discussions regarding the NYDEC's determination that Supply Corporation should also re-plug 37 plugged and abandoned wells which are not venting any natural gas to the atmosphere. Re-plugging those additional 37 wells, plus the 3 wells which were formerly venting small amounts of gas to the atmosphere, would cost an additional amount of approximately $5.1 million.
For additional discussion of environmental matters involving the Company, see Note G - "Commitment and Contingencies" on pages 77 to 79 of this report.
MISCELLANEOUS
The System had 3,148 regular employees at September 30, 1994, a decrease of 5.4% from the 3,329 employed at September 30, 1993.
Agreements covering employees in collective bargaining units in the State of New York were renegotiated in calendar 1994 and are scheduled to expire in calendar 1998. Agreements covering most employees in collective bargaining units in the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania were renegotiated in calendar 1993 and are scheduled to expire in calendar 1996.
System companies have numerous county and municipal franchises under which they use public roads and certain other rights-of-way and public property for the location of facilities. System companies have regularly renewed such franchises at expiration and expect no difficulty in continuing to renew them.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY (1)

                     Age as of                                    Date Elected
      Name            9/30/94           Position                  To Position

Bernard J. Kennedy      63       Chairman of the Board of
                                 Directors.                     March 21, 1989
                                 Chief Executive Officer.       August 1, 1988
                                 President.                    January 1, 1987
                                 Director.                      March 29, 1978
                                 Executive Vice President
                                 and General Counsel from
                                 1976 to 1986.
                                 Chairman of the Board of
                                 certain subsidiaries of the
                                 Company since August 1988.
                                 President and Chief Executive
                                 Officer of Supply Corporation
                                 and an officer of certain
                                 other subsidiaries of the
                                 Company from prior to 1989
                                 until June 1, 1989.

Philip C. Ackerman      50       Director                       March 16, 1994
                                 Senior Vice President.         June 1, 1989
                                 Vice President from July 1,
                                 1980 until June 1, 1989.
                                 President of certain of the
                                 Company's subsidiaries from
                                 prior to 1989.

Richard Hare            56       President of Supply Corporation. June 1, 1989
                                 An executive officer of certain
                                 of the Company's subsidiaries
                                 from prior to 1989.

William J. Hill         64       President of Distribution        June 1, 1989
                                 Corporation.
                                 An executive officer of
                                 Distribution Corporation
                                 from prior to 1989.

(1) The Company has been advised that there are no family relationships among any of the officers listed, and that there is no arrangement or understanding among any one of them and any other persons pursuant to which he was elected as an officer.
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GENERAL INFORMATION ON FACILITIES
The investment of the System in net property, plant and equipment was $1,542,739,000 at September 30, 1994. Approximately 80% of this investment is in the System's Utility and Pipeline and Storage segments, which are primarily located in western New York and western Pennsylvania. The remaining investment in property, plant and equipment is mainly in the Exploration and Production Segment, which is primarily located in the Gulf Coast, southwestern, western and Appalachian regions of the United States.
The Utility Operation has the largest net investment in property, plant and equipment, compared with the System's other business segments. Most of this net investment represents its gas distribution network. These properties include 14,592 miles of pipeline (exclusive of service pipe), which represent approximately 55% of the Utility Operation's net investment of $787,794,000.
The Pipeline and Storage segment represents a net investment of $440,810,000 in transmission and storage facilities at September 30, 1994. Transmission pipeline, with a net cost of $132,591,000, represents 30% of this segment's total net investment and includes 2,786 miles of pipeline required to move large volumes of gas throughout the System's service area. Storage facilities consist of 34 storage fields, four of which are jointly operated with certain pipeline suppliers, and 512 miles of pipeline. Included in the storage facilities net investment is $80,942,000 of base gas. The Pipeline and Storage segment has 31 compressor stations with 72,100 installed compressor horsepower.
The Exploration and Production segment had a net investment in properties amounting to $295,419,000 at September 30, 1994. Of this amount, Seneca's net investment in oil and gas properties in the Gulf Coast/West Coast regions was $238,175,000, and Seneca's net investment in oil and gas properties in the Appalachian region aggregated $57,244,000.
During the past five years, the System has made significant additions to plant in order to expand and improve transmission and distribution facilities for both retail and wholesale customers and to augment the reserve base of oil and gas. Net plant has increased $455,276,000, or 42%, since 1989.
The System's facilities provided the capacity to meet the System's 1994 peak day sendout, including transportation service, of 1,988 MMcf, which occurred on January 19, 1994. Withdrawals from storage provided approximately 47% of the requirements on that day.
System maps are included as Exhibit 99.2 to this report.
EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION ACTIVITIES
The information that follows is disclosed in accordance with SEC regulations, and relates to the System's oil and gas producing activities. For a further discussion of oil and gas producing activities, refer to Note K
- - "Supplementary Information for Oil and Gas Producing Activities," on pages 84 to 88 of this report, and to Exploration and Production on pages 17 to 19 of this report. <PAGE 25>
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Supply Corporation files Form 2 "Annual Report of Natural Gas Companies" and Form 15 "Annual Report of Gas Supply" with the FERC. The reserve disclosures in these reports were filed as of December 31, 1993, whereas the reserve disclosures included in Note K are reported as of September 30, 1994.
The gas reserves of Supply Corporation reported as of December 31, 1993, in Forms 2 and 15, were in-house estimates arrived at by qualified Supply Corporation geologists and engineers. Seneca is not regulated by the FERC, and thus is not required to file Forms 2 and 15. As discussed in Item 1, Supply Corporation's exploration and production activities were transferred to Empire effective January 1, 1994. Subsequently, on July 1, 1994, Empire was merged into Seneca. Seneca's oil and gas reserves reported in Note K as of September 30, 1994, were estimated for Seneca by independent petroleum engineers from Ralph E. Davis, Inc.
The following is a summary of certain oil and gas information taken from System records:

Production

   For the Year Ended September 30                    1994      1993     1992

     Average sales price per Mcf of gas             $ 2.18    $ 2.20   $ 1.97

     Average sales price per barrel of oil          $14.86    $16.78   $17.11

     Average production (lifting) cost per Mcf
      equivalent of gas and oil produced            $  .45    $  .54   $  .62

Productive Wells

   At September 30, 1994                     Gas          Oil

     Productive Wells - gross               2,153         201
                      - net                 2,013         172

Developed And Undeveloped Acreage

   At September 30, 1994

     Developed Acreage   - gross          568,736
                         - net            508,753

     Undeveloped Acreage - gross          516,743
                         - net            476,482

<PAGE 26>
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES (Concluded)

Drilling Activity

                                           Productive              Dry
   For the Year Ended September 30     1994   1993   1992   1994   1993  1992

     Net Wells Completed - Exploratory    5      9      5      5      6     5
                         - Development    7     16     11      1      3     3


Present Activities

   At September 30, 1994

     Wells in Process of Drilling - gross                 1
                                  - net                   1

There are currently no waterflood projects or pressure maintenance operations of material importance.
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PARAGON/TGX PROCEEDINGS
A. New York Litigation
On November 30, 1984, Distribution Corporation commenced an action against Paragon Resources, Inc. (Paragon) and TGX Corp. (collectively Paragon/TGX), in the United States District Court for the Western District of New York (the District Court) seeking a declaratory judgment concerning the contract effect of a December 20, 1983 PSC order (the Disapproval Order) which, among other things, disapproved a 1974 gas purchase agreement between Distribution Corporation's predecessor in interest, Iroquois Gas Corporation, and Paragon (the Paragon Contract). Paragon/TGX counterclaimed for (i) a declaration that the Disapproval Order did not affect the Paragon Contract in any way, whatsoever, (ii) approximately $4,400,000 in respect of take-or-pay claims, and (iii) unquantified amounts in respect of other alleged breaches of the Paragon Contract. Commencing with its payment for production received in September 1984, Distribution Corporation has paid Paragon/TGX for Paragon Contract gas at prices below those developed by the Paragon Contract's price formula, as the same have been impacted, from time to time, by the Natural Gas Policy Act of 1978 (NGPA).
On the basis of a Memorandum and Order dated December 10, 1988, the District Court in January 1991 issued a partial summary judgment which declared that, whereas the Disapproval Order abrogated only the Paragon Contract's price term, the legal consequence of such abrogation was to render the Paragon Contract "void and no longer of any force or effect" as of December 20, 1983.
On December 3, 1991 the U. S. Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit (the Second Circuit) reversed the District Court's partial summary judgment and remanded the case to the District Court for further proceedings. The Second Circuit agreed with the District Court that the Disapproval Order had "voided the Contract's price term," but did not agree that the Paragon Contract as a whole was "voided by the cancellation of the price term." Rather, the Second Circuit found that Paragon/TGX had elected an option available to it under the Paragon Contract to continue that contract, in the aftermath of the Disapproval Order, at "a price consistent with" that order.
In a letter dated December 13, 1991, TGX demanded that Distribution Corporation pay it $21,874,042 (including interest), alleged to represent the difference between the amount received by Paragon/TGX in respect of Paragon Contract gas delivered during the period September 1984 through October 1991, and the amount allegedly due TGX in respect of such gas during such period. Distribution Corporation rejected TGX's demand.
By Order entered March 23, 1992, the District Court granted Distribution Corporation permission to amend its reply to Paragon/TGX's counterclaims to allege, among other things, (i) Distribution Corporation's "termination" of the Paragon Contract by letter effective February 1, 1988; (ii) Paragon's pre- September 1984 repudiation of the Paragon Contract; and (iii) the PSC's "primary jurisdiction" to interpret the Disapproval Order as respects "a price consistent" therewith. With respect to (iii) above, Distribution Corporation <PAGE 28>
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notes that the New York State Public Service Law provides that no charge for gas made pursuant to a contract with a New York gas utility shall exceed the "just and reasonable charge" for such gas. In response to Distribution Corporation's motion for partial summary judgment in respect of the defense denominated (ii) above, the District Court, in a Memorandum and Order entered July 10, 1992, as revised by a Memorandum and Order entered March 1, 1993, denied Distribution Corporation's summary judgment motion (due to a perceived question of fact as to the occurrence of a condition precedent to Paragon's pre-September 1984 contract repudiation), but confirmed Distribution Corporation's right to assert the repudiation defense upon the trial of the action.
On January 4, 1993, the District Court entered a non-final order purportedly responsive to a February 13, 1992 Paragon/TGX motion. The order purports to declare that, by voiding the Paragon Contract price escalation mechanism effective December 31, 1983, the PSC's 1983 Disapproval Order effectively capped the Paragon Contract price, at the lesser, from time to time, of (i) the 1983 Paragon Contract summer/winter "base prices," or (ii) the applicable "Natural Gas Ceiling Prices" set forth in 18 CFR paragraph
271.101 Table I. Under date of January 19, 1993 Distribution Corporation sought rehearing, reargument, reconsideration and clarification of the January 4, 1993 order. On July 12, 1993, the District Court filed a Memorandum and Order granting in part the January 19, 1993 motion. The July 12, 1993 Order stated that, while the January 4, 1993 Memorandum and Order did determine that an obligation on Distribution Corporation's part to pay for gas purchased pursuant to the gas purchase agreement at the applicable NGPA ceiling price arose out of the conduct of the parties after the NGPA became effective and that the Disapproval Order did not relieve Distribution Corporation of such obligation, it did not determine the just and reasonable price for the gas pursuant to Public Service Law section 110(4), set a contract price for the duration of the contract, resolve any defenses presented by Distribution Corporation, determine whether such obligation continues until the present time, or rule on any deregulation issues.
Effective January 14, 1994, TGX purportedly effected a partial assignment of its interest under the Paragon Contract to an unaffiliated third-party, with whom Distribution Corporation subsequently negotiated agreements to supersede the terms of the Paragon Contract, prospectively. These transactions did not materially increase (and potentially may have decreased) Distribution Corporation's exposure in the New York Litigation.
On September 29, 1994, Paragon/TGX served an amended answer and counterclaim. That pleading restates Paragon/TGX's claims for unquantified money damages respecting Distribution Corporation's alleged (i) breach of contract price and "take-or-pay" provisions, (ii) "lack of good faith...material breach" of the contract, and (iii) repudiation of the contract. The pleading also adds two new, but unquantified claims - (i) consequential damages suffered upon the sale of properties and assignment of the Paragon Contract at less than full value, and (ii) damages related to the allegation that Distribution Corporation "tortiously and with intent injured <PAGE 29>
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TGX in the conduct of its business." Distribution Corporation filed a timely reply to Paragon/TGX's claims.
The parties are awaiting a scheduling order from the magistrate regarding discovery and the trial of this proceeding.
B. Louisiana Litigation
On February 22, 1990, TGX, the purported assignee of the Paragon Contract, filed a voluntary petition pursuant to Chapter 11 of the United States Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Western District of Louisiana (the Bankruptcy Court). Thereafter TGX commenced a "turnover" proceeding against Distribution Corporation, premised upon TGX's December 13, 1991 payment demand described above under "New York Litigation." Pursuant to a partial settlement agreement between TGX and Distribution Corporation, approved by the Bankruptcy Court in August 1992, TGX has withdrawn the "turnover" proceeding and Distribution Corporation has paid to TGX $2,940,000 in consideration of, among other things, TGX's release of Distribution Corporation from the cause of action asserted in the "turnover" proceeding. TGX is still free to pursue its breach of contract counterclaims in the New York Litigation. However, the $2,940,000 paid by Distribution Corporation to TGX will be credited against the amount, if any, which is ultimately adjudged due TGX and/or Paragon in the New York Litigation.
C. State Commission Proceedings
By its "Order Instituting Proceeding," issued in Case 93-G-0352, et al., and effective April 28, 1993, the PSC granted Distribution Corporation deferral authority in respect of the New York allocable share ($2,006,000) of the partial settlement payment described above under "Louisiana Litigation" and instituted a proceeding designed to address Distribution Corporation's request for recovery authority in respect of that amount. Distribution Corporation received authority to treat the Pennsylvania allocable share ($934,000) of the partial settlement payment as a gas cost experienced during the twelve (12) month period ending November 30, 1992.
The PSC proceeding is also expected to address Distribution Corporation's recovery in New York of gas costs incurred in respect of the Paragon Contract during the reconciliation period September 1, 1991 through August 30, 1992. Finally, the PSC proceeding is expected to include the review of the Paragon Contract in light of the "just and reasonable" standard of the New York Public Service Law.
Under date of October 25, 1994, the Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) in this proceeding issued a recommended decision (RD). The RD seemingly recommends that the maximum price Paragon/TGX should be authorized to receive for gas delivered in respect of the contract should be $3.714 per Mcf. The ALJ noted that Distribution Corporation might owe approximately $9.6 million more to Paragon/TGX under this scenario. The ALJ also found that payments previously made by Distribution Corporation were prudent and reasonable. Nonetheless, he recommended that Distribution Corporation be allowed to recover from ratepayers only one-half of the $2,006,000 payment referred to <PAGE 30>
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above and one-half of future amounts that might be paid to Paragon/TGX. The ALJ's recommendations are not binding on the PSC or the courts. All parties to the proceedings have taken exception to various portions of the RD. The PSC is expected to issue its decision in this proceeding during 1995.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 1994.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER
MATTERS
Information regarding the market for the Registrant's common stock and related shareholder matters appears in Note D - "Capitalization" and Note J - "Market for Common Stock and Related Shareholder Matters (unaudited)," on pages 67 to 71 and 83, respectively, of this report, and reference is made thereto.
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ITEM 6.  SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Year Ended September 30                  1994        1993        1992       1991        1990
SUMMARY OF OPERATIONS (Thousands)
Operating Revenues                 $1,141,324  $1,020,382    $920,450    $865,131    $892,009
Operating Expenses:
  Purchased Gas                       497,687     409,005     363,690     364,246     415,052
  Operation Expense and Maintenance   291,390     283,230     263,084     245,253     227,593
  Property, Franchise and Other
     Taxes                            103,788      95,393      89,158      83,095      75,846
  Depreciation, Depletion and
   Amortization                        74,764      69,425      55,726      50,805      43,740
  Income Taxes - Net                   47,792      41,046      35,231      23,285      27,480
                                    1,015,421     898,099     806,889     766,684     789,711
Operating Income                      125,903     122,283     113,561      98,447     102,298
Other Income                            3,656       4,833       5,790      11,793       7,483
Income Before Interest Charges        129,559     127,116     119,351     110,240     109,781
Interest Charges                       47,124      51,899      59,041      61,250      57,783
Income Before Cumulative Effect        82,435      75,217      60,310      48,990      51,998
Cumulative Effect of Changes in
 Accounting                             3,237           -           -           -           -

Net Income Available for Common
 Stock                            $    85,672  $   75,217    $ 60,310    $ 48,990    $ 51,998
PER COMMON SHARE DATA
   Earnings                            $2.32*       $2.15       $1.94       $1.63      $1.83
   Dividends Declared                  $1.56        $1.52       $1.48       $1.44      $1.38
   Dividends Paid                      $1.55        $1.51       $1.47       $1.43      $1.36
   Dividend Rate at Year-End           $1.58        $1.54       $1.50       $1.46      $1.42

NUMBER OF COMMON SHAREHOLDERS AT
 YEAR-END                              22,465      22,893      23,218      22,662      22,203

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Thousands)
Regulated:
   Utility Operation               $1,036,225  $  983,417  $  929,601  $  871,102  $  813,736
   Pipeline and Storage               640,124     618,917     594,580     539,904     481,003
                                    1,676,349   1,602,334   1,524,181   1,411,006   1,294,739
Nonregulated:
   Exploration and Production         464,725     415,642     378,815     353,090     323,132
   Other                               24,938      21,237      15,170       8,202       7,196
                                      489,663     436,879     393,985     361,292     330,328
Corporate                                 244         223         223         216         216
Gross Plant                         2,166,256   2,039,436   1,918,389   1,772,514   1,625,283
   Accumulated Depreciation,
    Depletion and Amortization        623,517     561,433     502,007     458,763     418,893
Net Plant                          $1,542,739  $1,478,003  $1,416,382  $1,313,751  $1,206,390

TOTAL ASSETS (Thousands)           $1,981,657  $1,801,540  $1,760,830  $1,560,834  $1,436,687

CAPITALIZATION (Thousands)
Common Stock Equity                $  780,288  $  736,245  $  632,333  $  542,109  $  484,044
Long-Term Debt, Net of Current
 Portion                              462,500     478,417     479,500     442,071     397,350
Total Capitalization               $1,242,788  $1,214,662  $1,111,833  $  984,180  $  881,394

<FOOTNOTE>
*   Includes Cumulative Effect of Changes in Accounting of $.09.  See Notes A and F
    to Consolidated Financial Statements.
</FOOTNOTE>
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For a graph of "The Revenue Dollar - 1994" see graph A. in the Appendix to this report.
Results of Operations
1994 Compared with 1993. National Fuel's consolidated earnings were $85.7 million, or $2.32 per common share, in 1994. This included $3.2 million, or $.09 per common share, related to the cumulative effect of the mandated changes in accounting for income taxes and post-employment benefits (as adopted in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board's (FASB) Statements of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 109 and No. 112, respectively). Earnings before these accounting changes amounted to $82.4 million, an increase of approximately 10% over 1993 earnings of $75.2 million. On a per-common-share basis, earnings before the accounting changes were $2.23 for 1994, up 4% from 1993 earnings of $2.15. Share amounts reflect a greater number of weighted average shares outstanding in the current year, principally because of the sale of 2.5 million shares of common stock in May 1993.
Earnings growth in 1994 was primarily due to the Company's nonregulated operations. The Exploration and Production segment's successes have continued in 1994, with record oil and gas production more than compensating for a decline in oil and gas prices. Earnings from Other Nonregulated operations increased because of the improved performance of the Company's natural gas marketing, pipeline construction and timber operations.
Earnings from the Company's regulated operations, in total, increased in 1994. The Utility Operation's earnings were up slightly over last year because of higher throughput due to colder weather, as well as State of New York Public Service Commission (PSC) and Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (PaPUC) authorization to earn a return on increased capital investment. The Pipeline and Storage segment's earnings decreased in 1994 compared with 1993, mainly because of two nonrecurring items in 1993: the settlement of a Supply Corporation rate case which resulted in a partial reduction of a provision for refund due customers; and a change in rate design, effective August 1, 1993, which boosted 1993 earnings.
1993 Compared with 1992. Earnings were $75.2 million in 1993, up $14.9 million, or 25%, over 1992 earnings of $60.3 million. Earnings per common share in 1993 were $2.15, an 11% increase from the $1.94 earned in 1992. Share amounts reflect a greater number of weighted average shares outstanding in 1993, principally because of the sale of 2.5 million shares of common stock in each of May 1993 and September 1992.
The earnings increase in 1993 resulted from improvements in both the Pipeline and Storage and Exploration and Production segments' earnings which, in the aggregate, more than offset a decline in the earnings of the Utility Operation and the Company's Other Nonregulated operations. New rates, coupled with a change in rate design, were the major reasons for the Pipeline and Storage segment's improved results, while increased natural gas production and higher prices improved the Exploration and Production segment's performance. <PAGE 34>
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Operating Income (Loss)
 Before Income Taxes
Year Ended September 30 (in thousands)         1994         1993      1992
Utility Operation                          $ 90,584     $ 86,690  $ 90,025
Pipeline and Storage                         62,302       67,375    49,796
Exploration and
 Production                                  21,767       12,980     7,021
Other Nonregulated                            2,505         (986)    4,229
                                             24,272       11,994    11,250
Corporate                                    (3,463)      (2,730)   (2,279)

Total Operating Income
 Before Income Taxes                       $173,695     $163,329  $148,792


Operating Revenues
Year Ended September 30 (in thousands)         1994         1993      1992
Utility Operation
  Retail Revenues:
    Residential                          $  677,068   $  613,039  $533,908
    Commercial                              177,249      156,851   139,662
    Industrial                               31,096       31,609    35,985
                                            885,413      801,499   709,555
  Off-System Sales                            6,930          945      -
  Transportation                             34,419       30,213    27,424
  Other                                       4,911        3,961     3,685
                                            931,673      836,618   740,664
Pipeline and Storage
  Wholesale Revenues                              -      444,142   425,931
  Storage Service                            58,971       41,041    36,064
  Transportation                             90,416       45,313    33,821
  Other                                       3,734        4,072     3,054
                                            153,121      534,568   498,870
Exploration and
 Production                                  70,261       58,636    36,303
Other Nonregulated                           72,036       42,099    47,479
                                            142,297      100,735    83,782
Less:  Intersegment
 Revenues                                    85,767      451,539   402,866

Total Operating Revenues                 $1,141,324   $1,020,382  $920,450
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UTILITY OPERATION
Operating Revenues
1994 Compared with 1993. Operating revenues increased $95.1 million in 1994 compared with 1993. This increase reflects recovery of increased gas costs mainly due to higher throughput, as well as general rate increases in the New York rate jurisdiction effective in both July 1993 and 1994 and in the Pennsylvania rate jurisdiction in December 1993 and higher revenues from off-system sales. Distribution Corporation, in each of its jurisdictions, has a mechanism whereby it has the opportunity to recover certain costs and retain a portion of the margin on these off-system sales.
Higher retail sales of 5 billion cubic feet (Bcf) resulted primarily from weather in Distribution Corporation's service territory that was, on average, 6.5% colder than last year. Although industrial volumes sold remained level when compared with last year, they reflected a 2.5 Bcf switch from sales to transportation service, offset by increased gas sales to a new cogeneration customer.
Transportation throughput was up 3.3 Bcf mainly because of the above noted
2.5 Bcf switch, as well as a similar switch from sales to transportation service by commercial customers of .4 Bcf. In addition, there was increased transportation of 2 Bcf to large- and small-volume industrial customers. The shut-down of three industrial customers and the bypass of National Fuel's pipeline system by three customers in the Pennsylvania jurisdiction partially offset the total increase by approximately 1.6 Bcf. Rates that go into effect in December 1994 in the Pennsylvania rate jurisdiction compensate for the loss of throughput related to these customers.
1993 Compared with 1992. Operating revenue increased $96 million in 1993 compared with 1992, although throughput remained relatively unchanged. The flow-through of higher gas costs, as well as rate increases in the New York rate jurisdiction in both July 1992 and 1993, and a rate increase in the Pennsylvania rate jurisdiction effective in December 1991, resulted in increased revenues. Weather-sensitive residential throughput increased 2.1 Bcf as a result of weather that was, on average, 1.9% colder than last year in Distribution Corporation's service territory. Combined industrial and end-user transportation throughput decreased 2.4 Bcf as a result of the bankruptcy of a major customer in Pennsylvania and a decrease in boiler fuel sales. These declines were partially mitigated by a significant increase attributable to a full year's throughput for a cogeneration project that came on line in May 1992.
Operating Income
1994 Compared with 1993. Operating income before income taxes increased $3.9 million in 1994 compared with 1993. This increase reflects higher revenues, discussed above, partly offset by increased operating expenses. The severe cold weather during January and February 1994 necessitated an unusually high number of system repairs and related site restoration work, which increased maintenance expense.
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The impact of weather on Distribution Corporation's New York rate jurisdiction is tempered by a weather normalization clause (WNC). The WNC in New York, which covers the eight-month period from October through May, has had a stabilizing effect on pretax operating income and earnings for the New York rate jurisdiction. In addition, in periods of colder than normal weather, the WNC benefits Distribution Corporation's New York customers. In 1994, the WNC in New York resulted in a benefit to customers of $5.8 million. Since the Pennsylvania rate jurisdiction does not have a WNC, uncontrollable weather variations directly impact pretax operating income and earnings. In the Pennsylvania service territory, weather was 9.6% colder than last year and 8.4% colder than normal. The colder weather in 1994 compared with 1993 had a positive impact on pretax operating income and earnings for the Pennsylvania rate jurisdiction.
1993 Compared with 1992. Operating income before income taxes decreased $3.3 million in 1993 compared with 1992. This decline reflects the impact of lower average gas use per residential account in the New York rate jurisdiction compared with that imputed in rates resulting in a lower margin on gas sales which was not adequate to cover the increase in operating expenses. This problem was remedied by reflecting a lower usage per account in Distribution Corporation's rates that went into effect on July 23, 1993, in New York. In 1993, the WNC in New York preserved pretax operating income of $1.2 million and earnings per share of $.02. In the Pennsylvania service territory, weather was 2.5% colder in 1993 than 1992, although it was 5.4% warmer than normal. This colder weather had a positive impact on pretax operating income and earnings for the Pennsylvania rate jurisdiction.
Degree Days

                                                               Percent Colder
                                                               (Warmer) Than
Year Ended September 30          Normal     Actual          Normal     Last Year
  1994:  Buffalo                  6,710      6,975            3.9%       3.6%
         Erie                     6,202      6,726            8.4%       9.6%
  1993:  Buffalo                  6,723      6,730            0.1%       1.3%
         Erie                     6,484      6,135           (5.4%)      2.5%
  1992:  Buffalo                  6,778      6,644           (2.0%)     15.9%
         Erie                     6,556      5,983           (8.7%)     13.1%

Purchased Gas. The cost of purchased gas is by far the Company's single largest operating expense. Annual variations in purchased gas costs can be attributed directly to changes in gas sales volumes, the price of gas purchased and the operation of purchased gas adjustment clauses. <PAGE 37>
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Currently, Distribution Corporation has contracted for long-term firm transportation capacity with Supply Corporation and five upstream pipeline companies, for long-term gas supplies with a combination of producers and marketers and for storage service with Supply Corporation and two nonaffiliated companies. In addition, Distribution Corporation can satisfy a portion of its gas requirements through spot market purchases. Distribution Corporation's average cost of purchased gas, including the cost of transportation, was $3.74 per thousand cubic feet (Mcf) in 1994, a decrease of 3% from the average cost of $3.84 per Mcf in 1993. The average cost of purchased gas in 1993 was 22% higher than the $3.15 per Mcf in 1992.

System Throughput
(billion cubic feet)
Year Ended September 30            1994      1993      1992
Utility Operation
  Retail Sales:
    Residential                    90.6      86.9      84.8
    Commercial                     26.9      25.6      25.9
    Industrial                      6.5       6.5       9.1
                                  124.0     119.0     119.8

  Transportation-
   End-Users                       52.2      48.9      48.7
                                  176.2     167.9     168.5
Pipeline and Storage
  Wholesale Sales                     -     118.7     130.3
  Transportation                  295.3     138.6     157.0
                                  295.3     257.3     287.3
Less Intersegment Throughput:
  Sales                               -     112.2     122.0
  Transportation                  164.2      40.1      33.2
                                  164.2     152.3     155.2
Total System Throughput           307.3     272.9     300.6

PIPELINE AND STORAGE
Operating Revenues
1994 Compared with 1993. Operating revenues decreased $381.4 million in 1994 compared with 1993. This decline reflects Supply Corporation's restructured operations under the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission's (FERC) Order 636, which became effective August 1, 1993. Under Order 636, Supply Corporation's gas purchasing and sales functions were discontinued and replaced with new transportation and storage services, thus the recovery of purchased gas costs has been eliminated from Supply Corporation's revenues.
1993 Compared with 1992. Operating revenues increased $35.7 million in 1993 compared with 1992, despite a 30 Bcf decline in throughput. New rates that became effective in July 1992, subject to refund, significantly increased <PAGE 38>
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revenues in 1993. Supply Corporation filed a Stipulation and Agreement (the Settlement) with the FERC on October 15, 1993, respecting these new rates. As a result of the Settlement, Supply Corporation reversed approximately $15 million of its previously accrued refund provision. Approximately $2.8 million of the amount reversed related to 1992. Additionally, as the Settlement included full recovery of Supply Corporation's portion of the net periodic post-retirement benefit costs under SFAS No. 106, "Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions." Supply Corporation recorded $3.6 million of related post-retirement benefit expense. These adjustments relate to rates that were in effect since July 1, 1992, subject to refund. The change to the straight fixed-variable (SFV) rate design mandated by Order 636, which provides for recovery of Supply Corporation's fixed costs in the demand, or reservation charge, contributed additional revenues of approximately $2.7 million for August and September 1993 when compared to Supply Corporation's former rate design. All of these items were reflected in earnings in the fourth quarter of 1993.
Operating Income
1994 Compared with 1993. Operating income before income taxes decreased $5.1 million in 1994 compared with 1993. This decrease was principally because of two nonrecurring items reflected in 1993. The favorable Settlement in 1993, discussed above, resulted in Supply Corporation recording approximately $2.8 million of revenues in 1993 that related to 1992. In addition, the change to the SFV rate design contributed additional revenues of approximately $2.7 million for August and September 1993, when compared to Supply Corporation's former rate design.
Throughput increased 38 Bcf in 1994 and can be attributed to increased utilization of Supply Corporation's Canadian gas transportation facilities, the expanded capacity of these facilities and weather that was colder than last year. However, because of the SFV rate design, the increase in throughput did not have a significant impact on pretax operating income.
1993 Compared with 1992. Operating income before income taxes increased $17.6 million in 1993 compared with 1992. This increase was mainly the result of higher revenues, discussed above, which were partly offset by higher gas costs and operation and maintenance (O & M) expenses, primarily for labor and employee benefits.
EXPLORATION AND PRODUCTION
Operating Revenues
1994 Compared with 1993. Operating revenues increased $11.6 million in 1994 compared with 1993. This increase was primarily attributable to Seneca's Gulf Coast operations and reflects the continued success of both its offshore drilling program in the Gulf of Mexico and its horizontal drilling program in central Texas. Gas production and oil production (mainly condensate from gas wells) hit record levels in 1994 and were up 34% and 59%, respectively, in the <PAGE 39>
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Gulf Coast Region and 17% and 24%, respectively, for all geographic regions combined.
Systemwide, the average price received for gas and oil production in 1994 was $2.18 per Mcf and $14.86 per barrel (bbl), respectively. This is a decline of $.02 per Mcf in gas prices and $1.92 per bbl in oil prices compared with 1993. Nonetheless, efforts to stabilize prices through hedging activities contributed approximately $1.6 million of operating revenues for the year. At present, Seneca's goal is to hedge approximately 60% of its Gulf Coast gas and oil production.
1993 Compared with 1992. Operating revenues increased $22.3 million in 1993 compared with 1992. This increase was also primarily attributable to Seneca's Gulf Coast operations. Natural gas production from the Gulf Coast operations increased 217% to 12.1 Bcf from 3.8 Bcf in 1992. In total, from all geographic areas, production rose by 7.8 Bcf to 19.9 Bcf. Lower natural gas production was realized from Appalachian and West Coast properties. Systemwide, the average price received for gas production in 1993 was $2.20 per Mcf, an increase of $.23 per Mcf from $1.97 per Mcf in 1992. Oil production (mainly condensate from gas wells) also increased in 1993 by 188,000 bbls compared with 1992. Systemwide, the average price received for oil production in 1993 was $16.78 per bbl, a decrease of $.33 per bbl from $17.11 per bbl in 1992.

Production Volumes
Year Ended September 30            1994      1993      1992

Gas Production
(million cubic feet)
  Gulf Coast                     16,296    12,134     3,828
  West Coast                        706     1,059     1,234
  Appalachia                      6,271     6,681     7,008
                                 23,273    19,874    12,070

Oil Production
(thousands of barrels)
  Gulf Coast                        615       387       172
  West Coast                        404       431       454
  Appalachia                         11        13        17
                                  1,030       831       643
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Operating Income
1994 Compared with 1993. Operating income before income taxes increased $8.8 million in 1994 compared with 1993. This increase reflects the higher revenues discussed above, partly offset by higher depletion expense which is directly related to higher revenues. O & M expense remained basically level in 1994 compared with 1993. Although O & M expense related to increased production activity in the Gulf Coast operations was higher in 1994 than 1993, it was offset by a charge to O & M in 1993 for work performed on Appalachian wells that did not recur in 1994.
1993 Compared with 1992. Operating income before income taxes increased $6 million in 1993 compared with 1992. This increase was also the result of the increase in operating revenues, discussed above, partly offset by increases in depletion and O & M expenses. The increase in O & M expenses is related to the increased production activity in the Gulf Coast operations. Additionally, a charge to O & M expense of $2.3 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of 1993 for work performed on Appalachian wells.
OTHER NONREGULATED
Operating Revenues
1994 Compared with 1993. Operating revenues increased $29.9 million in 1994 compared with 1993. This increase is almost entirely due to higher revenues from NFR, the Company's gas marketing subsidiary, as its gas marketing volumes more than doubled to 18.2 Bcf in 1994 from 7.3 Bcf in 1993.
1993 Compared with 1992. Operating revenues decreased $5.4 million in 1993 compared with 1992. This decline reflected lower revenues from UCI, the Company's pipeline construction subsidiary, partly offset by higher revenues from NFR. UCI had an exceptionally productive year in 1992, completing several projects in Virginia and New York for nonaffiliated pipeline companies that were expanding their systems. The lack of large projects in 1993 negatively impacted UCI's revenues. NFR's revenues increased in 1993, as gas marketing volumes increased to 7.3 Bcf from 5.4 Bcf in 1992.
Operating Income
1994 Compared with 1993. Operating income before income taxes increased $3.5 million in 1994 compared with 1993. This increase is due to the improved performance of UCI, which, although still operating at a loss, had higher margins than in 1993. In addition, the improved performance of NFR and the Company's timber operations enhanced operating income before income taxes of this segment.
1993 Compared with 1992. Operating income before income taxes decreased $5.2 million in 1993 compared with 1992. This decline was mainly the result of the lack of a contribution by UCI to operating income before income taxes. The lack of large projects, coupled with tight margins contributed to poor performance in 1993. This more than offset the increase in NFR's operating income before income taxes resulting from increased marketing activities. <PAGE 41>
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INCOME TAXES, OTHER INCOME AND INTEREST CHARGES
Income Taxes. Income taxes increased in 1994 and 1993, mainly because of increases in pretax income as well as higher income tax rates. In addition, the increase in income taxes in 1994 reflects lower Section 29 nonconventional fuel tax credits. These credits, which relate to production from qualified gas wells, decreased to $1.7 million in 1994, down from $2.6 million in 1993. These credits are a direct reduction of income tax expense.
Other Income. Other income decreased $1.2 million and $1 million in 1994 and 1993, respectively. A portion of the decrease in 1994 and 1993 was because Distribution Corporation discontinued the accrual of interest income on deferred contract reformation costs (CRC) in April 1993, in accordance with a settlement with the PSC for full recovery of CRC. In addition, the decrease in 1994 reflects lower interest income on temporary cash investments.
Other income also decreased in 1993 because of lower income associated with funds used during construction by the Pipeline and Storage segment resulting from lower construction balances. The decreases in 1993 were partly offset by higher interest income on temporary cash investments related to the proceeds from the September 1992 issuance of 2.5 million shares of common stock.
Interest Charges. Interest on long-term debt decreased $1.8 million and $1.4 million in 1994 and 1993, respectively. This was mainly due to refinancing activities, whereby higher-interest long-term debt was replaced with lower-interest long-term debt and with equity.
Other interest charges decreased $3 million and $5.7 million in 1994 and 1993, respectively. The declines in both 1994 and 1993 reflect lower interest on short-term borrowings because of lower average amounts outstanding. A lower weighted average interest rate in 1993 also contributed to the decline in short-term interest. However, 1994 reflects an increase in the weighted average interest rate.
1995 OUTLOOK
The coming year will be one of transition for the Company as it works through the impact of the FERC's Order 636 on the state level. As a result, 1995 earnings are expected to be lower than the record earnings of 1994. However, management continues to believe that the integrated strength of the Company places it on a course for growth in 1996 and beyond.
When reviewing 1994 earnings it is important to note that $.09 per share was due to the cumulative effect of mandated accounting changes which will not recur in 1995. In addition, allowed returns on pipeline equity are expected to decrease as a result of allegedly lower risks associated with that business. Supply Corporation, therefore, anticipates a lower return on equity for rates to become effective in 1995. Further, in the Utility Operation, Distribution Corporation saw its allowed return on equity in its New York rate jurisdiction fall from 12.0% to 10.7% in July. The Company expects allowed returns on equity at the state level to increase in future years as a result of the state <PAGE 42>
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commission recognition of increased risks under the FERC's Order 636, as well as the rise in interest rates. Nevertheless, such a rise will not significantly benefit 1995 earnings.
Our Exploration and Production segment, and our Other Nonregulated operations should increase their earnings contribution in 1995. However, the current low prices received for natural gas production will temper the increase and, therefore, it is unlikely that increased contributions for our nonregulated operations will cause consolidated earnings to increase in 1995.
CAPITAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY
The primary sources and uses of cash during the last three years are summarized in the following condensed statement of cash flows:

Sources and (Uses) of Cash
Year Ended September 30 (in millions)    1994     1993      1992
Provided by Operating Activities       $199.2   $123.7    $ 93.0
Capital Expenditures                   (135.1)  (131.9)   (157.9)
Short-Term Debt                         (84.3)   (30.2)     20.5
Long-Term Debt, Net Change               80.1    (51.1)     74.3
Issuance of Common Stock                  9.1     78.8      73.7
Common Dividends                        (57.2)   (52.2)    (45.6)
All Other-Net                             3.6       .2      (2.1)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash
 and Temporary Cash Investments        $ 15.4   $(62.7)   $ 55.9

OPERATING CASH FLOW
Internally generated cash from operating activities consists of net income available for common stock, adjusted for noncash expenses, noncash income and changes in operating assets and liabilities. Noncash items include depreciation, depletion and amortization, deferred income taxes and allowance for funds used during construction. In 1994, noncash items also included the cumulative effect of required changes in accounting for income taxes and post-employment benefits in accordance with SFAS 109 and SFAS 112, respectively.
Cash provided by operating activities in the Utility Operation and Pipeline and Storage segment may vary substantially from year to year because of fluctuations in weather, supplier refunds, the impact of rate cases, and for the Utility Operation, fluctuations in over- or under-recovered purchased gas costs. The impact of weather on cash flow is tempered in the Utility Operation's New York rate jurisdiction by its WNC and in the Pipeline and Storage segment by Supply Corporation's SFV rate design.
For a graph of "Book Value Per Common Share" see graph B. in the Appendix of this report.
Net cash provided by operating activities totalled $199.2 million in 1994, an increase of $75.5 million compared with the $123.7 million provided by <PAGE 43>
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operating activities in 1993. This increase reflected higher revenues and earnings in the Exploration and Production segment, mainly from its Gulf Coast operations. The Utility Operation had an increase in cash flow from operations mainly because Distribution Corporation had over-recovered purchased gas costs at September 30, 1994, while it was in an under-recovery position at September 30, 1993. In addition, the Pipeline and Storage segment had an increase in upstream pipeline company refunds received in 1994, thus increasing its cash flow from operations.
INVESTING CASH FLOW
Capital Expenditures. Capital expenditures totalled $138.3 million in 1994. The table below presents these expenditures by business segment:

Year Ended September 30 (in millions)     1994              Percentage
Utility Operation                       $ 61.7                  44.6%
Pipeline and Storage                      20.5                  14.8
Exploration and Production                52.5*                 38.0
Other Nonregulated                         3.6                   2.6
                                        $138.3*                  100%

* Includes noncash acquisition of $3.2 million in a stock-for-asset swap.
Most of the Utility Operation's capital expenditures were for the replacement of mains and main extensions, as well as for the replacement of service lines and the installation of new services.
Pipeline and Storage capital expenditures included an increase in compression at two locations, other additions, improvements and replacements to the Company's transmission and storage systems.
The majority of the Exploration and Production segment's capital expenditures were made for the exploration for and development of oil and gas properties located offshore in the Gulf of Mexico, and in Seneca's Northeast Clay Field in central Texas. As a result of activity in the Gulf Coast Region, reserves included 93.4 Bcf of new gas reserves and 1.1 million barrels of new oil reserves at September 30, 1994. In addition, capital expenditures in the Appalachian Region included $3.2 million for the acquisition of natural gas production assets in exchange for Company common stock. This acquisition added approximately 3 Bcf of gas reserves.
Other Nonregulated capital expenditures included timberland and equipment purchases.
The Company's estimated capital expenditures for the next three years are:

Year Ended September 30 (in millions)    1995      1996       1997
Utility Operation                      $ 63.6    $ 59.1     $ 58.1
Pipeline and Storage                     38.0      17.6       18.3
Exploration and Production               74.3      78.2       80.8
Other Nonregulated                        7.1       1.2        1.3
                                       $183.0    $156.1     $158.5
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Estimated expenditures for the Utility Operation during the next three years will be concentrated in the areas of main replacements and extensions, service line replacements and, to a minor extent, the installation of new services.
Included in the Pipeline and Storage segment's capital expenditures for 1995 is approximately $5.6 million to be spent in connection with several expansion projects, the most significant of which is a link with the Empire State Pipeline at Grand Island, New York. This will greatly increase the reliability, flexibility and efficiency of service to the Company's service territory in the areas north of Buffalo and to Grand Island, New York.
Also included in the 1995 capital expenditures is approximately $4.3 million for compressor engine emission controls necessary to comply with the standards of the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 (the Act). Approximately $.6 million of capital expenditures were incurred in 1994 to comply with the Act. The Company does not anticipate incurring significant additional capital expenditures to comply with the current standards of the Act. However, changes in standards may require additional expenditures in the future. Management expects that all related capital expenditures will be recoverable through rates.
Significant capital expenditures related to Supply Corporation's Laurel Fields Storage Project (which is pending the FERC's approval) are not expected to be incurred until 1996. Since the timing of expenditures related to this project are not finalized, the preceding table does not include significant amounts for this project. Laurel Fields is a 19 Bcf underground natural gas storage development project, which entails the development of Supply Corporation's Callen Run (a depleted gas field) and expansion of its Limestone Storage Field. Filings with the FERC were made in June 1994 to implement this project. An "open season" was held in August 1994 to identify prospective customers for this project. Precedent agreements are currently being negotiated with interested customers. On November 4, 1994, a proposal was sent to the FERC to divide the project into two phases. Phase I would encompass the expansion of the Limestone Storage Field to accommodate approximately 7 Bcf of storage and phase II would consist of the development of the Callen Run Storage Field. The potential cost of the project is approximately $200 million.
For a graph of "Capital Expenditures" see graph C. in the Appendix to this report.
Estimated capital expenditures in 1995 for the Exploration and Production segment are approximately 40% higher than capital spending in 1994 as the Company sees significant opportunities for growth in this segment. These expenditures will be directed mainly toward developing Seneca's Gulf Coast offshore prospects, evaluating reserve acquisitions and significantly expanding exploration activities. Capital expenditures for Other Nonregulated operations will primarily be used for timberland.
The Company's capital expenditure program is under continuous review. The amounts are subject to modification for opportunities in the natural gas industry such as the acquisition of attractive oil and gas properties or storage <PAGE 45>
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facilities and the expansion of transmission line capacities. The magnitude of future capital expenditures in the regulated segments depends, to a large degree, upon market conditions coupled with adequate rate relief.
Other. Cash received on the sale of the Company's investment in property, plant and equipment is reflected as a cash flow from investing activities. Approximately $2.3 million of cash was received in the first quarter of fiscal 1994, related to the fiscal 1993 sale of Seneca's interest in its Alberta, Canada, gas reserves.
FINANCING CASH FLOW
In order to meet the Company's capital requirements, cash from external sources must periodically be obtained through short-term bank loans and commercial paper, as well as through issuances of long-term debt and equity securities. The Company expects these traditional sources of cash to continue to supplement its internally generated cash during the next several years.
On July 1, 1994, the Company redeemed $19.9 million remaining outstanding principal amount of 9-1/2% debentures due July 1, 2019, for $21.3 million, including redemption premium.
On July 14, 1994, the Company issued $50 million of medium-term notes due July 1999, at an interest rate of 7.25%. Also on July 14, 1994, the Company issued $50 million of medium-term notes due July 2024, at an interest rate of 8.48%. These latter notes are callable beginning July 1999. After reflecting underwriting discounts and commissions, the combined proceeds to the Company of these two issuances amounted to $99.4 million. The proceeds were used to reduce outstanding short-term borrowings.
The Company's embedded cost of long-term debt was 7.3% at both September 30, 1994 and 1993.
At September 30, 1994, the Company has Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) authority remaining under a shelf registration filed in March 1993 to issue and sell up to $220 million of debentures and/or medium-term notes. The amounts and timing of the issuance and sale of these debentures and/or medium-term notes will depend on market conditions and the requirements of the Company.
For a graph of "Embedded Cost of Long-Term Debt" see graph D. in the Appendix to this report.
Consolidated short-term debt decreased $84.3 million during 1994. The Company continues to consider short-term bank loans and commercial paper important sources of cash for temporarily financing capital expenditures, gas-in-storage inventory, unrecovered purchased gas costs, exploration and development expenditures and other working capital needs.
The Company, through Seneca and NFR, is engaged in certain natural gas and crude oil price swap agreements and in the gas futures market as a means of <PAGE 46>
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hedging a portion of the market risk associated with fluctuations in the market price of natural gas and crude oil. In addition, the Company has SEC authority to enter into interest rate swap agreements. For further discussion, see disclosure under "Financial Instruments" in Note A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
The Company is involved in litigation arising in the normal course of its business. In addition to the regulatory matters discussed in Note B - Regulatory Matters, the Company is involved in other regulatory matters arising in the normal course of business that involve rate base, cost of service and purchased gas cost issues. While the resolution of such litigation or other regulatory matters could have a material effect on earnings and cash flows in the year of resolution, none of this litigation nor these other regulatory matters are expected to materially change the Company's present liquidity position.
The Company's present liquidity position is believed to be adequate to satisfy known demands. Under the Company's covenants contained in its indenture covering long-term debt, at September 30, 1994, the Company would have been permitted to issue up to a maximum of $434.5 million in additional long-term unsecured indebtedness, subject to maturity and long-term interest rates. In addition, at September 30, 1994, the Company had regulatory authorizations and unused short-term credit lines that would have permitted it to borrow an additional $287.5 million of short-term debt.
For a graph of "Capitalization Ratios" see graph E. in the Appendix to this report.
RATE MATTERS
Utility Operation
New York Jurisdiction
In October 1994, Distribution Corporation filed in its New York jurisdiction a request for an annual rate increase of $56.5 million, or 8.9%, with a requested return on equity of 12.85%. New rates are expected to become effective in August or September 1995. On November 17, 1994, Distribution Corporation presented the PSC staff with a preliminary proposal for a multi-year settlement.
In August 1993, Distribution Corporation filed in its New York jurisdiction a request for an annual rate increase of $55.4 million, or 8.5%, with a return on equity of 12.16%. Included in the requested rate increase was an initial amount of $24.9 million for the recovery of transition costs arising from the FERC's Order 636, which represented 3.8% of the total 8.5% requested increase.
On July 19, 1994, the PSC issued an order authorizing a base rate increase of $11.1 million, or 1.7%, with a return on equity of 10.7%. In addition, the PSC authorized recovery of transition costs arising from the FERC's Order 636 <PAGE 47>
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of up to $11 million annually from sales customers through the monthly Gas Adjustment Clause (GAC). Distribution Corporation will defer, for recovery in future periods, any amounts that may exceed the $11 million annual amount. New rates became effective July 24, 1994.
The recovery of transition costs from transportation customers in New York remains unresolved. The PSC has postponed its decision on transportation customers' allocable share of transition costs pending further consideration of the issue in a generic restructuring case (the Generic Case) which began in October 1993. The PSC staff's position in the Generic Case is that transportation customers should be assigned a per-unit charge that is equal to 50% of the per-unit charge being collected from sales customers for gas supply realignment (GSR) costs and stranded costs. The PSC has authorized Distribution Corporation's continued deferral of transition costs relating to transportation customers until resolution in the Generic Case. At September 30, 1994, deferred transition costs related to transportation customers amounted to approximately $2 million.
In July 1993, in connection with a previously approved two-year settlement, Distribution Corporation received PSC approval for the second year of the settlement. The approval was for a rate increase of $13.3 million, or 2.1%, for the 12-month period ended July 31, 1994. This rate increase went into effect on July 23, 1993.
Pennsylvania Jurisdiction
On March 8, 1994, Distribution Corporation filed in its Pennsylvania jurisdiction a request for an annual rate increase of $16 million, or 6.8%, with a return on equity of 12.25%. A proposal for a WNC was included in this filing. On December 6, 1994, an order was issued by the PaPUC authorizing an annual rate increase of $4.8 million, or 2.0 %, with a return on equity of 11.0% and without a WNC. New rates are scheduled to become effective as of December 7, 1994.
In March 1993, Distribution Corporation filed with the PaPUC for an annual rate increase in its Pennsylvania jurisdiction of $33.4 million, or 16.2%, with a return on equity of 12.4%. Included in the requested rate increase was an initial amount of $8.2 million for the recovery of transition costs arising from the FERC's Order 636. On December 1, 1993, an order was issued by the PaPUC authorizing an annual rate increase of $11.4 million, or 4.9%, exclusive of transition costs. The new rates became effective as of December 1, 1993.
The PaPUC's December 1, 1993 order also addressed certain issues concerning recovery of GSR costs and stranded costs resulting from the implementation of the FERC's Order 636. Under this order, Distribution Corporation began collecting, effective December 1, 1993, GSR and stranded costs from its customers through a separate surcharge. Distribution Corporation is allowed to update this surcharge on a quarterly basis. Distribution Corporation is recovering under-recovered purchased gas transition costs from its Pennsylvania sales customers through its gas cost recovery rates. <PAGE 48>
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General rate increases do not reflect the recovery of purchased gas costs. Such costs are recovered through operation of the purchased gas adjustment clauses.
State Regulatory Environment
The seeds of change precipitated by the FERC's Order 636 are redefining the roles of the utility industry and the state regulatory commissions. Competition has arrived for utilities, and it is anticipated that, similar to what was done in the pipeline sector of the natural gas industry, regulators will require utilities to unbundle their services. The anticipated result is that utility service will divide into "core" markets consisting of the typical residential and commercial customers, as well as customers taking firm transportation service and the "non-core" markets consisting of competitive commercial and industrial markets. It is anticipated that non-core services will be lightly regulated and, with respect to core customers, regulators are expected to focus on increased utility efficiency.
Many state regulators believe that utilities can gain efficiency through performance-based incentive ratemaking. Such ratemaking is intended to enhance the traditional cost-of-service ratemaking formula, which many believe does not provide incentives to operate efficiently. Distribution Corporation has proposed several customer service performance incentives in its New York rate case filed in October 1994. If these incentives are accepted, the mechanisms would allow the PSC to administer financial penalties or rewards determined by the utility's ability to meet or exceed required performance levels. The proposed incentives relate to: response time to customer inquiries and complaints; billing accuracy; keeping appointments for service; and efficiency in the installation of new service lines.
The New York and Pennsylvania regulatory commissions have instituted several generic proceedings related, among other things, to restructuring in response to the FERC's Order 636. The more significant ones, all of which are still pending, are discussed below:
New York
Finance Proceeding. The purpose of this proceeding is to develop a uniform method for calculating a utility's rate of return on equity.
Ratesetting Proceeding. This proceeding is intended to develop guidelines for settlements, incentive ratemaking and multi-year rate filings, in addition to the traditional single-year procedure. Thus, a menu of options would be available for each utility to select the appropriate ratemaking proposal.
Generic Restructuring Proceeding. This proceeding is examining the appropriate retail or end-use impacts resulting from the FERC's Order 636 pipeline restructuring. It is expected that the PSC will issue an order addressing key issues such as unbundling, rate design and the extent of state regulation. Implementation will likely be achieved by each utility on a case-by-case basis.
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Pennsylvania
Settlement Guidelines. This proceeding is intended to develop orders addressing specific rules of procedure to accomplish settlement of complex proceedings, including rate cases.
FERC Order 636 Proceedings. The PaPUC has thus far responded to the FERC's Order 636 with three generic proceedings addressing different operational areas. They are proceedings on transportation services, gas procurement practices (including a gas purchase incentive mechanism) and capacity release. Distribution Corporation has already implemented many of the proposed changes in previous rate cases and expects that additional changes will not significantly alter current operations.
Distribution Corporation is working closely with the state regulatory commissions to resolve the complexities of industry restructuring.
Pipeline and Storage
For a discussion of Supply Corporation's gathering rates, refer to Note B - Regulatory Matters.
On October 31, 1994, Supply Corporation filed for an annual rate increase of $21 million, with a requested return on equity of 12.6%. This rate case was filed as a result of the FERC's order issued on October 28, 1994, rejecting Supply Corporation's rate case filed on September 30, 1994. The FERC rejected the September 30, 1994 filing because it disagreed with the proposed method of rolling-in rates for the storage service previously offered by Penn-York (Penn-York was merged into Supply Corporation effective July 1, 1994).
On December 30, 1993, the FERC issued an order approving, with slight modification the Settlement, which was filed with the FERC on October 15, 1993, respecting two Supply Corporation rate proceedings. As modified, the Settlement provided for rates that produced annual revenues of approximately $125 million between July 1, 1992, and July 31, 1993. Rates for the period beginning August 1, 1993, reflect reduced costs after restructuring plus certain settlement concessions, and will produce revenues of approximately $121 million annually. As a result of the Settlement, Supply Corporation refunded to its customers $13.6 million, including interest, during the second quarter of 1994.
OTHER MATTERS
Environmental Matters. The Company is subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment. The Company has established procedures for on-going evaluation of its operations to identify potential environmental exposures and assure compliance with regulatory policies and procedures.
Distribution Corporation has been identified by the Environmental Protection Agency or the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (DEC) as one of a number of companies that are considered to be potentially <PAGE 50>
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responsible parties (PRPs) with respect to several waste disposal sites in New York that were operated by unrelated third parties. These PRPs are alleged to have contributed to the materials that may have been collected at such waste disposal sites by the site operators. The ultimate cost to Distribution Corporation with respect to the remediation of these sites will be dependent on such factors as the remediation plan selected, the extent of site contamination, the number of additional PRPs at each site and the portion attributed, if any, to Distribution Corporation. Distribution Corporation's estimated share of the clean-up costs has been accrued for four of these sites.
One of these four sites was formerly used for a manufactured gas plant. Distribution Corporation is currently involved in litigation regarding this site. The current owner of the site has submitted a claim against Distribution Corporation for contribution of a share of approximately $1.6 million of removal/remediation costs that have been incurred. It is anticipated that future remedial costs will be incurred and on the basis of a Record of Decision issued by the DEC, as amended on September 19, 1994, the estimated future remedial costs for the site are approximately $5.7 million. Management believes that the ultimate outcome of these matters will not have a material impact on the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.
Distribution Corporation has incurred clean-up costs at two additional sites in New York and one site in Pennsylvania related to former manufactured gas plant sites. Supply Corporation is involved in a remediation program of certain of its measuring and regulating stations in Pennsylvania. Estimated clean-up costs have been accrued for these sites.
It is the Company's policy to accrue estimated clean-up costs when such amounts can reasonably be estimated and it is probable that the Company will be required to incur such costs. The Company has estimated that clean-up costs related to the above noted sites are in the range of $6.7 million to $10.1 million. At September 30, 1994, the Company has recorded the minimum liability of $6.7 million. The Company is currently not aware of any material additional exposure to environmental liabilities. However, adverse changes in environmental regulations or other factors could impact the Company.
In New York, Distribution Corporation has received approval from the PSC to defer and amortize both former manufactured gas and non-manufactured gas site investigation and remediation costs over a three-year period for each site. These costs are then included in rate cases for recovery through base rates. Distribution Corporation is currently recovering such costs in this manner. In Pennsylvania, Distribution Corporation and Supply Corporation expect to recover such costs in rates, as the PaPUC and the FERC, respectively, have allowed recovery of other environmental clean-up costs in rate cases. Accordingly, the Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 1994, include related regulatory assets in the amount of approximately $7.3 million, $.6 million of which relates to costs that have already been incurred.
Effects of Inflation. Although the rate of inflation has been relatively low over the past few years, and thus has benefited both the Company and its <PAGE 51>
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customers, the Company's operations remain sensitive to increases in the rate of inflation because of the capital-intensive and regulated nature of its major operating segments.
Delays inherent in the ratemaking process prevent the Company from obtaining immediate recovery of increased operating costs. Also, while the ratemaking process gives no recognition to the current cost of replacing property, plant and equipment, based on past practices the Company believes that it will be allowed to earn on the increased cost of its net investment when replacement of facilities occurs.
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Report of Independent Accountants
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of National Fuel Gas Company and its subsidiaries at September 30, 1994 and 1993, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 1994, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above.
As discussed in Notes A and F to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the new accounting standards for postretirement benefits other than pensions, income taxes and other postemployment benefits in fiscal 1994.
PRICE WATERHOUSE LLP
Buffalo, New York
October 28, 1994
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National Fuel Gas Company Consolidated Statements of Income and Earnings

                          Reinvested in the Business

                                                     Year Ended September 30
                                                 1994         1993         1992
                                                     (Thousands of Dollars)
INCOME
Operating Revenues                         $1,141,324   $1,020,382     $920,450

Operating Expenses
   Purchased Gas                              497,687      409,005      363,690
   Operation Expense                          260,411      258,918      240,645
   Maintenance                                 30,979       24,312       22,439
   Property, Franchise and Other Taxes        103,788       95,393       89,158
   Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization    74,764       69,425       55,726
   Income Taxes - Net                          47,792       41,046       35,231
                                            1,015,421      898,099      806,889

Operating Income                              125,903      122,283      113,561
Other Income                                    3,656        4,833        5,790
Income Before Interest Charges                129,559      127,116      119,351

Interest Charges
   Interest on Long-Term Debt                  36,699       38,507       39,949
   Other Interest                              10,425       13,392       19,092
                                               47,124       51,899       59,041

Income Before Cumulative Effect                82,435       75,217       60,310
Cumulative Effect of Changes in
 Accounting                                     3,237            -            -

Net Income Available for Common Stock          85,672       75,217       60,310

EARNINGS REINVESTED IN THE BUSINESS
Balance at Beginning of Year                  335,907      314,334      301,066
                                              421,579      389,551      361,376

Dividends on Common Stock                      57,725       53,644       47,042

Balance at End of Year                     $  363,854   $  335,907     $314,334


Earnings Per Common Share
Income Before Cumulative Effect                 $2.23        $2.15        $1.94
Cumulative Effect of Changes in
 Accounting                                       .09            -            -

Net Income Available for Common Stock           $2.32        $2.15        $1.94

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding  37,046,249  34,938,722   31,152,635

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements <PAGE 55>
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National Fuel Gas Company Consolidated Balance Sheets

                                                              At September 30
                                                          1994             1993
                                                         (Thousands of Dollars)
ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment                       $2,166,256       $2,039,436
   Less - Accumulated Depreciation, Depletion
    and Amortization                                   623,517          561,433
                                                     1,542,739        1,478,003
Current Assets
   Cash and Temporary Cash Investments                  29,016           13,595
   Receivables - Net                                    95,993           86,957
   Unbilled Utility Revenue                             17,311           27,210
   Gas Stored Underground                               34,711           22,120
   Materials and Supplies - at average cost             23,796           20,848
   Unrecovered Purchased Gas Costs                           -           20,772
   Prepayments                                          20,111           17,094
                                                       220,938          208,596

Other Assets
   Recoverable Future Taxes                             99,742                -
   Unamortized Debt Expense                             28,396           28,735
   Other Regulatory Assets                              47,737           43,644
   Deferred Charges                                     15,796           21,255
   Other                                                26,309           21,307
                                                       217,980          114,941

                                                    $1,981,657       $1,801,540

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements <PAGE 56>
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National Fuel Gas Company Consolidated Balance Sheets

                                                              At September 30
                                                          1994             1993
                                                         (Thousands of Dollars)
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES
Capitalization:
Common Stock Equity
   Common Stock, $1 Par Value
    Authorized  - 100,000,000 Shares; Issued and
    Outstanding - 37,278,409 Shares and 36,661,008
    Shares, Respectively                            $   37,278       $   36,661
   Paid In Capital                                     379,156          363,677
   Earnings Reinvested in the Business                 363,854          335,907
Total Common Stock Equity                              780,288          736,245
Long-Term Debt, Net of Current Portion                 462,500          478,417
Total Capitalization                                 1,242,788        1,214,662

Current and Accrued Liabilities
   Notes Payable to Banks and
    Commercial Paper                                   112,500          196,800
   Current Portion of Long-Term Debt                    96,000                -
   Accounts Payable                                     66,667           42,893
   Amounts Payable to Customers                         38,714           40,776
   Other Accruals and Current Liabilities               61,368           69,523
                                                       375,249          349,992
Deferred Credits
   Accumulated Deferred Income Taxes                   273,560          188,793
   Taxes Refundable to Customers                        31,688                -
   Unamortized Investment Tax Credit                    14,057           14,743
   Other Deferred Credits                               44,315           33,350
                                                       363,620          236,886
Commitments and Contingencies                                -                -

                                                    $1,981,657       $1,801,540

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements <PAGE 57>
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                                  National Fuel Gas Company
                            Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows


                                                                Year Ended September 30
                                                               1994         1993       1992
                                                                 (Thousands of Dollars)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
   Net Income Available for Common Stock                   $ 85,672     $ 75,217   $ 60,310
   Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash
    Provided by Operating Activities
      Effect of Noncash Adjustments:
         Cumulative Effect of Changes in Accounting          (3,237)           -          -
         Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization            74,764       69,425     55,726
         Deferred Income Taxes                                4,853       16,919     14,125
         Other                                                5,780        5,574      2,997
                                                            167,832      167,135    133,158
      Change in:
         Receivables and Unbilled Utility Revenue               863      (21,531)   (12,074)
         Gas Stored Underground and Materials and Supplies  (15,539)       7,156     (5,221)
         Unrecovered Purchased Gas Costs                     20,772       (7,739)    (7,703)
         Prepayments                                         (3,017)      (1,489)     2,862
         Accounts Payable                                    23,774       (2,579)     4,349
         Amounts Payable to Customers                        (2,062)     (18,808)    (6,728)
         Other Accruals and Current Liabilities               3,072       15,249     15,704
         Other Assets and Liabilities - Net                   3,534      (13,691)   (31,359)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities                   199,229      123,703     92,988

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
   Capital Expenditures                                    (135,084)    (131,926)  (157,856)
   Other                                                      3,586          225     (2,052)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities                      (131,498)    (131,701)  (159,908)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
   Change in Notes Payable to Banks and Commercial
    Paper                                                   (84,300)     (30,200)    20,500
   Proceeds from Issuance of Long-Term Debt                 100,000      129,000    251,000
   Reduction of Long-Term Debt                              (19,917)    (180,083)  (176,729)
   Proceeds from Issuance of Common Stock                     9,064       78,822     73,728
   Dividends Paid on Common Stock                           (57,157)     (52,224)   (45,634)
Net Cash Provided by (Used In)
 Financing Activities                                       (52,310)     (54,685)   122,865

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and
 Temporary Cash Investments                                  15,421      (62,683)    55,945

Cash and Temporary Cash Investments at Beginning of Year     13,595       76,278     20,333

Cash and Temporary Cash Investments at End of Year         $ 29,016     $ 13,595   $ 76,278


                        See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Note A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, all of which are wholly-owned. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated where appropriate.
Reclassification. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.
Regulation. Two of the Company's principal subsidiaries, National Fuel Gas Distribution Corporation (Distribution Corporation) and National Fuel Gas Supply Corporation (Supply Corporation) are subject to regulation by state and federal authorities having jurisdiction. The Company accounts for these regulated operations in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 71 (SFAS 71), "Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation." This statement sets forth the application of generally accepted accounting principles for those companies whose rates are established by or are subject to approval by an independent third-party regulator. Under SFAS 71, regulated companies defer costs as assets on the balance sheet (regulatory assets) when these costs have been or are expected to be allowed in the ratesetting process in a period different from the period in which the costs would be charged to expense by an unregulated company. These deferred regulatory assets are then flowed through the income statement in the period in which the same amounts are recovered in revenues through rates.
Costs deferred in accordance with SFAS 71 include "Recoverable Future Taxes," "Unamortized Debt Expense" and "Other Regulatory Assets." Refer to the separate Income Taxes and Unamortized Debt Expense sections of this Note for further discussion. Other regulatory assets are shown below:

At September 30 (in thousands)       1994        1993

Pension and Post-Retirement
 Benefit Costs (Note F)            $17,199     $ 8,125
Order 636 Transition Costs*
 (Note B)                            8,417         200
Deferred Contract Reformation
 Costs (Note B)                      7,736      24,862
Environmental Clean-up (Note G)      7,310       4,873
All Other                            7,075       5,584

                                   $47,737     $43,644

* Exclusive of amounts being collected through gas costs. Such amounts are included in unrecovered purchased gas costs.
Revenues. Revenues are recorded as bills are rendered, except that service supplied but not billed is reported as "Unbilled Utility Revenue" and is included in operating revenues for the year in which service is furnished. <PAGE 59>
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Unrecovered Purchased Gas Costs and Refunds. Distribution Corporation's rate schedules contain clauses that permit adjustment of revenues to reflect price changes from the cost of purchased gas included in base rates. Differences between amounts currently recoverable and actual adjustment clause revenues, as well as other price changes and pipeline and storage company refunds not yet includable in adjustment clause rates, are deferred and accounted for as either unrecovered purchased gas costs or amounts payable to customers.
Supply Corporation collects revenues subject to refund if rates in effect are pending a final rate case determination by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC). Estimated rate refund liabilities are recorded which reflect management's current estimate as to the ultimate outcome of each rate case.
Property, Plant and Equipment. The principal assets, consisting primarily of gas plant in service, are recorded at the historical cost when originally devoted to service in the regulated businesses, as required by regulatory authorities. Such cost includes an Allowance for Funds Used During Construction (AFUDC), which is defined in applicable regulatory systems of accounts as the net cost of borrowed funds used for construction purposes and a reasonable rate on other funds when so used. The rates used in the calculation of AFUDC are determined in accordance with guidelines established by regulatory authorities.
Included in property, plant and equipment is the cost of gas stored underground - noncurrent, representing the volume of gas required to maintain pressure levels for normal operating purposes.
Maintenance and repairs of property and replacements of minor items of property are charged directly to maintenance expense. The original cost of the regulated subsidiaries' property, plant and equipment retired, and the cost of removal less salvage, are charged to accumulated depreciation.
Oil and gas exploration and development costs are capitalized under the full-cost method of accounting as prescribed by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). All costs directly associated with property acquisition, exploration and development activities are capitalized, with the principal limitation that such capitalized amounts not exceed the present value of estimated future net revenues from the production of proved gas and oil reserves plus the lower of cost or market of unevaluated properties, net of related income tax effect. The present value of estimated future net revenues was computed based on end-of-year prices adjusted for contracted price changes.
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization. Depreciation, depletion and amortization are computed by application of either the straight-line method or the gross revenue method, in amounts sufficient to recover costs over the estimated service lives of property in service, and for oil and gas properties, over the period of estimated gross revenues from proved reserves. The costs of unevaluated oil and gas properties are excluded from this calculation. The provisions for depreciation, depletion and amortization, including amounts capitalized or charged to other operating accounts, were $75,686,000 in 1994, <PAGE 60>
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$70,629,000 in 1993 and $56,506,000 in 1992, and were equivalent to 3.9% in 1994, 3.8% in 1993 and 3.3% in 1992 of average depreciable property, plant and equipment for those years.
Gas Stored Underground - Current. Gas stored is carried at cost, on a last-in, first-out (LIFO) basis. Under present regulatory practice, the liquidation of a LIFO layer is reflected in future gas cost adjustment clauses. Based upon the average price of spot market gas purchased in September 1994, including transportation costs, the current cost of replacing the inventory of gas stored underground-current exceeded the amount stated on a LIFO basis by approximately $19,300,000 at September 30, 1994.
Unamortized Debt Expense. Costs associated with the issuance of debt by the Company are deferred and amortized over the lives of the related issues. Costs associated with the reacquisition of debt related to rate-regulated subsidiaries are deferred and amortized over the remaining life of the issue or the life of the replacement debt in order to match regulatory treatment.
Income Taxes. The Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return. Prior to its repeal in 1986, Investment Tax Credit was either reflected currently in income or deferred and amortized to income over the estimated useful lives of the related property, as required by regulatory authorities having jurisdiction.
On October 1, 1993, the Company adopted SFAS 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes" (SFAS 109). The adoption of SFAS 109 changed the Company's method of accounting for income taxes from the deferred method to an asset and liability approach. Previously, deferred taxes were provided for the tax effects of timing differences between financial reporting purposes and tax reporting purposes except where not permitted by regulatory authorities. The asset and liability approach requires the recognition of deferred tax liabilities and assets for the expected future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their tax bases. In addition, such deferred tax assets and liabilities will be adjusted for the effects of enacted changes in tax laws and rates.
The cumulative effect of this change increased net income by $3,826,000 as a result of the reduction in deferred income taxes associated with the Company's nonregulated operations. The effect on the recorded deferred income taxes associated with rate-regulated activities was to reclassify a portion to a regulatory liability since such amounts are expected to be refundable to customers under regulatory procedures. This liability amounted to $31,688,000 at September 30, 1994.
In addition, under SFAS 109, the Company is required to recognize additional deferred taxes for timing differences on which deferred tax treatment was not permitted by regulatory authorities. The recognition of these deferred tax balances had no effect on earnings due to the recording of corresponding regulatory assets representing future amounts collectible from customers in the ratemaking process. Substantially all of these deferred taxes relate to property, plant and equipment and related investment tax credits and will be amortized consistent with the depreciation and amortization of these accounts. The additional deferred taxes amounted to $99,742,000 at September 30, 1994. <PAGE 61>
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Financial Instruments. In October 1994, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS 119, "Disclosure about Derivative Financial Instruments and Fair Value of Financial Instruments" (SFAS 119). This statement requires disclosures about amounts, nature, and terms of derivative financial instruments. It also requires that a distinction be made between financial instruments held or issued for trading purposes and those held or issued for purposes other than trading. The Company's disclosure is in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 119.
Seneca Resources Corporation (Seneca) has entered into certain price swap agreements that effectively hedge a portion of the market risk associated with fluctuations in the price of natural gas and crude oil. These agreements are not held for trading purposes. The price swap agreements call for Seneca to receive monthly payments from (or make payments to) other parties based upon the differential between a fixed and a variable price as specified by the agreement. At September 30, 1994, Seneca had natural gas price swap agreements which run through December 1996 and have an aggregate notional amount of approximately 16.2 billion cubic feet (Bcf) of natural gas equivalent. In October 1994, Seneca entered into natural gas price swap agreements for an additional aggregate notional amount of approximately 3.6 Bcf of natural gas equivalent. These agreements cover the period from March 1995 through February 1996. Seneca also had crude oil price swap agreements at September 30, 1994, which run through September 1997 and have an aggregate notional amount of 773,000 barrels of crude oil equivalent. Gains or losses from these price swap agreements are reflected in operating revenues on the Consolidated Statement of Income at the time of settlement with the other parties, which is when the underlying hedged commodity transaction occurs.
National Fuel Resources, Inc. (NFR) participates in the natural gas futures market to lock in natural gas prices to decrease volatility related to fluctuations in market prices. Futures are not held for trading purposes. At September 30, 1994, NFR had short positions on futures amounting to approximately 1.1 Bcf of natural gas. It also had long positions on futures amounting to approximately .1 Bcf of natural gas. Gains or losses resulting from changes in the market value of these transactions are deferred until the hedged commodity transaction occurs, at which point they are reflected in operating revenues on the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Seneca and NFR are at risk in the event of nonperformance by counterparties on natural gas and crude oil price swap agreements and natural gas futures, respectively, but Seneca and NFR do not anticipate nonperformance by any of these counterparties.
The Company currently has authorization from the SEC to enter into interest rate swap agreements and certain other derivative instruments up to a notional amount of $350,000,000. Currently, no such agreements are outstanding.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. For purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, the Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a maturity of generally three months or less to be cash equivalents. Interest paid in 1994, 1993 and 1992 was $46,183,000, <PAGE 62>
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
(Continued)
$48,282,000 and $58,530,000, respectively. Net income taxes paid in 1994, 1993 and 1992 were $37,573,000, $19,872,000 and $15,282,000, respectively.
In December 1993, the Company entered into a non-cash investing activity whereby it issued 108,396 shares of Company common stock to Empire Exploration, Inc. (Empire), which in turn exchanged those shares for $3,184,000 of natural gas production assets, $167,000 of other current assets and $280,000 of cash. On July 1, 1994, Empire was merged into Seneca.
Earnings Per Common Share. Earnings per common share are calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during each fiscal year. Common stock equivalents in the form of stock options do not have a material dilutive effect on earnings per common share.
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Note B - Regulatory Matters
Order 636 Transition Costs. As a result of the industrywide restructuring under the FERC's Order 636, Distribution Corporation is incurring transition costs billed by Supply Corporation and other upstream pipeline companies.
At September 30, 1994, Distribution Corporation's estimate of its exposure to outstanding transition cost claims is in the range of $4,600,000 to $80,700,000. The majority of these costs relate to gas supply realignment (GSR) costs and stranded costs and is exclusive of any potential stranded costs related to production plant or gathering facilities which pipeline companies, including Supply Corporation, may file for at a future date, and any potential GSR costs claimed by an upstream supplier, which are subject to the outcome of its bankruptcy and FERC proceedings. At September 30, 1994, the Company has recorded the minimum liability and corresponding regulatory asset of $4,600,000.
Distribution Corporation has authorization from the State of New York Public Service Commission (PSC) to recover up to $11,000,000 annually of transition costs from sales customers in New York through the monthly Gas Adjustment Clause (GAC). Distribution Corporation will defer, for recovery in future periods, any amounts that may exceed the $11,000,000 annual amount.
The recovery of transition costs from transportation customers in New York remains unresolved. The PSC has postponed its decision on transportation customers' allocable share of transition costs pending further consideration of the issue in a generic restructuring case (the Generic Case) which began in October 1993. The PSC staff's position in the Generic Case is that transportation customers should be assigned a per-unit charge that is equal to 50% of the per-unit charge being collected from sales customers for GSR and stranded costs. The PSC has authorized Distribution Corporation's continued deferral of transition costs relating to transportation customers until resolution in the Generic Case. At September 30, 1994, deferred transition costs related to transportation customers amounted to $2,031,000.
In its Pennsylvania jurisdiction, Distribution Corporation is recovering GSR and stranded costs from its customers through a separate surcharge. At September 30, 1994, Distribution Corporation had deferred GSR and stranded costs of $900,000. Distribution Corporation will recover these costs through a true-up mechanism whereby it is allowed to update its surcharge on a quarterly basis. Distribution Corporation is recovering under-recovered purchased gas transition costs from its Pennsylvania sales customers through its gas cost recovery rates.
Distribution Corporation will continue to actively challenge relevant FERC filings made by the upstream pipeline companies to ensure the eligibility and prudency of all transition cost claims. This industrywide issue will potentially involve years of rate proceedings before the FERC, state commissions and the courts. Management believes that any transition costs resulting from the implementation of Order 636 which have been determined to <PAGE 64>
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be both eligible and prudently incurred should be fully recoverable from the respective customers of Supply Corporation and Distribution Corporation.
Gathering Rates. Supply Corporation has approximately $19,000,000 of production and gathering facilities used, in part, to gather natural gas of local producers, including the Company's production in the Appalachian Region. Currently, Supply Corporation has a gathering rate in place under an interim settlement with customers and local producers. In its restructuring orders, the FERC has directed Supply Corporation to fully unbundle its gathering rate effective July 1, 1995. Supply Corporation submitted an offer of settlement (the Settlement) which if approved would provide for a ten-year transition to fully unbundle rates beginning July 1, 1995. Comments on the Settlement have been filed by the parties. Such comments were generally favorable. However, opposition came largely from offsystem customers claiming that they should not have any cost responsibility for the production and gathering plant because it is not necessary to provide service to them. The Settlement currently awaits a FERC decision. The FERC has, however, also directed Supply Corporation to file a fully unbundled rate by December 31, 1994, that would become immediately effective on July 1, 1995. Supply Corporation has requested an extension of the December deadline to April 28, 1995, since approval of the Settlement in the meantime would make further filings unnecessary.
Contract Reformation Issues. As a result of the FERC's Orders 436 and 528 issued in October 1985 and November 1990, respectively, pipeline companies have made, and have agreed to make, payments to producers in exchange for reformation of the price and/or take-or-pay provisions of their long-term wellhead gas supply arrangements, also referred to as contract reformation costs (CRC). The Company is currently recovering from its customers substantially all CRC billed to it.
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Note C - Income Taxes
Deferred tax liabilities (assets) were comprised of the following:

  At September 30, 1994 (in thousands)     Accumulated        Deferred
                                             Deferred       Income Taxes
                                           Income Taxes        Current*
Deferred Tax Liabilities:
   Excess of Tax Over Book Depreciation        $174,006          $     -
   Exploration and Intangible Well
    Drilling Costs                               78,224                -
   Other                                         64,181                -
      Total Deferred Tax Liabilities            316,411                -

Deferred Tax Assets:
   Deferred Investment Tax Credits               (8,388)               -
   Overheads Capitalized for Tax Purposes        (9,238)               -
   Provisions for Rate Contingencies and
    Refunds                                           -             (686)
   Unrecovered Purchased Gas Costs                    -           (3,762)
   Other                                        (25,225)               -
       Total Deferred Tax Assets                (42,851)          (4,448)

       Total Net Deferred Income Taxes         $273,560         $( 4,448)

* Included on the Consolidated Balance Sheets in "Other Accruals and Current Liabilities."
The components of federal and state income taxes included in the Consolidated Statement of Income are as follows:

Year Ended September 30 (in thousands)              1994       1993       1992

Operating Expenses:
 Current Income Taxes -
  Federal                                        $36,630    $21,148    $17,680
  State                                            6,309      2,979      3,426

 Deferred Income Taxes                             4,853     16,919     14,125
                                                  47,792     41,046     35,231

Other Income:
 Deferred Investment Tax Credit                     (682)      (693)      (706)

Cumulative Effect of Changes in Accounting:
 Adoption of SFAS 109                             (3,826)         -          -
 Tax Effect of Adoption of SFAS 112                 (425)         -          -

Total Income Taxes                               $42,859    $40,353    $34,525

<PAGE 66>
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
(Continued)
Total income taxes as reported differ from the amounts that were computed by applying the federal income tax rate to income before income taxes. The following is a reconciliation of this difference:

Year Ended September 30 (in thousands)               1994      1993       1992

Net Income Available for Common Stock            $ 85,672   $ 75,217   $60,310
Total Income Taxes                                 42,859     40,353    34,525

Income Before Income Taxes                       $128,531   $115,570   $94,835


Income Tax Expense, Computed at
  Statutory Rate of 35% in 1994
   and 34.75% in 1993 and 34% in 1992            $ 44,986    $40,161   $32,244
Increase (Reduction) in Taxes Resulting from:
  Current State Income Taxes                        4,101      1,944     2,261
  Depreciation                                      2,174      2,221     1,893
  Production Tax Credits                           (1,658)    (2,608)     (520)
  Adoption of SFAS 109                             (3,826)         -         -
  Miscellaneous                                    (2,918)    (1,365)   (1,353)

Total Income Taxes                                $42,859    $40,353   $34,525
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Note D - Capitalization
Common Stock. The Company issued 2,500,000 shares of common stock in each of May 1993 and September 1992. The shares issued in May 1993 were sold to the public at a price of $30.50 per share, and the net proceeds to the Company after underwriting discounts and commissions were $29.57 per share, or $73,925,000. The shares issued in September 1992 were sold to the public at a price of $27.625 per share, and the net proceeds to the Company after underwriting discounts and commissions were $26.715 per share, or $66,787,500.
Through the Company's Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan (DRP), holders of shares of the Company's common stock may reinvest cash dividends and/or make cash investments in the common stock of the Company. In 1994 and 1993, open market shares were utilized for issuance under the DRP. In 1992, 65,015 new shares as well as open market shares were issued under the DRP.
Under the Company's section 401(k) plans, the Company issued 136,100 shares, 115,300 shares and 108,700 shares of common stock during 1994, 1993 and 1992, respectively.
The Company's Customer Stock Purchase Plan (CSPP) provides residential customers the opportunity to acquire shares of Company common stock without the payment of any brokerage commission or service charges in connection with such acquisitions. At the discretion of the Company, the shares purchased under the CSPP are original issue shares purchased directly from the Company or shares purchased on the open market by an agent. The Company issued 208,990 shares, 139,986 shares and 156,607 shares of common stock under the CSPP during 1994, 1993 and 1992, respectively.
Effective March 17, 1992, after having received shareholder approval, the Company amended its Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, to change the designation of its authorized and issued common stock from shares having no par value to shares having a par value of $1 per share. Accordingly, $214,461,000 was transferred from Common Stock to Paid In Capital. This change eliminated unnecessary additional qualification and licensing fees incurred by the Company in certain states as a result of having no par value common stock. This change has no effect on the rights and privileges of Company stockholders.
Stock Options and Stock Award Plans. The Company's 1993 Award and Option Plan (1993 Plan) provides for the issuance of incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, performance units and performance shares to key employees. The 1983 Incentive Stock Option Plan (1983 Plan) provided for the issuance of incentive stock options to key employees, and the 1984 Stock Plan (1984 Plan) provided for awards of restricted stock, nonqualified stock options and stock appreciation rights to key employees. Stock options under all three plans have exercise prices equal to the average market price of Company common stock on the date of grant, and generally no option is exercisable less than one year or more than ten years after the date of each grant.
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In 1993, the authorized maximum number of shares of common stock under the 1983 Plan and 1984 Plan was reached, and therefore no further options or restricted stock have been awarded under these plans. Under the 1993 Plan, the maximum number of shares of common stock available for option grants and stock awards is 1,600,000 shares. Stock options outstanding do not have a materially dilutive effect on earnings per common share.
Transactions involving option shares for all three plans are summarized as follows:

                           Number of
                         Shares Subject             Option Price
                           to Option                  Per Share

Outstanding at
 September 30, 1991          516,260                 $13.19 to  $23.81
Granted in 1992              206,500                 $23.88
Exercised in 1992*          (100,664)                $13.19 to  $23.81
Forfeited in 1992             (4,000)                $23.81
Outstanding at
 September 30, 1992          618,096                 $15.59 to  $23.88
Granted in 1993              416,500                 $25.19 and $31.50
Exercised in 1993*           (78,750)                $15.59 to  $23.88
Outstanding at
 September 30, 1993          955,846                 $15.59 to  $31.50
Granted in 1994              272,000                 $31.63
Exercised in 1994*           (60,509)                $18.00 to  $25.19
Outstanding at
 September 30, 1994        1,167,337                 $15.59 to  $31.63

Shares Exercisable at
 September 30, 1994          895,337

Shares Reserved for
 Future Grant at
 September 30, 1994        1,159,072

*In connection with exercising these options, 18,088, 36,797 and 35,532 shares were surrendered and/or cancelled during 1994, 1993 and 1992, respectively.
As of September 30, 1994, a total of 286,308 shares of restricted stock had been awarded under the 1984 Plan and 1993 Plan, since inception. Restrictions have lapsed respecting 148,814 of these shares. Of the remaining 137,494 shares of restricted stock, restrictions on 8,000 shares will lapse respecting approximately one-fourth of such shares on each January 2, 1999 through 2002. Restrictions on 8,000 shares will lapse respecting approximately one-fourth of such shares on each January 2, 2000 through 2003. Restrictions on 113,494 shares will lapse respecting approximately one-sixth of such shares on each January 2, 1996 through 2001. Restrictions on 8,000 shares will lapse respecting approximately one-fourth of such shares on each January 2, 2001 through 2004. The market value of the restricted stock on the date the award was made is being recorded as compensation expense over the periods over which the restrictions lapse. During the restriction period, share certificates are held by the Company.
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Redeemable Preferred Stock. As of September 30, 1994, there were 3,200,000 shares of $25 par value Cumulative Preferred Stock authorized but unissued.
Summary of Changes in Common Stock Equity

                                                                      Earnings
                                                           Paid     Reinvested
                                          Common Stock      In          in the
                (in thousands)         Shares    Amount  Capital     Business

Balance at September 30, 1991          30,926   $241,043             $301,066
Net Income Available for Common Stock                                  60,310
Dividends Declared on Common Stock
 ($1.48 Per Share)                                                    (47,042)
Transfer from Common Stock to
 Paid In Capital                                (214,461)  $214,461
Common Stock Issued:
 Sale of Common Stock                   2,500      2,500     64,288
 DRP, Incentive Compensation Plans
  and 401(k) Plans                        273      3,314      3,065
 CSPP                                     157      1,460      2,614
Common Stock Issuance Costs                                    (285)

Balance at September 30, 1992          33,856     33,856    284,143   314,334
Net Income Available for Common Stock                                  75,217
Dividends Declared on Common Stock
 ($1.52 Per Share)                                                    (53,644)
Common Stock Issued:
 Sale of Common Stock                   2,500      2,500     71,425
 Incentive Compensation Plans
  and 401(k) Plans                        165        165      4,255
 CSPP                                     140        140      4,101
Common Stock Issuance Costs                                    (247)

Balance at September 30, 1993          36,661     36,661    363,677   335,907
Net Income Available for Common Stock                                  85,672
Dividends Declared on Common Stock
 ($1.56 Per Share)                                                    (57,725)
Common Stock Issued:
 Acquisition of Natural Gas
  Production Assets                       108        108      3,523
 Incentive Compensation Plans
  and 401(k) Plans                        300        300      5,397
 CSPP                                     209        209      6,559

Balance at September 30, 1994          37,278   $ 37,278   $379,156   $363,854*

* The availability of consolidated earnings reinvested in the business for dividends payable in cash is limited under terms of the indentures covering long-term debt. At September 30, 1994, $289,470,000 of accumulated earnings was free of such limitations. However, substantially all of this amount has been reinvested in the business. <PAGE 70>
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Long-Term Debt. The outstanding long-term debt is as follows:

At September 30             (in thousands)     1994        1993

Debentures:
 7-3/4% due February 2004                  $125,000    $125,000
 9-1/2% due July 2019                             -      19,917

Medium-Term Notes:
  6.07% due May 1995                         55,000      55,000
  6.10% due May 1995                         20,000      20,000
  6.10% due June 1995                         1,000       1,000
  9.32% due June 1995                        20,000      20,000
 8.875% due December 1995                    20,000      20,000
  8.90% due December 1995                    38,500      38,500
  4.53% due September 1996                   30,000      30,000
  6.42% due November 1997                    50,000      50,000
  7.25% due July 1999                        50,000           -
  6.60% due February 2000                    50,000      50,000
 7.395% due March 2023                       49,000      49,000
  8.48% due July 2024*                       50,000           -

                                            558,500     478,417
Less Current Portion                         96,000           -

                                           $462,500    $478,417

* Callable beginning July 1999.
The aggregate principal amounts of long-term debt maturing for the next five years, including amounts classified as Current Portion of Long-Term Debt, are:
$96,000,000 in 1995, $88,500,000 in 1996, none in 1997, $50,000,000 in 1998 and $50,000,000 in 1999.
The fair market value of the Company's long-term debt is estimated based on quoted market prices of similar issues having the same remaining maturities, redemption terms and credit ratings. Based on these criteria, the fair market value of long-term debt, including current portion, is $541,327,000 and $513,107,000 at September 30, 1994 and 1993, respectively. Such value is not intended to reflect principal amounts that the Company will ultimately be required to repay.
During 1994, the Company redeemed $19,917,000 remaining outstanding principal amount of 9-1/2% debentures due July 1, 2019, for $21,337,000, including redemption premium. Also during 1994, the Company issued $50,000,000 of medium-term notes due July 1999, at an interest rate of 7.25% and $50,000,000 of medium-term notes due July 2024, at an interest rate of 8.48%. The 8.48% notes are callable beginning July 1999. After reflecting underwriting discounts and commissions, the combined proceeds to the Company of these issuances amounted to $99,415,500. The proceeds were used to reduce outstanding short-term borrowings.
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In March 1993, the Company filed a shelf registration with the SEC for $350,000,000 of debentures and/or medium-term notes that became effective on March 30, 1993. The Company has authority remaining under this shelf registration to issue and sell up to $220,000,000 of debentures and/or medium-term notes. The amounts and timing of the issuance and sale of these debentures and/or medium-term notes will depend on market conditions and the requirements of the Company.
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Note E - Short-Term Borrowings
The Company maintains uncommitted or discretionary lines of credit with certain financial institutions for general corporate purposes. These lines are utilized primarily as a means of financing, on an interim basis, various working capital requirements and capital expenditures of the Company, including the Company's oil and gas exploration and development program, pipeline construction and the purchase and storage of gas. Borrowings under these lines of credit are made at competitive money market rates, and the Company currently is authorized to borrow up to $400,000,000 thereunder. These credit lines, which are callable at the option of the financial institutions, are reviewed on an annual basis and are expected to remain in place through 1995.
The Company may also issue as much as $150,000,000 of commercial paper from time to time, but in no event may its borrowings under its discretionary lines of credit, or through the issuance of commercial paper, exceed $400,000,000 in the aggregate.
Additionally, the Company has entered into an agreement that establishes a 364-day committed revolving credit arrangement with seven commercial banks, under which it may borrow as much as $105,000,000. This arrangement may be utilized for general corporate purposes, including to support the issuance of commercial paper. The Company pays a fee to maintain this arrangement, and may borrow through this arrangement under four interest rate options. If amounts are borrowed under this arrangement, the $400,000,000 available for borrowing under the discretionary lines of credit is correspondingly reduced. No borrowings under this arrangement were outstanding at September 30, 1994. The arrangement expires on September 20, 1995, and the Company expects to renew or replace all or most of this arrangement before then.
At September 30, 1994, the Company had outstanding notes payable to banks and commercial paper of $102,500,000 and $10,000,000, respectively. At September 30, 1993, the Company had outstanding notes payable to banks and commercial paper of $125,800,000 and $71,000,000, respectively.
The weighted average interest rate on notes payable to banks was 5.13% and 3.29% at September 30, 1994 and 1993, respectively. The weighted average interest rate on commercial paper was 5.09% and 3.32% at September 30, 1994 and 1993, respectively.
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Note F - Retirement Plan and Other Post-Employment Benefits
Retirement Plan. The Company has a tax-qualified, noncontributory, defined-benefit retirement plan (Plan) that covers substantially all employees of the Company. The Plan uses years of service, age at retirement and earnings of employees to determine benefits.
The Company's policy is to fund at least an amount necessary to satisfy the minimum funding requirements of applicable laws and regulations and not more than the maximum amount deductible for federal income tax purposes. Plan funding is subject to annual review by management and its consulting actuary. Plan assets primarily consist of equity and fixed income investments and units in commingled funds. A plan amendment was adopted which provided for an early retirement window program which is accounted for under the rules prescribed by SFAS 88, "Employers' Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Plans and for Termination Benefits." For ratemaking purposes, pension expense equals the amount funded less amounts capitalized. Since Plan funding has not been required in recent years, the Company deferred the pension expense associated with its regulated subsidiaries. The amounts deferred are expected to be recovered in rates as contributions are made to the Plan.
The components of net periodic pension expense were as follows:

Year Ended September 30 (in thousands)             1994       1993       1992

Service Cost for Benefits Earned
  During the Period                             $10,441    $ 9,181   $  8,816
Interest Cost on Projected Benefit Obligation    26,532     24,258     22,446
Actual Return on Plan Assets                    (16,212)   (35,657)   (37,107)
Net Amortization and Deferral                   (16,603)     4,287      7,077
Early Retirement Window                           2,855          -          -
Net Periodic Pension Cost                         7,013      2,069      1,232
Deferred for Regulatory Purposes                 (6,875)    (2,012)    (1,192)
Pension Cost Recognized in
  Consolidated Statement of Income              $   138   $     57   $     40

The projected benefit obligation was determined using an assumed discount rate of 8.5% in 1994, 7.75% in 1993 and 8.5% in 1992. The assumed rate of compensation increase was 5% for all three years. The expected long-term rate of return on Plan assets was 8.5% for all three years. The unrecognized net asset that arose from the initial application of SFAS 87, "Employers' Accounting for Pensions," is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the future working lifetime of those expected to receive benefits under the Plan. <PAGE 74>
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A reconciliation of the Plan's funded status as determined by the Company's consulting actuary is presented in the following table:

At September 30                (in thousands)                  1994       1993


Actuarial Present Value of:
  Vested Benefit Obligation                                $245,095   $241,676

  Accumulated Benefit Obligation                           $282,340   $278,843

  Projected Benefit Obligation                             $342,050   $346,634

Plan Assets at Fair Value                                   370,150    369,920
Plan Assets in Excess of
  Projected Benefit Obligation                               28,100     23,286
Unrecognized Net Asset                                      (37,502)   (42,688)
Unrecognized Prior Service Cost                              13,339     14,418
Unrecognized Net Gain                                       (19,959)    (4,025)
Pension Liability                                           (16,022)    (9,009)
Deferred for Regulatory Purposes                             15,001      8,126
Pension Liability Recognized on Consolidated
  Balance Sheets                                           $ (1,021)  $   (883)

Other Post-Retirement Benefits. In addition to providing retirement plan benefits, the Company currently provides health care and life insurance benefits for substantially all retired employees under a post-retirement benefit plan (Post-Retirement Plan).
The Company has adopted SFAS 106, "Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions" (SFAS 106), effective October 1, 1993. This statement required the Company to change its accounting for these post-retirement benefits from the "pay-as-you-go" (cash) basis to the accrual basis.
The Company has established Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association (VEBA) trusts for collectively bargained employees and non-bargaining employees. The VEBA trusts are similar to the Company's Retirement Plan trust. Contributions to the VEBA trusts are tax deductible, subject to limitations contained in the Internal Revenue Code and regulations. Contributions to the VEBA trusts are made to fund employees' post-retirement health care and life insurance benefits, as well as benefits as they are paid to current retirees. The Company's current policy is to invest Post-Retirement Plan assets primarily in equity securities and municipal bonds.
The Company has elected to amortize the initial accumulated liability (transition obligation) to net periodic post-retirement benefit cost on a straight-line basis over a 20-year period. Total post-retirement benefit cost under SFAS 106 was $23,530,000 in 1994 compared with the costs based on cash payments for retiree health care and life insurance benefits of $5,974,000 and $4,945,000 in 1993 and 1992, respectively. <PAGE 75>
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The components of net periodic post-retirement benefit cost were as follows:

Year Ended September 30 (in thousands)                      1994

Service Cost                                            $  3,974
Interest Cost                                             13,714
Expected Return on Post-Retirement Plan Assets            (1,035)
Amortization of Transition Obligation                      8,628
Net Periodic Post-Retirement Benefit Cost                 25,281
Deferred for Regulatory Purposes, Net                     (1,751)
Post-Retirement Benefit Cost
  Recognized in Consolidated Statement of Income        $ 23,530

The weighted-average assumed discount rate used in determining the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation was 8.5% in 1994. The average assumed annual rate of salary increase for the applicable life insurance plans was 5%.
The annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered medical care benefits for the active participants and medical plans available to new retirees was assumed to be 13% for 1994; this rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5.5% by the year 2002 and remain at that level thereafter. The annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered medical care benefits for the medical plans not available to new retirees was assumed to be 8% for 1994, 7% for 1995, 6% for 1996 and 5.5% for each year after 1996. The annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered prescription drug benefits was assumed t

o be 14% for 1994. This rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5.5% by the year 2003 and remain level thereafter.
A reconciliation of the Post-Retirement Plan's funded status as determined by the Company's consulting actuary is in the following table:

At September 30                (in thousands)                  1994

Accumulated Post-Retirement
  Benefit Obligation                                      $ 155,976
Fair Value of Post-Retirement
  Plan Assets                                                29,035
Accumulated Benefit Obligation in excess
  of Plan Assets                                           (126,941)

Unrecognized Transition Obligation                          156,210
Unrecognized Net (Gain)/Loss                                (31,776)
Post-Retirement Liability                                    (2,507)
Deferred for Regulatory Purposes, Net                         1,751
Post-Retirement Benefit Liability Recognized
  on Consolidated Balance Sheets                         $     (756)
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The health care cost trend rate assumptions used to calculate the per capita cost of covered medical care benefits have a significant effect on the amounts reported. If the health care cost trend rates were increased by 1% in each year, the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation as of October 1, 1993, would be increased by $26,600,000. This 1% change would also increase the aggregate of the service and interest cost components of net periodic post-retirement benefit cost for 1994 by $3,100,000.
Distribution Corporation and Supply Corporation represent virtually all of the Company's total post-retirement benefit costs. Distribution Corporation and Supply Corporation are fully recovering their net periodic post-retirement benefit costs in accordance with PSC and the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (PaPUC) and FERC authorization, respectively.
Post-Employment Benefits. In November 1992, the FASB issued SFAS 112, "Employers' Accounting for Postemployment Benefits" (SFAS 112), which establishes standards of financial accounting and reporting for benefits, such as salary continuation, severance pay, workers' compensation and other disability-related benefits, provided to former or inactive employees subsequent to employment but prior to retirement. The Company adopted SFAS 112 in the fourth quarter of 1994. Essentially, the new standard required the Company to change its accounting for significant post-employment benefits from the "pay-as-you-go" (cash) to the accrual basis. The only significant post-employment benefit that the Company has relates to workers' compensation. In the Company's regulated operations, workers' compensation is recovered in rates on a cash basis and is not material. Workers' compensation claims related to the Company's nonregulated operations at September 30, 1994, is approximately $1,014,000 ($589,000 net of income taxes) using a discount rate of 8.5%. As required by SFAS 112, the adoption of the standard is reflected on the Consolidated Statement of Income as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
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Note G - Commitments and Contingencies
Leases. System companies have entered into lease agreements, principally for the use of office space, business machines, transportation and construction equipment and meters. The Company's policy is to treat all leases as operating leases for both accounting and ratemaking purposes. Total lease expense approximated $17,190,000 in 1994, $16,864,000 in 1993 and $17,570,000 in 1992. At September 30, 1994, the future minimum payments under the Company's lease agreements for the next five years are: $13,075,000 in 1995, $9,779,000 in 1996, $6,959,000 in 1997, $5,021,000 in 1998 and $3,650,000 in 1999. The future minimum lease payments attributable to later years is $6,059,000.
Obligations Under Firm Contracts. Distribution Corporation has agreements with five nonaffiliated upstream pipeline companies that provide for the availability of needed pipeline transportation capacity for periods that extend through 2004. These agreements provide for payment of a demand or reservation charge, at FERC-approved rates, for contracted capacity. Distribution Corporation has various gas purchase agreements with nonaffiliated gas producers that require payment of fixed monthly charges. These charges are tied to various indices. These agreements have an average term of six years. Additionally, Distribution Corporation has agreements with two nonaffiliated companies for gas storage services through 2004 that require payment of a demand charge, at FERC-approved rates, for contracted storage. At September 30, 1994, the projected aggregate amounts of such required future payments, based on current FERC-approved rates and current indices, where applicable, are approximately $88,600,000, $12,500,000 and $6,900,000 annually for the next five years, for pipeline capacity, gas purchases and storage service, respectively. Additionally, these agreements call for the payment of commodity charges based upon actual quantities shipped, purchased and stored.
These obligations under firm contracts are considered purchased gas costs, subject to state commission review, and are being recovered in customer rates through the inclusion in Distribution Corporation's rate schedules.
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 1994, total gross costs incurred under these contracts, including commodity charges on actual quantities shipped, purchased and stored, amounted to $347,100,000.
Environmental Matters. The Company is subject to various federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment. The Company has established procedures for the on-going evaluation of its operations to identify potential environmental exposures and assure compliance with regulatory policies and procedures.
Distribution Corporation has been identified by the Environmental Protection Agency or the New York State Department of Environmental Conservation (DEC) as one of a number of companies that are considered to be potentially responsible parties (PRPs) with respect to several waste disposal sites in New York that were operated by unrelated third parties. These PRPs are alleged to have contributed to the materials that may have been collected at such waste disposal sites by the site operators. The ultimate cost to Distribution <PAGE 78>
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Corporation with respect to the remediation of these sites will be dependent on such factors as the remediation plan selected, the extent of site contamination, the number of additional PRPs at each site and the portion attributed, if any, to Distribution Corporation. Distribution Corporation's estimated share of the clean-up costs has been accrued for four of these sites.
One of these four sites was formerly used for a manufactured gas plant. Distribution Corporation is currently involved in litigation regarding this site. The current owner of the site has submitted a claim against Distribution Corporation for contribution of a share of approximately $1,600,000 of removal/remediation costs that have been incurred. It is anticipated that future remedial costs will be incurred and on the basis of a Record of Decision issued by the DEC, as amended on September 19, 1994, the estimated future remedial costs for the site are approximately $5,700,000. Management believes that the ultimate outcome of these matters will not have a material impact on the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows of the Company.
Distribution Corporation has incurred clean-up costs at two additional sites in New York and one site in Pennsylvania related to former manufactured gas plant sites. Supply Corporation is involved in a remediation program of certain of its measuring and regulating stations in Pennsylvania. Estimated clean-up costs have been accrued for these sites.
It is the Company's policy to accrue estimated clean-up costs when such amounts can reasonably be estimated and it is probable that the Company will be required to incur such costs. The Company has estimated that clean-up costs related to the above noted sites are in the range of $6,700,000 to $10,100,000. At September 30, 1994, the Company has recorded the minimum liability of $6,700,000. The Company is currently not aware of any material additional exposure to environmental liabilities. However, adverse changes in environmental regulations or other factors could impact the Company.
In New York, Distribution Corporation has received approval from the PSC to defer and amortize both former manufactured gas and non-manufactured gas plant site investigation and remediation costs over a three-year period for each site. These costs are then included in rate cases for recovery through base rates. Distribution Corporation is currently recovering such costs in this manner. In Pennsylvania, Distribution Corporation and Supply Corporation expect to recover such costs in rates, as the PaPUC and the FERC, respectively, have allowed recovery of other environmental clean-up costs in rate cases. Accordingly, the Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 1994, include related regulatory assets in the amount of approximately $7,300,000, $600,000 of which relates to costs that have already been incurred.
The Company has begun a program to comply with the Clean Air Act Amendments of 1990 (the Act). This program focuses on emission controls for Supply Corporation's compressor stations in New York and Pennsylvania. These facilities are affected by the nitrogen oxide emission standards of the Act. Supply Corporation incurred capital expenditures for emission controls of approximately $623,000 in 1994 and expects to incur approximately $4,300,000 in 1995. The Company does not anticipate incurring significant additional capital <PAGE 79>
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expenditures to comply with the current standards of the Act, however, changes in the standards may require additional expenditures in the future. Management expects that all related capital expenditures will be recoverable through rates.
Other. The Company is involved in litigation arising in the normal course of its business. In addition to the regulatory matters discussed in Note B - Regulatory Matters, the Company is involved in other regulatory matters arising in the normal course of business that involve rate base, cost of service and purchased gas cost issues. While the resolution of such litigation or other regulatory matters could have a material effect on earnings and cash flows in the year of resolution, none of this litigation, and none of these other regulatory matters, are expected to have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Company at this time.
Note H - Business Segment Information
The System includes operations which are rate-regulated (regulated) and operations which are not regulated as to their rates (nonregulated). The regulated operations fall primarily within two business segments: Utility Operation and Pipeline and Storage. The nonregulated operations consist principally of the Exploration and Production business segment. Other Nonregulated operations consist primarily of the Company's pipeline construction operations, sawmill and dry kiln operations, natural gas marketing operations and natural gas market area hub operations.
The Utility Operation is regulated by the PSC and the PaPUC and is carried out by Distribution Corporation. Distribution Corporation sells and transports gas to retail customers located in western New York and northwestern Pennsylvania. Pipeline and Storage operations are regulated by the FERC and are carried out by Supply Corporation. In 1994, 52% of Supply Corporation's revenue was from affiliated companies, mainly Distribution Corporation.
Seneca is engaged in exploration for, and development and purchase of, oil and natural gas reserves in the Gulf Coast, and southwestern, western and Appalachian regions of the United States. Utility Constructors, Inc. is engaged in the Company's pipeline construction operations, Highland Land & Minerals, Inc. is engaged in the Company's sawmill and dry kiln operations, NFR is engaged in the Company's natural gas marketing operations and Leidy Hub, Inc. is engaged in the Company's natural gas market area hub opreations.
The data presented in the tables below reflect the Company's regulated and nonregulated business segments for the years ended September 30, 1994, 1993 and 1992. Total operating revenues by segment include both revenues from nonaffiliated customers and intersegment revenues. Operating income is total operating revenues less operating expenses, not including income taxes. The elimination of significant intercompany balances and transactions, if appropriate, is made in order to reconcile segment information with consolidated amounts. Identifiable assets of a segment are those assets that are used in the operations of that segment. Corporate assets are principally cash and temporary cash investments, receivables and deferred charges. <PAGE 80>
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Year Ended September 30 (in thousands)    1994             1993           1992

Operating Revenues
Regulated:
  Utility Operation                 $  931,673       $  836,618     $  740,664
  Pipeline and Storage                 153,121          534,568        498,870
                                     1,084,794        1,371,186      1,239,534

Nonregulated:
  Exploration and Production            70,261           58,636         36,303
  Other                                 72,036           42,099         47,479
                                       142,297          100,735         83,782

  Intersegment Revenues*               (85,767)        (451,539)      (402,866)
                                    $1,141,324       $1,020,382     $  920,450

Operating Income (Loss)
 Before Income Taxes
Regulated:
  Utility Operation                 $   90,584       $   86,690     $   90,025
  Pipeline and Storage                  62,302           67,375         49,796
                                       152,886          154,065        139,821

Nonregulated:
  Exploration and Production            21,767           12,980          7,021
  Other                                  2,505             (986)         4,229
                                        24,272           11,994         11,250

Corporate                               (3,463)          (2,730)        (2,279)

                                    $  173,695       $  163,329     $  148,792

Identifiable Assets
At September 30

Regulated:
  Utility Operation                 $1,106,053       $  961,990     $  874,101
  Pipeline and Storage**               498,798          491,291        495,626
                                     1,604,851        1,453,281      1,369,727

Nonregulated:
  Exploration and Production**         311,037          290,346        271,444
  Other                                 33,357           27,867         27,808
                                       344,394          318,213        299,252
Corporate                               32,412           30,046         91,851

                                    $1,981,657       $1,801,540     $1,760,830

* Represents revenue primarily from Pipeline and Storage to Utility Operation.
** Prior year amounts have been reclassified to eliminate an intersegment receivable and to conform with current year presentation. <PAGE 81>
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Year Ended September 30 (in thousands)      1994           1993            1992

 Depreciation, Depletion and
  Amortization
 Regulated:
   Utility Operation                    $ 28,216       $ 27,137       $  25,001
   Pipeline and Storage                   17,516         16,347          16,202
                                          45,732         43,484          41,203

 Nonregulated:
   Exploration and Production             27,496         24,249          13,257
   Other                                   1,530          1,686           1,260
                                          29,026         25,935          14,517
 Corporate                                     6              6               6

                                        $ 74,764       $ 69,425       $  55,726


 Capital Expenditures
 Regulated:
   Utility Operation                    $ 61,715       $ 61,803      $   65,650
   Pipeline and Storage                   20,472         27,420          58,646
                                          82,187         89,223         124,296

 Nonregulated:
   Exploration and Production             52,458         36,473          26,328
   Other                                   3,603          6,229           7,225
                                          56,061         42,702          33,553
 Corporate                                    20              1               7

                                        $138,268       $131,926       $ 157,856
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Note I - Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
In the opinion of management, the following quarterly information includes all adjustments necessary for a fair statement of the results of operations for such periods. Earnings per common share are calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during each quarter. The total of all quarters may differ from the earnings per common share shown on the Consolidated Statement of Income, which is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding for the entire fiscal year. Because of the seasonal nature of the Company's heating business, there are substantial variations in operations reported on a quarterly basis.
Financial data for the quarters ended December 31, 1993, and September 30, 1994, reflect the Company's adoption of SFAS 109 and SFAS 112, respectively. As discussed in Note A - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, the Company adopted SFAS 109 during the quarter ended December 31, 1993. The cumulative effect of this change increased net income by $3,826,000. As discussed in Note F - Retirement Plan and Other Post-Employment Benefits, the Company adopted SFAS 112 during the quarter ended September 30, 1994. The cumulative effect of this change decreased net income by $589,000.

                                 Income      Net Income       Earnings
                                 Before     Available for          Per
Quarter  Operating  Operating  Cumulative      Common           Common
 Ended   Revenues    Income      Effect        Stock             Share

1994 (in thousands, except earnings per common share)

12/31/93  $310,131    $38,745     $27,800      $31,626*         $ .86*
 3/31/94  $473,722    $54,686     $43,839      $43,839          $1.18
 6/30/94  $216,281    $19,782     $ 9,833      $ 9,833          $ .26
 9/30/94  $141,190    $12,690     $   963      $   374*         $ .01*

1993 (in thousands, except earnings per common share)

12/31/92  $294,220    $38,452     $25,941      $25,941          $ .77
 3/31/93  $391,790    $57,195     $45,160      $45,160          $1.33
 6/30/93  $185,525    $14,993     $ 3,228      $ 3,228          $ .09
 9/30/93  $148,847    $11,643     $   888      $   888          $ .02

* Includes Cumulative Effect of Changes in Accounting as discussed above. <PAGE 83>
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Note J - Market for Common Stock and
Related Shareholder Matters (unaudited)
At September 30, 1994, there were 22,465 holders of National Fuel Gas Company common stock. The market for the common stock is the New York Stock Exchange. Information related to restrictions on the payment of dividends can be found in Note D - Capitalization. The quarterly price ranges and quarterly dividends declared for the fiscal years ended September 30, 1993 and 1994, are shown below:

                                          Price Range           Dividends
Quarter Ended                           High       Low          Declared


1993

12/31/92                              $30-1/2     $24-5/8        $.375
 3/31/93                              $33-1/2     $29-1/4        $.375
 6/30/93                              $33-1/2     $28-3/4        $.385
 9/30/93                              $36-7/8     $32-1/4        $.385


1994

12/31/93                              $36-5/8     $32-1/2        $.385
 3/31/94                              $36-1/4     $29-7/8        $.385
 6/30/94                              $32-7/8     $28-3/8        $.395
 9/30/94                              $31-7/8     $28-7/8        $.395
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Note K - Supplementary Information for Oil and Gas Producing Activities
The following supplementary information is presented in accordance with SFAS 69, "Disclosures about Oil and Gas Producing Activities," and related SEC accounting rules.
Capitalized Costs Relating to Oil and Gas Producing Activities

At September 30  (in thousands)                          1994         1993

Capitalized Costs Subject to Amortization            $442,224     $399,781
Capitalized Acquisition Costs Excluded
  from Amortization                                    16,636       15,849
                                                      458,860      415,630

Less - Accumulated Depreciation, Depletion
  and Amortization                                    167,592      145,553

                                                     $291,268     $270,077

Certain costs excluded from amortization represent unevaluated properties that require additional drilling to determine the existence of oil and gas reserves. The remaining costs, incurred during and prior to 1994, consist of individually insignificant oil and gas leases still early in their primary terms and individually insignificant unproved perpetual oil and gas rights. <PAGE 85>
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Costs Incurred in Oil and Gas Property Acquisition, Exploration and Development Activities

Year Ended September 30 (in thousands)            1994       1993       1992

Property Acquisition Costs                     $ 8,215    $ 9,027    $ 5,260
Exploration Costs                               17,855     10,140      4,552
Development Costs                               25,102     16,258     11,172
Other                                              259         25      3,284
                                               $51,431    $35,450    $24,268

Results of Operations for Producing Activities


Year Ended September 30 (in thousands)            1994       1993       1992

Operating Revenues:
  Natural Gas (includes revenues from sales
   to affiliates of $5,456, $11,474 and
   $10,945, respectively)                      $50,803    $43,679    $24,022
  Oil, Condensate and Other Liquids             15,307     13,943     10,974

      Total Operating Revenues                  66,110     57,622     34,996


Production/Lifting Costs                        13,177     13,452      9,828

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization
 ($.41, $.42 and $.37, respectively, per
 dollar of operating revenues)                  26,992     23,995     13,049

Income Tax Expense                               7,907      4,311      3,874

Results of Operations for Producing Activities
 (excluding corporate overheads and
 interest charges)                             $18,034    $15,864    $ 8,245
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Reserve Quantity Information (unaudited)
The Company's proved oil and gas reserves are located in the United States. The estimated quantities of proved reserves disclosed in the table below are based upon estimates by the Company's independent petroleum engineers. Such estimates are inherently imprecise and may be subject to substantial revisions.

                                         Gas                       Oil
Year Ended                               MMcf                      Mbbl
September 30                     1994    1993     1992     1994   1993    1992

Proved Developed and
Undeveloped Reserves:

 Beginning of Year            175,051  179,811 176,772   18,519  19,805 20,316

  Extensions and
   Discoveries                 94,733   26,416  21,645    1,666   1,713    270

  Revisions of
   Previous Estimates          (2,075)  (3,962) (3,391)  (1,660) (1,995)   (85)

  Production                  (23,273) (19,874)(12,070)  (1,030)   (831)  (643)

  Sales of Minerals in Place      (32)  (7,401) (3,377)       -    (173)   (53)

  Purchases of Minerals
   in Place and Other           3,043      61      232        -      -       -

 End of Year                  247,447 175,051  179,811   17,495 18,519  19,805

Proved Developed Reserves:
Beginning of Year 134,712 126,176 131,035 10,801 11,437 12,210
End of Year 179,291 134,712 126,176 10,110 10,801 11,437 <PAGE 87>
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Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows Relating to Proved Oil and Gas Reserves (unaudited)
The Company cautions that the following presentation of the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows is intended to be neither a measure of the fair market value of the Company's oil and gas properties, nor an estimate of the present value of actual future cash flows to be obtained as a result of their development and production. It is based upon subjective estimates of proved reserves only and attributes no value to categories of reserves other than proved reserves, such as probable or possible reserves, or to unproved acreage. Furthermore, it is based on year-end prices and costs adjusted only for existing contractual changes, and it assumes an arbitrary discount rate of 10%. Thus, it gives no effect to future price and cost changes certain to occur under the widely fluctuating political and economic conditions of today's world.
The standardized measure is intended instead to provide a somewhat better means for comparing the value of the Company's proved reserves at a given time with those of other oil- and gas-producing companies than is provided by a simple comparison of raw proved reserve quantities.

Year Ended September 30 (in thousands)          1994          1993         1992

Future Cash Inflows                         $705,874      $689,198     $772,017
Less:
  Future Production and Development Costs    252,901       240,417      217,654
  Future Income Tax Expense at
   Applicable Statutory Rate                 131,060       132,528      159,888
Future Net Cash Flows                        321,913       316,253      394,475
Less:
  10% Annual Discount for Estimated
   Timing of Cash Flows                      106,647       106,598      154,184
Standardized Measure of Discounted Future
Net Cash Flows                              $215,266      $209,655     $240,291
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The principal sources of change in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows were as follows:

Year Ended September 30 (in thousands)          1994         1993         1992

  Standardized Measure of Discounted Future
    Net Cash Flows at Beginning of Year     $209,655     $240,291     $183,512
     Sales, Net of Production Costs          (52,933)     (44,170)     (25,168)
     Net Changes in Prices, Net of
      Production Costs                       (48,149)     (52,266)      41,322
     Purchases of Minerals in Place            2,793           61          398
     Sales of Minerals in Place                  (29)      (7,286)      (6,454)
     Extensions and Discoveries               96,134       61,476       38,874
     Changes in Estimated Future
      Development Costs                      (36,466)     (30,555)     (15,186)
     Previously Estimated Development
      Costs Incurred                          22,941       30,888       17,793
     Net Change in Income Taxes at
      Applicable Statutory Rate                3,098        5,476      (11,662)
     Revisions of Previous Quantity
      Estimates                              (11,042)     (25,891)      (8,893)
     Accretion of Discount and Other          29,264       31,631       25,755
  Standardized Measure of Discounted
    Future Net Cash Flows at End of Year    $215,266     $209,655     $240,291
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NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE V - Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 1)
(THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS)

                Balance at                                           Balance at
                Beginning of  Additions               Other Charges  End of
Classification  Period        at Cost    Retirements  Add (Deduct)   Period

                             Year Ended September 30, 1994

Utility
 Operation       $  983,417   $ 59,652     $ 6,844       $     -   $1,036,225
Pipeline and
 Storage (Note 2)   618,917     20,380       4,132         4,959      640,124
Exploration and
 Production         415,642     52,181       3,098             -      464,725
Other Nonregulated   21,237      4,033         332             -       24,938
Corporate               223         21           -             -          244
                 $2,039,436   $136,267     $14,406        $4,959   $2,166,256

                             Year Ended September 30, 1993

Utility
 Operation       $  929,601   $ 60,001      $6,185        $    -   $  983,417
Pipeline and
 Storage (Note 2)   594,580     27,004       2,667             -      618,917
Exploration and
 Production         378,815     37,145         318             -      415,642
Other Nonregulated   15,170      6,235         168             -       21,237
Corporate               223          -           -             -          223
                 $1,918,389   $130,385      $9,338        $    -   $2,039,436


                             Year Ended September 30, 1992

Utility
 Operation       $  871,102    $ 64,624     $ 6,125        $    -   $  929,601
Pipeline and
 Storage (Note 2)   539,904      58,210       3,534             -      594,580
Exploration and
 Production         353,090      25,769          44             -      378,815
Other Nonregulated    8,202       7,222         254             -       15,170
Corporate               216           7           -             -          223
                 $1,772,514    $155,832     $ 9,957        $    -   $1,918,389

Notes to Schedule V and VI appear on page 91 of this report. <PAGE 90>
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NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE VI - Accumulated Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization of Property, Plant and Equipment
(THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS)

                            Additions
                Balance at  Charged to
                Beginning   Costs and                               Balance at
                of          Expenses                 Other Changes  End of
Description     Period      (Note 3)    Retirements  Add (Deduct)   Period

                             Year Ended September 30, 1994

Utility
 Operation         $228,951    $28,270    $ 8,790      $      -     $248,431
Pipeline and
 Storage            185,181     18,436      4,304             -      199,313
Exploration and
 Production         142,172     27,443        308             -      169,307
Other Nonregulated    5,028      1,531        200             -        6,359
Corporate               101          6          -             -          107
                   $561,433    $75,686    $13,602      $      -     $623,517

                             Year Ended September 30, 1993

Utility
 Operation         $209,846    $27,209    $ 8,104       $     -     $228,951
Pipeline and
 Storage            171,197     17,479      3,495             -      185,181
Exploration and
 Production         117,369     24,250        119           672      142,172
Other Nonregulated    3,500      1,685        157             -        5,028
Corporate                95          6          -             -          101
                   $502,007    $70,629    $11,875      $    672     $561,433

                             Year Ended September 30, 1992

Utility
 Operation         $192,169    $25,076    $ 7,399      $      -     $209,846
Pipeline and
 Storage            159,896     16,900      5,599             -      171,197
Exploration and
 Production         104,303     13,264          -          (198)     117,369
Other Nonregulated    2,306      1,260         66             -        3,500
Corporate                89          6          -             -           95
                   $458,763    $56,506    $13,064      $   (198)    $502,007

Notes to Schedule V and VI appear on page 91 of this report. <PAGE 91>
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SUPPLEMENTAL DATA
 (Continued)
NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Schedules V and VI:
(1) Because of the variety of properties and the large number of depreciation rates utilized by System companies, it is considered impractical to set forth the rates used in computing provisions. However, the total provisions for depreciation, depletion and amortization of System property, plant and equipment for the three years ended September 30, 1994, including amounts charged to accounts other than depreciation, depletion and amortization expense, were equivalent to approximately 3.9% in 1994, 3.8% in 1993 and 3.3% in 1992 of average depreciable property, plant and equipment for the respective years.
(2) Includes gas stored underground costing $80,942,000 at September 30, 1994, and $75,983,000 at September 30, 1993 and 1992. The cost of gas stored underground in the amount of $4,959,000 was transferred to property, plant and equipment from deferred changes in 1994.
(3) Additions Charged to Costs and Expenses differs from Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (D,D & A) as reported in the Consolidated Statement of Income, due to D,D & A provisions charged to other income and expense accounts. <PAGE 92>
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SUPPLEMENTAL DATA
 (Continued)
NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE VIII - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves
(THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS)

                                       Additions
                    Balance at  Charged to  Charged to              Balance at
                    Beginning   Costs and   Other       Deductions  End of
Description         of Period   Expenses    Accounts    (Note)      Period

Year Ended September 30, 1994
Reserve for Doubtful
Accounts $ 5,739 $11,443 $ - $12,127 $ 5,055
Year Ended September 30, 1993
Reserve for Doubtful
Accounts $ 5,900 $ 8,713 $ - $8,874 $ 5,739
Year Ended September 30, 1992
Reserve for Doubtful
Accounts $ 5,876 $ 9,723 $ - $9,699 $ 5,900
Note - Amounts represent net accounts receivable written-off. <PAGE 93>
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SUPPLEMENTAL DATA
 (Continued)
NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE IX - Short-Term Borrowings
(THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS)

                                        Maximum      Average      Weighted
                Balance at    Weighted  Amount       Amount       Average
Category        End of        Average   Outstanding  Outstanding  Interest
of Aggregate    Period        Interest  During the   During the   Rate During
Short-Term      September 30  Rate      Period       Period       the Period
Borrowings      (Note 1)      (Note 2)  (Note 3)     (Note 4)     (Note 5)

  Year 1994

Bank Loans         $102,500      5.13%    $ 182,100     $107,907       3.75%

Commercial Paper   $ 10,000      5.09%    $  76,000     $ 42,000       3.67%

  Year 1993

Bank Loans         $125,800       3.29%    $ 217,000    $115,159       3.58%

Commercial Paper   $ 71,000       3.32%    $ 128,000    $ 87,427       3.56%

  Year 1992

Bank Loans         $149,100      3.60%    $ 207,200     $165,191       4.81%

Commercial Paper   $127,900      3.52%    $ 127,900     $ 84,096       4.62%

Notes:
(1) At September 30, 1992, the Company reclassified $50,000,000 of short-term borrowings on the Consolidated Balance Sheet to "Long-Term Debt, Net of Current Portion" because the Company, on November 5, 1992, issued $50,000,000 of medium-term notes and used the proceeds to reduce outstanding short-term borrowings.
(2) The interest rate for bank loans is the weighted average of the rates in effect at the respective banks at September 30 of each year. The interest rate for commercial paper is the weighted average of the discount rate on those commercial paper notes outstanding at September 30 of each year.
(3) Represents the maximum amount outstanding during any month of the period.
(4) Represents the average amount outstanding on a daily basis.
(5) Represents the weighted average interest rate on a daily basis. <PAGE 94>
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENT AND SUPPLEMENTAL DATA
 (Concluded)
NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE X - Supplementary Income Statement Information
(THOUSANDS OF DOLLARS)
Charged to Costs and Expenses
Item Year Ended September 30 1994 1993 1992

1.  Maintenance and Repairs                    $30,979     $24,312     $22,439

2.  Depreciation and Amortization of
    Intangible Assets, Preoperating Costs
    and Similar Deferrals                          (1)          (1)        (1)


3.  Taxes, other than Payroll and Income Taxes:
      Gross Receipts Taxes                     $53,271     $48,876     $44,400

      Real and Other Property Taxes             35,287      33,216      31,320

      Other                                      7,017       5,500       6,127

                                               $95,575     $87,592     $81,847

4.  Royalties                                      (1)         (1)         (1)


5.  Advertising Costs                              (1)         (1)         (1)

Note (1) Amount is not in excess of one percent of total operating revenues as
reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income and Earnings Reinvested in the Business.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None
PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT
The information required by this item concerning the directors of the Company is omitted pursuant to Instruction G of Form 10-K since the Company's definitive Proxy Statement for its February 16, 1995 Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after September 30, 1994. The information provided in such definitive Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
Information concerning the Company's executive officers can be found in Part I, Item 1, of this report.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this item is omitted pursuant to Instruction G of Form 10-K since the Company's definitive Proxy Statement for its February 16, 1995 Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after September 30, 1994. The information provided in such definitive Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
The information required by this item is omitted pursuant to Instruction G of Form 10-K since the Company's definitive Proxy Statement for its February 16, 1995 Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after September 30, 1994. The information provided in such definitive Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
At September 30, 1994, the Company knows of no relationships or transactions required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K. <PAGE 96>
PART IV
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(a) Financial Statement Schedules All financial statement schedules filed as part of this report are included in Item 8 and reference is made to the index on page 52 of this report.
(b) Reports on Form 8-K None
(c) Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits
3(i) Articles of Incorporation:

    *  Restated Certificate of Incorporation of National Fuel Gas
       Company, dated March 15, 1985  (Exhibit 10-OO, Form 10-K
       for fiscal year ended September 30, 1991)

    *  Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of
       Incorporation of National Fuel Gas Company, dated March 9,
       1987 (Exhibit A-3 in File No. 70-7334)

    *  Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of
       Incorporation of National Fuel Gas Company, dated February
       22, 1988 (Exhibit B-5 in File No. 70-7478)

    *  Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of
       Incorporation, dated March 17, 1992 (Exhibit EX-3(a), Form
       10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1992)

3(ii)  By-Laws:

3.1    National Fuel Gas Company By-Laws as amended through June
       9, 1994

(4)    Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders,

Including Indentures:
* Indenture dated as of October 15, 1974, between the Company and The Bank of New York (formerly Irving Trust Company) (Exhibit 2(b), File No. 2-51796)
* Eighth Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 1, 1989, to Indenture dated as of October 15, 1974, between the Company and The Bank of New York (formerly Irving Trust Company) (Exhibit EX-4.3, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1992) (The Debentures issued thereunder were redeemed on March 16, 1993, July 7, 1993 and July 1, 1994) <PAGE 97>
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(Continued)
* Ninth Supplemental Indenture dated as of January 1, 1990, to Indenture dated as of October 15, 1974, between the Company and The Bank of New York (formerly Irving Trust Company) (Exhibit EX-4.4, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1992)
* Tenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of February 1, 1992, to Indenture dated as of October 15, 1974, between the Company and The Bank of New York (formerly Irving Trust Company) (Exhibit 4(a), Form 8-K dated February 14, 1992, in File No. 1-3880)
* Eleventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of May 1, 1992, to Indenture dated as of October 15, 1974, between the Company and The Bank of New York (formerly Irving Trust Company) (Exhibit 4(b), Form 8-K dated February 14, 1992, in File No. 1-3880)
* Twelfth Supplemental Indenture dated as of June 1, 1992, to Indenture dated as of October 15, 1974, between the Company and The Bank of New York (formerly Irving Trust Company) (Exhibit 4(c), Form 8-K dated June 18, 1992, in File No. 1-3880)
* Thirteenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 1, 1993, to Indenture dated as of October 15, 1974, between the Company and The Bank of New York (formerly Irving Trust Company) (Exhibit 4(a)(14) in File No. 33-49401)
* Fourteenth Supplemental Indenture dated as of July 1, 1993, to Indenture dated as of October 15, 1974, between the Company and The Bank of New York (formerly Irving Trust Company) (Exhibit 4.1, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1993)
(10) Material Contracts:
(ii) (B) Contracts upon which Registrant's business is substantially dependent:
10.1 Service Agreement with Columbia Gas Transmission Corporation under Rate Schedule FTS, dated November 1, 1993 and executed February 13, 1994.
10.2 Service Agreement with Columbia Gas Transmission Corporation under Rate Schedule FSS, dated November 1, 1993 and executed February 13, 1994.
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ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(Continued)
10.3 Service Agreement with Columbia Gas Transmission Corporation under Rate Schedule SST, dated November 1, 1993 and executed February 13, 1994.
* Gas Transportation Agreement with Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company under rate schedule FT-A (Zone 4), dated September 1, 1993 (Exhibit 10.1, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1993)
* Gas Transportation Agreement with Tennessee Gas Pipeline Company under rate schedule FT-A (Zone 5), dated September 1, 1993 (Exhibit 10.2, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1993)
* Service Agreement with Texas Eastern Transmission Corporation under rate schedule CDS, dated June 1, 1993 (Exhibit 10.3, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1993)
* Service Agreement with Texas Eastern Transmission Corporation under rate schedule FT-1, dated June 1, 1993 (Exhibit 10.4, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1993)
* Service Agreement with CNG Transmission Corporation under Rate Schedule FT, dated October 1, 1993 (Exhibit 10.5, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1993)
* Service Agreement with CNG Transmission Corporation under Rate Schedule GSS, dated October 1, 1993 (Exhibit 10.6, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1993)
(iii) Compensatory plans for officers:
10.4 Employment Agreement, dated September 17, 1981, with Bernard J. Kennedy.
* National Fuel Gas Company 1983 Incentive Stock Option Plan, as amended and restated through February 18, 1993. (Exhibit 10.2, Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 1993)
* National Fuel Gas Company 1984 Stock Plan, as amended and restated through February 18, 1993 (Exhibit 10.3, Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 1993)
* National Fuel Gas Company 1993 Award and Option Plan, dated February 18, 1993. (Exhibit 10.1, Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 1993) <PAGE 99>
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(Continued)
* Change in Control Agreement, dated May 1, 1992, with Philip C. Ackerman. (Exhibit EX-10.4, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1992)

      *   Change in Control Agreement, dated May 1, 1992, with
          Richard Hare.  (Exhibit EX-10.5, Form 10-K for fiscal year
          ended September 30, 1992)

      *   Change in Control Agreement, dated May 1, 1992 with
          William J. Hill.  (Exhibit EX-10.6, Form 10-K for fiscal
          year ended September 30, 1992)

      *   Agreement, dated August 1, 1989, with Richard Hare.
          (Exhibit 10-Q, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended
          September 30, 1989)

      *   Executive Death Benefits Agreement dated April 1, 1991
          with William J. Hill.  (Exhibit EX-10.8, Form 10-K for
          fiscal year ended September 30, 1992)

10.5      Amendment to Death Benefits Agreement dated March 15, 1994
          with Richard Hare.

10.6      Amendment to Death Benefits Agreement dated March 15, 1994
          with Philip C. Ackerman.

10.7      National Fuel Gas Company Deferred Compensation Plan, as
          amended and restated through May 1, 1994.

10.8      National Fuel Gas Company and Participating Subsidiaries
          Executive Retirement Plan as amended and restated through
          February 17, 1994

10.9      Split Dollar Death Benefits Agreement dated April 1, 1991
          with Richard Hare (errata).

10.10     Split Dollar Death Benefits Agreement dated April 1, 1991
          with Philip C. Ackerman (errata)

* Eighth Extension to Employment Agreement with Bernard J. Kennedy, dated September 20, 1991. (Exhibit 10-SS, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1991)
* Executive Death Benefits Agreement dated August 28, 1991 with Bernard J. Kennedy. (Exhibit 10-TT, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1991) <PAGE 100>
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(Continued)
* Summary of Annual at Risk Compensation Incentive Program (Exhibit 10.10, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1993)
* Excerpts of Minutes from the National Fuel Gas Company Board of Directors Meeting of December 5, 1991. (Exhibit 10-UU, Form 10-K for fiscal year ended September 30, 1991)
(12) Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(21) Subsidiaries of the Registrant:

See Item 1 of Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
Consents of Experts and Counsel:

 23.1            Consent of Ralph E. Davis Associates, Inc.
 23.2            Consent of Independent Accountants

(27)       Financial Data Schedule

           Additional Exhibits:
 99.1           Report of Ralph E. Davis Associates, Inc.
 99.2           System Maps (Not included in EDGAR filing.  See
                narrative description in the Appendix to this
                report.)

All other exhibits are omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
*Incorporated herein by reference as indicated.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY
 (Registrant)

                                                     By/s/B. J. Kennedy
                                                          B. J. Kennedy
                                              Chairman of the Board, President
Date  December 22, 1994                           and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

        Signature                                             Title



   /s/ B. J. Kennedy                                 Chairman of the Board,
       B. J. Kennedy                               President,  Chief Executive
                                                        Officer and Director
   Date  December 22, 1994


   /s/ P. C. Ackerman                         Senior Vice President, Principal
       P. C. Ackerman                          Financial Officer and Director

   Date  December 22, 1994


   /s/ J. M. Brown                                          Director
       J. M. Brown

   Date  December 22, 1994


   /s/ D. N. Campbell                                       Director
       D. N. Campbell

   Date  December 22, 1994


   /s/ L. F. Kahl                                           Director
       L. F. Kahl

   Date  December 22, 1994
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   /s/ B. S. Lee                                            Director
       B. S. Lee

   Date  December 22, 1994


   /s/ E. T. Mann                                           Director
       E. T. Mann

   Date  December 22, 1994


   /s/ L. Rochwarger                                        Director
       L. Rochwarger

   Date  December 22, 1994


   /s/ G. H. Schofield                                      Director
       G. H. Schofield

   Date  December 22, 1994


   /s/ J. P. Pawlowski                            Treasurer and Principal
       J. P. Pawlowski                            Accounting Officer

   Date  December 22, 1994


   /s/ R. M. DiValerio                                     Secretary
       R. M. DiValerio

   Date  December 22, 1994


   /s/ G. T. Wehrlin                                       Controller
       G. T. Wehrlin

   Date  December 22, 1994
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APPENDIX TO ITEM 2 - PROPERTIES
Three maps outlining the System's operating areas at September 30, 1994, are inlcuded in the paper format version of this Form 10-K as exhibit 99.2 and are not included in this electronic filing. The first map identifies the System's Utility Operating area (i.e., Distribution Corporation's service area). The second map identified the System's Pipeline and Storage operating area (i.e., Supply Corporation's storage areas and pipelines). The third map identifies the System's Exploration and Production operating area (i.e., Seneca Resources' operating area).
APPENDIX TO ITEM 7 - MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION - GRAPHS
A. The Revenue Dollar - 1994
Two pie graphs detailing the revenue dollar in 1994; where it came from and where it went to, broken down as follows:
Where it came from:
$ .592 Residential Sales
.182 Commercial and Industrial Sales .060 Transportaion Revenues
.053 Oil and Gas Revenues
.044 Natural Gas Marketing Revenues .034 Storage Service Revenues .035 Other Revenues
$1.000 Total
Where it went to:
$ .435 Gas Purchased
.165 Wages, Including Benefits .128 Taxes
.091 Other Materials and Services .065 Depreciation
.051 Dividends - Common Stock .041 Interest
.024 Reinvested in the Business $1.000 Total
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APPENDIX TO ITEM 7 - MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATION - GRAPHS (Concluded)
B. Book Value Per Common Share
A bar graph detailing book value per common share (dollars) for the years 1990 through 1994, broken down as follows:
1990 - $16.97

1991 -  17.53
1992 -  18.68
1993 -  20.08
1994 -  20.93

C. Capital Expenditures
A bar graph detailing capital expenditures (millions of dollars) for the years 1990 through 1994, broken down as follows:

                                     1990    1991    1992    1993    1994
Other Nonregulated                 $  2.6  $  1.0  $  7.2  $  6.2  $  3.6
Pipeline and Storage                 42.0    58.6    58.7    27.4    20.5
Exploration and Production           50.8    31.7    26.3    36.5    52.5
Utility Operation                    66.1    64.9    65.7    61.8    61.7
                                   $161.5  $156.2  $157.9  $131.9  $138.3

D. Embedded Cost of Long-Term Debt
A line graph detailing the embedded cost of long-term debt for the years 1990 through 1994, broken down as follows:
Percent
1990 9.4
1991 9.3
1992 8.1
1993 7.3
1994 7.3
E. Capitalization Ratios
A bar graph detailing capitalization (percentage) for the years 1990 through 1994, broken down as follows:

                                    Debt (%)      Equity (%)
1990                                  56.2           43.8
1991                                  55.0           45.0
1992                                  54.5           45.5
1993                                  47.8           52.2
1994                                  46.2           53.8
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EXHIBIT 10.1
Service Agreement No. 38107
Control No. 930905-116
FTS SERVICE AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this 1st day of November, 1993, by and between COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION ("Seller") and NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORP. ("Buyer").
WITNESSETH: That in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:
Section 1. Service to be Rendered. Seller shall perform and Buyer shall receive service in accordance with the provisions of the effective FTS Rate Schedule and applicable General Terms and Conditions of Seller's FERC Gas Tariff, Second Revised Volume No. 1 (Tariff), on file with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (Commission), as the same may be amended or superseded in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Commission. The maximum obligation of Seller to deliver gas hereunder to or for Buyer, the designation of the points of delivery at which Seller shall deliver or cause gas to be delivered to or for Buyer, and the points of receipt at which Buyer shall deliver or cause gas to be delivered, are specified in Appendix A, as the same may be amended from time to time by agreement between Buyer and Seller, or in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Commission. Service hereunder shall be provided subject to the provisions of Part 284.223 of Subpart G of the Commission's regulations. Buyer warrants that service hereunder is being provided on behalf of Buyer.
Section 2. Term. Service under this Agreement shall commence as of November 1, 1993, and shall continue in full force and effect until October 31, 2004, and from year-to-year thereafter unless terminated by either party upon six (6) months' written notice to the other prior to the end of the initial term granted or any anniversary date thereafter. Pre-granted abandonment shall apply upon termination of this Agreement, subject to any right of first refusal Buyer may have under the Commission's regulations and Seller's Tariff.
Section 3. Rates. Buyer shall pay Seller the charges and furnish Retainage as described in the above-referenced Rate Schedule, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties in writing and specified as an amendment to this Service Agreement.
Section 4. Notices. Notices to Seller under this Agreement shall be addressed to it at Post Office Box 1273, Charleston, West Virginia 25325-1273, Attention: Director, Transportation and Exchange and notices to Buyer shall be addressed to it at 10 Lafayette Square, Buffalo, NY 14203, Attention: Michael E. Novak, until changed by either party by written notice.
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Service Agreement No. 38107 Control No. 930905-116
FTS SERVICE AGREEMENT (Cont'd)
Section 5. Prior Service Agreements. This Agreement is being entered into by the parties hereto pursuant to the Commission's Order No. 636 and its orders dated July 14, 1993 and September 29, 1993, with respect to Seller's Order No. 636 compliance filing and relates to the following existing Service Agreements:
FTS Service Agreement No. 34551 for National Fuel Gas Supply Corp., predecessor in interest to National Fuel Gas Distribution, effective November 1, 1989, as it may have been amended, providing for transportation service under the FTS Rate Schedule.
CDS Service Agreement No. 36064 for National Fuel Gas Supply Corp., predecessor in interest to National Fuel Gas Distribution Corp., effective November 1, 1989, as it may have been amended, providing for a bundled sales, transportation and storage service under the CDS Rate Schedule.
The terms of Service Agreement No. 38107 shall become effective as of the effective date hereof, however, the parties agree that neither the execution nor the performance of Service Agreement 38107 shall prejudice any recoupment or other rights that Buyer may have under or with respect to the above-referenced Service Agreements.
NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION
CORP. CORPORATION

By:  /s/P. C. Ackerman              By:  /s/George E. Shriner
Title: Executive Vice President     Title:  Dir T&E
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Revision No.

Control No. 1993-09-05-0116
Appendix A to Service Agreement No. 38107
Under Rate Schedule FTS
Between (Seller) COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION
and (Buyer) NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORPORATION
Transportation Demand 7,748 Dth/day
Primary Receipt Points
F
O
O
T
N
O

Scheduling  Scheduling   Measuring   T  Measuring   Maximum Daily
Point No.   Point Name   Point No.   E  Point Name  Quantity (Dth/day)


B15         UNIONVILLE     B15                               20
B17         HIGHLAND       B17                              958
C16         DELMONT        C16                              507
801         TCO-LEACH      801                            6,263
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Control No. 1993-09-05-0116
Appendix A to Service Agreement No. 38107
Under Rate Schedule FTS
Between (Seller) COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION
and (Buyer) NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORPORATION
Primary Receipt Points
F
O
O
T
N
O

Scheduling  Scheduling   Measuring   T  Measuring   Maximum Daily
Point No.   Point Name   Point No.   E  Point Name  Quantity (Dth/day)


L1          ELLWOOD CITY   L1                             7,748
L5          SMETHPORT      L5                             1,625
L7          NFS-MAINLINE
               TAPS        L7                                34
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Control No. 1993-09-05-0116
Appendix A to Service Agreement No. 38107
Under Rate Schedule FTS
Between (Seller) COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION
and (Buyer) NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORPORATION
GFNT / THIS CONTRACT SUPERSEDES CONTRACT 34551 IN PART.
ALL GAS SHALL BE DELIVERED AT EXISTING POINTS OF INTERCONNECTION WITHIN THE MDDO'S IN SELLER'S CURRENTLY EFFECTIVE SST SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH BUYER, WHICH FOR SUCH POINTS SET FORTH ARE INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE.
THE MARKET AREA IN WHICH EACH STATION IS LOCATED IS POSTED
ON SELLER'S EBB ARE INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE.
DELIVERIES AT STATIONS IN MARKET AREA 36, OLEAN, ARE CONTINGENT UPON BUYER OBTAINING GAS SUPPLIES AND ARRANGING FOR DELIVERY OF SUCH GAS SUPPLIES TO THIS MARKET AREA. SELLER'S OBLIGATION TO DELIVER GAS ON ANY DAY SHALL BE LIMITED TO THE QUANTITIES ACTUALLY RECEIVED FOR BUYER'S ACCOUNT TO THIS MARKET AREA.
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Control No. 1993-09-05-0116
Appendix A to Service Agreement No. 38107
Under Rate Schedule FTS
Between (Seller) COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION
and (Buyer) NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORPORATION
The Master List of Interconnects (MLI) as defined in Section 1 of the General Terms and Conditions of Seller's Tariff is incorporated herein by reference for the purposes of listing valid secondary interruptible receipt points and delivery points.
Service changes pursuant to this Appendix A shall become effective as of November 1, 1993. This Appendix A shall cancel and supersede the previous Appendix A effective as of N/A, to the Service Agreement referenced above. With the exception of this Appendix A, all other terms and conditions of said Service Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.
NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORP

By:  /s/P. C. Ackerman

Its Executive Vice President

Date 11-1-93
COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION

By:  /s/George E. Shriner

Its Dir T&E

Date 2-13-94
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EXHIBIT 10.2
Service Agreement No. 38645
Control No. 930905-179
FSS SERVICE AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this 1st day of November, 1993, by and between COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION ("Seller") and NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION COMPANY ("Buyer").
WITNESSETH: That in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:
Section 1. Service to be Rendered. Seller shall perform and Buyer shall receive the service in accordance with the provisions of the effective FSS Rate Schedule and applicable General Terms and Conditions of Seller's FERC Gas Tariff, Second Revised Volume No. 1 (Tariff), on file with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (Commission), as the same may be amended or superseded in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Commission. Seller shall store quantities of gas for Buyer up to but not exceeding Buyer's Storage Contract Quantity as specified in Appendix A, as the same may be amended from time to time by agreement between Buyer and Seller, or in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Commission. Service hereunder shall be provided subject to the provisions of Part 284.223 of Subpart G of the Commission's regulations. Buyer warrants that service hereunder is being provided on behalf of Buyer.
Section 2. Term. Service under this Agreement shall commence as of November 1, 1993, and shall continue in full force and effect until October 31, 2004, and from year-to-year thereafter unless terminated by either party upon six months written notice to the other prior to the end of the initial term granted or any anniversary date thereafter. Pre-granted abandonment shall apply upon termination of this Agreement, subject to any right of first refusal Buyer may have under the Commission's regulations and Seller's Tariff.
Section 3. Rates. Buyer shall pay Seller the charges and furnish Retainage percentage set forth in the above-referenced Rate Schedule and specified in Seller's currently effective Tariff, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties in writing and specified as an amendment to this Service Agreement.
Section 4. Notices. Notices to Seller under this Agreement shall be addressed to it at Post Office Box 1273, Charleston, West Virginia 25325-1273, Attention: Director, Transportation and Exchange and notices to Buyer shall be addressed to it at 10 Lafayette Square, Buffalo, NY 14203, Attention: Michael E. Novak, until changed by either party by written notice.
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Service Agreement No. 38107 Control No. 930905-116
Section 5. Prior Service Agreements. This Agreement is being entered into by the parties hereto pursuant to the Commission's Order No. 636 and its orders dated July 14, 1993 and September 29, 1993, with respect to Seller's Order No. 636 compliance filing and relates to the following existing Service Agreements:
FSS Service Agreement No. 34629 for National Fuel Gas Supply Corporation, predecessor in interest to National Fuel Gas Distribution Corporation, effective November 1, 1989, as it may have been amended, providing for storage and transportation service under the FSS Rate Schedule.
CDS Service Agreement No. 36064 for National Fuel Gas Supply Corporation, predecessor in interest to National Fuel Gas Distribution Corporation, effective November 1, 1989, as it may have been amended, providing for a bundled sales, transportation and storage service under the CDS Rate Schedule.
The terms of Service Agreement No. 38645 shall become effective as of the effective date hereof, however, the parties agree that neither the execution nor the performance of Service Agreement 38645 shall prejudice any recoupment or other rights that Buyer may have under or with respect to the above-referenced Service Agreements.
NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION
COMPANY CORPORATION

By:  /s/P. C. Ackerman              By:  /s/George E. Shriner
Title: Executive Vice President     Title:  Dir T&E
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Control No. 1993-09-05-0179
Appendix A to Service Agreement No.
Under Rate Schedule FSS
Between (Seller) COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION and (Buyer) NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORP
Storage Contract Quantity 564,031 Dth
Maximum Daily Storage Quantity 18,417 Dth per day
CANCELLATION OF PREVIOUS APPENDIX A
Service changes pursuant to this Appendix A shall become effective as of November 1, 1993. This Appendix A shall cancel and supersede the previous Appendix A effective as of N/A, to the Service Agreement referenced above. With the exception of this Appendix A, all other terms and conditions of said Service Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.
NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORP

By:  /s/P. C. Ackerman

Its Executive Vice President

Date 11-1-93
COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION

By:  /s/George E. Shriner

Its Dir T&E

Date 2-13-94
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EXHIBIT 10.3
Service Agreement No. 38036
Control No. 930905-082
SST SERVICE AGREEMENT
THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into this 1st day of November, 1993, by and between COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION ("Seller") and NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORP. ("Buyer").
WITNESSETH: That in consideration of the mutual covenants herein contained, the parties hereto agree as follows:
Section 1. Service to be Rendered. Seller shall perform and Buyer shall receive service in accordance with the provisions of the effective SST Rate Schedule and applicable General Terms and Conditions of Seller's FERC Gas Tariff, Second Revised Volume No. 1 (Tariff), on file with the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (Commission), as the same may be amended or superseded in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Commission. The maximum obligation of Seller to deliver gas hereunder to or for Buyer, the designation of the points of delivery at which Seller shall deliver or cause gas to be delivered to or for Buyer, and the points of receipt at which Buyer shall deliver or cause gas to be delivered, are specified in Appendix A, as the same may be amended from time to time by agreement between Buyer and Seller, or in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Commission. Service hereunder shall be provided subject to the provisions of Part 284.223 of Subpart G of the Commission's regulations. Buyer warrants that service hereunder is being provided on behalf of Buyer.
Section 2. Term. Service under this Agreement shall commence as of November 1, 1993, and shall continue in full force and effect until October 31, 2004, and from year-to-year thereafter unless terminated by either party upon six (6) months' written notice to the other prior to the end of the initial term granted or any anniversary date thereafter. Pre-granted abandonment shall apply upon termination of this Agreement, subject to any right of first refusal Buyer may have under the Commission's regulations and Seller's Tariff.
Section 3. Rates. Buyer shall pay Seller the charges and furnish Retainage as described in the above-referenced Rate Schedule, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties in writing and specified as an amendment to this Service Agreement.
Section 4. Notices. Notices to Seller under this Agreement shall be addressed to it at Post Office Box 1273, Charleston, West Virginia 25325-1273, Attention: Director, Transportation and Exchange and notices to Buyer shall be addressed to it at 10 Lafayette Square, Buffalo, NY 14203, Attention: Michael E. Novak, until changed by either party by written notice.
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Service Agreement No. 38036 Control No. 930905-082
SST SERVICE AGREEMENT (Cont'd)
Section 5. Prior Service Agreements. This Agreement is being entered into by the parties hereto pursuant to the Commission's Order No. 636 and its orders dated July 14, 1993 and September 29, 1993, with respect to Seller's Order No. 636 compliance filing and relates to the following existing Service Agreements:
FSS Service Agreement No. 34629 for National Fuel Gas Supply Corp., predecessor in interest to National Fuel Gas Distribution Corp., effective November 1, 1989, as it may have been amended, providing for storage and transportation service under the FSS Rate Schedule.
CDS Service Agreement No. 36064 for National Fuel Gas Supply Corp., predecessor in interest to National Fuel Gas Distribution Corp., effective November 1, 1989, as it may have been amended, providing for a bundled sales, transportation and storage service under the CDS Rate Schedule.
The terms of Service Agreement No. 38036 shall become effective as of the effective date hereof, however, the parties agree that neither the execution nor the performance of Service Agreement 38036 shall prejudice any recoupment or other rights that Buyer may have under or with respect to the above-referenced Service Agreements.
NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION
CORP. CORPORATION

By:  /s/P. C. Ackerman              By:  /s/George E. Shriner
Title: Executive Vice President     Title:  Dir T&E
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Control No. 1993-09-05-0082
Appendix A to Service Agreement No. 38036
Under Rate Schedule SST
Between (Seller) COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION
and (Buyer) NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORP
October through March Transportation Demand 18,417 Dth/day
April through September Transportation Demand 9,208 Dth/day
Primary Receipt Points

Scheduling                 Scheduling                 Maximum Daily
Point No.                  Point Name               Quantity (Dth/day)


STOW                       STORAGE WITHDRAWALS             18,417
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Control No. 1993-09-05-0082
Appendix A to Service Agreement No. 38036
Under Rate Schedule SST
Between (Seller) COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION
and (Buyer) NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORP
Primary Receipt Points
F
O
O
T
Maximum S1/
N

Delivery
                                     O              Maximum Daily
Pressure
Scheduling  Scheduling   Measuring   T  Measuring   Delivery Obligation
Obligation
Point No.   Point Name   Point No.   E  Point Name  (Dth/Day)            (PSIG)


L1          ELLWOOD CITY   600065        ELLWOOD CITY    26,165             700
L2          WARREN         617733        WARREN               0             400
L3          WATERFORD      620549        WATERFORD            0             500
L4          EAST FORK/
              EMPORIUM     632291    01  FIRST FORK           0             500
L5          SMETHPORT      630202        SMETHPORT        1,625             100
L7          NFS-MAINLINE
              TAPS         606000        MAINLINE TAPS       34

<PAGE 5>
Revision No.

Control No. 1993-09-05-0082
Appendix A to Service Agreement No. 38036
Under Rate Schedule SST
Between (Seller) COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION
and (Buyer) NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORP

S1   /      IF A MAXIMUM PRESSURE IS NOT SPECIFICALLY STATED, THEN
            SELLER'S OBLIGATION SHALL BE AS STATED IN SECTION 13
            (DELIVERY PRESSURE) OF THE GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS.

FN01 /      NATIONAL FUEL GAS SUPPLY CORPORATION OWNS, OPERATES AND
            MAINTAINS THIS MEASURING STATION.

GFNT /      UNLESS STATION SPECIFIC MDDOS ARE SPECIFIED IN A SEPARATE
            FIRM SERVICE AGREEMENT BETWEEN SELLER AND BUYER, SELLER'S
            AGGREGATE MAXIMUM DAILY DELIVERY OBLIGATION, UNDER THIS
            AND ANY OTHER SERVICE AGREEMENT BETWEEN SELLER AND BUYER,
            AT THE STATIONS LISTED ABOVE SHALL NOT EXCEED THE MDDO
            QUANTITIES SET FORTH ABOVE FOR EACH STATION.  ANY STATION
            SPECIFIC MDDOS IN A SEPARATE FIRM SERVICE AGREEMENT
            BETWEEN SELLER AND BUYER SHALL BE ADDITIVE TO THE
            INDIVIDUAL STATION MDDOS SET FORTH ABOVE.  THE MARKET AREA
            IN WHICH EACH STATION IS LOCATED IS POSTED ON SELLER'S EBB
            AND INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE.

            DELIVERIES AT STATIONS IN MARKET AREA 36, OLEAN, ARE
            CONTINGENT UPON BUYER OBTAINING GAS SUPPLIES AND ARRANGING
            FOR DELIVERY OF SUCH GAS SUPPLIES TO THIS MARKET AREA.
            SELLER'S OBLIGATION TO DELIVER GAS ON ANY DAY SHALL BE
            LIMITED TO THE QUANTITIES ACTUALLY RECEIVED FOR BUYER'S
            ACCOUNT TO THIS MARKET AREA.
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Control No. 1993-09-05-0082
Appendix A to Service Agreement No. 38036
Under Rate Schedule SST
Between (Seller) COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION
and (Buyer) NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORP
The Master List of Interconnects (MLI) as defined in Section 1 of the General Terms and Conditions of Seller's Tariff is incorporated herein by reference for the purposes of listing valid secondary interruptible receipt points and delivery points.
Service changes pursuant to this Appendix A shall become effective as of November 1, 1993. This Appendix A shall cancel and supersede the previous Appendix A effective as of N/A, to the Service Agreement referenced above. With the exception of this Appendix A, all other terms and conditions of said Service Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.
NATIONAL FUEL GAS DISTRIBUTION CORP

By:  /s/P. C. Ackerman

Its Executive Vice President

Date 11-1-93
COLUMBIA GAS TRANSMISSION CORPORATION

By:  /s/George E. Shriner

Its Dir T&E

Date 2-13-94

EXHIBIT 10.4
<PAGE 1>
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
Agreement made this 17th day of September, 1981, by and
between NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY, a New Jersey corporation
("Employer"), and BERNARD J. KENNEDY, ("Employee").
Whereas, Employer is dependent upon the services and expertise
provided by Employee and wishes to make the services of Employee
secure; and
Whereas, the Employee desires to provide such security.
Now, therefore, the parties agree as follows:
1. Employment and Duties. The Employer hereby employs the
Employee, and the Employee accepts such employment, to perform such
duties under the general supervision of the Board of Directors of
the Employer as may be prescribed by the Board, including the duties
of Executive Vice President. During the term of this Agreement the
Employee shall also serve in such directorships and other capacities
of affiliated corporations of the Employer to which he may be duly
elected.
2. Compensation. During the term of this Agreement, Employer
shall pay Employee a salary as follows:
a. Salary. Employee's monthly salary shall be $10,933.32,
payable by Employer and its affiliated corporations in accordance
with their regular payroll procedures. This amount may be increased
and/or reallocated among the Employer and its affiliates from time
to time in the discretion of Employer's Board of Directors, but in
no event shall the total amount be reduced from its then current
level.
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b. Fringe Benefits. The Employee shall receive such other
incidental benefits of employment, such as vacations, insurance and
participation in pension and profit-sharing plans, as are provided
generally to the officers of the Employer on the same terms as are
applicable to such officers.
3. Extent of Services. Employee shall devote his entire
attention and energy to the business and affairs of the Employer
on a full-time basis and shall not be engaged in any other business
activity, whether or not such business activity is pursued for gain,
profit or other pecuniary advantage unless Employer otherwise
consents; but this shall not be construed as preventing Employee
from investing his assets in such form or manner as will not require
any services on the part of the Employee in the operation of the
affairs of the companies in which such investments are made.
4. Successors. In the event that all or a substantial
portion of the business of Employer and its affiliates is
transferred, whether by merger, consolidation, transfer of
substantially all assets, takeover or similar transaction, Employer
agrees on behalf of its successors and assigns to furnish Employee
at all times with office space, secretarial assistance, and all
other working conditions reasonably necessary for the proper
performance of his services which shall in all respects be fully
comparable in nature and extent to the working conditions made
available to the Employee on the date of this agreement. Said
duties shall be of a nature and scope as presently performed.
Such office space shall be made available at the head office
of the successor.
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5. Term. Subject to the provisions for termination for
disability as hereinafter provided, the term of this Agreement and
of the Employee's employment hereunder shown will be the period
commencing September 17, 1981, and ending December 31, 1986, with
the anticipation that at the end of three years the contract will be
extended each year thereafter for a subsequent similar period.
6. Disability.
a. In the event that at anytime during the term of this
Agreement the Employee shall be unable to perform in whole or in
part of the services provided for herein as a result of a physical
or other disability of any nature, the Employer may by not less than
ten (10) days' written notice terminate this Agreement and all
rights and obligations of the Employer and Employee hereunder shall
terminate. The Employer shall continue to accord Employee the
normal benefits of the Employer's then current Sick Pay Plan and
Pension Plan.
b. The Employee shall be considered to be unable to
perform services hereunder if he is unable to attend the normal
duties required of him.
c. The Employee hereby agrees that he will make available
to the physician or physicians selected by the Employer all medical
and hospital records in order to determine the existence of any such
disability.
d. In the event the Employer's physician disagrees with
the Employee's physician as to the existence of any inability by the
Employee to perform services hereunder, they shall submit such
matter for final determination to a physician, either selected by
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agreement between both parties or furnished by the American
Arbitration Association; any such physician furnished by such
Association shall be designated and shall make such determination in
accordance with the rules and regulations of such Association.
7. Death. In the event of the death of the Employee during
the term of this Agreement, the rights and obligations of the
Employer and Employee under this Agreement shall terminate, except
that the Employer shall pay to the Employee's surviving spouse, or
if he leaves no surviving spouse, to his estate, the Employee's
salary through the end of the month in which his death occurs.
8. Assignment. The rights and obligations of the Employer
under this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and shall be
binding upon the successors and assigns of the Employer. The
Employee may not assign his obligations under this Agreement, but
the heirs, surviving spouse, and legal representatives of the
Employee shall have the right to receive and enforce payment of any
amounts payable to the Employee or to such persons hereunder.
9. Waiver of Breach. The waiver by the Employer of a breach
of any provision of this Agreement by the Employee shall not operate
or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach by the Employee.
10. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes and
expresses the whole agreement of the parties hereunto in reference
to any employment of the Employee by the Employer and in reference
to any of the matters or things herein provided for or heretofore
discussed or mentioned in reference to such employment, all
promises, representations, understandings relative thereto being
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herein merged. No oral arrangements have been made between the
parties hereto and this Agreement may be amended only in writing
signed by both parties.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement
the day and year first above written.
NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY

By/s/ Louis R. Reif

/s/Bernard J. Kennedy
   Bernard J. Kennedy
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EXHIBIT 10.5
AMENDMENT TO
DEATH BENEFITS AGREEMENT
National Fuel Gas Company ("Company"), by action of its Board of Directors at its September 15, 1993 meeting, authorized the president of the Company to amend certain existing executive benefit agreements to reflect compensation that has been or will be provided under the Company's Annual At Risk Compensation Incentive Program ("AARCIP"). Accordingly, the Company, and Richard Hare ("Executive"), do hereby amend the death benefit agreement, dated April 1, 1991 respecting the Executive, which was previously executed by the parties hereto ("Agreement"), as follows:
1. The following language shall be added at the end of the third sentence of Article I, paragraph (a):
(as further described in Article II)."
2. Article II, paragraph (a) of the Agreement is hereby amended and restated to reads as follows:
(a) After the death of the Executive, if the Policy (as defined in Article III) has not split (see Article IV) before Executives's death, the Policy shall pay to the Beneficiary (i) 24 times the base monthly salary provided by the Company to the Executive ("Base Monthly Salary") at the time of Executive's death, plus two times the most recent annual award under the Company's Annual At Risk Compensation Incentive Program (AARCIP), if the Executive dies while employed by the Company, or (ii) 24 times the base Monthly Salary for the month prior to the Executive's commencement of retirement, plus two times the most recent annual award to the Executive under the AARCIP. If the Executive has retired on disability retirement and becomes reemployed by the Company, or if the Executive otherwise becomes reemployed by the Company, the second date of commencement of retirement shall be used for purposes of computing benefits. The Company shall then be entitled to recover, out of the Policy's proceeds and directly from the Policy's insurer, the total of the premiums paid by the Company on the Policy, less and distributions to the Company (including loans) on the Policy."
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3. Article II, paragraph (c) is amended and restated to read as follows:
"An example of the Company's recovery from the Policies' proceeds hereunder is as follows: If the company has paid a total of $400,000 in premiums on the Policies, at the time Executive died, and the Policies paid death benefits of $2,400,000, the Company would first recover its $400,000. Then if the Executive's salary were $60,000 per month, Beneficiary would received 24 times that amount, or, $1,440,000. And, if the most recent award to the Executive under the AARCIP were $250,000, Beneficiary would receive two times that amount, or $500,000. Then, Company and Beneficiary would share the $60,000 excess equally. ($2,400,000 - $400,000 - $1,440,000 - $500,000 = $60,000.) The Company would recover $400,000 plus $30,000 in addition to the $1,940,000 death benefit provided for in paragraph (a).
In all other respects, the Agreement, and subsequent amendments or addenda thereto, shall remain unchanged.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this amendment at Buffalo, New York, on the 15th day of March, 1994.
NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY

/s/ Robert J. Dauer                 By:/s/Bernard J. Kennedy
Witness                                Bernard J. Kennedy
                                       President, Chief Executive
                                       Officer
                                       and Chairman of the Board
                                       of Directors

RICHARD HARE

/s/ Robert J. Dauer                 By:/s/Richard Hare
Witness
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EXHIBIT 10.6
AMENDMENT TO
DEATH BENEFITS AGREEMENT
National Fuel Gas Company ("Company"), by action of its Board of Directors at its September 15, 1993 meeting, authorized the president of the Company to amend certain existing executive benefit agreements to reflect compensation that has been or will be provided under the Company's Annual At Risk Compensation Incentive Program ("AARCIP"). Accordingly, the Company, and Philip C. Ackerman ("Executive"), do hereby amend the death benefit agreement, dated April 1, 1991 respecting the Executive, which was previously executed by the parties hereto ("Agreement"), as follows:
1. The following language shall be added at the end of the third sentence of Article I, paragraph (a):

(as further described in Article II)."
2. Article II, paragraph (a) of the Agreement is hereby amended and restated to reads as follows:
(a) After the death of the Executive, if the Policy (as defined in Article III) has not split (see Article IV) before Executives's death, the Policy shall pay to the Beneficiary (i) 24 times the base monthly salary provided by the Company to the Executive ("Base Monthly Salary") at the time of Executive's death, plus two times the most recent annual award under the Company's Annual At Risk Compensation Incentive Program (AARCIP), if the Executive dies while employed by the Company, or (ii) 24 times the base Monthly Salary for the month prior to the Executive's commencement of retirement, plus two times the most recent annual award to the Executive under the AARCIP. If the Executive has retired on disability retirement and becomes reemployed by the Company, or if the Executive otherwise becomes reemployed by the Company, the second date of commencement of retirement shall be used for purposes of computing benefits. The Company shall then be entitled to recover, out of the Policy's proceeds and directly from the Policy's insurer, the total of the premiums paid by the Company on the Policy, less and distributions to the Company (including loans) on the Policy."
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3. Article II, paragraph (c) is amended and restated to read as follows:
"An example of the Company's recovery from the Policies' proceeds hereunder is as follows: If the company has paid a total of $400,000 in premiums on the Policies, at the time Executive died, and the Policies paid death benefits of $2,400,000, the Company would first recover its $400,000. Then if the Executive's salary were $60,000 per month, Beneficiary would received 24 times that amount, or, $1,440,000. And, if the most recent award to the Executive under the AARCIP were $250,000, Beneficiary would receive two times that amount, or $500,000. Then, Company and Beneficiary would share the $60,000 excess equally. ($2,400,000 - $400,000 - $1,440,000 - $500,000 = $60,000.) The Company would recover $400,000 plus $30,000 in addition to the $1,940,000 death benefit provided for in paragraph (a).
In all other respects, the Agreement, and subsequent amendments or addenda thereto, shall remain unchanged.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this amendment at Buffalo, New York, on the 15th day of March, 1994.
NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY

/s/Robert J. Dauer                  By:/s/Bernard J. Kennedy
Witness                                Bernard J. Kennedy
                                       President, Chief Executive
                                       Officer
                                       and Chairman of the Board
                                       of Directors

PHILIP C. ACKERMAN

/s/Robert J. Dauer                  By:/s/Philip C. Ackerman
Witness
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EXHIBIT 10.7
NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
As amended effective June 16, 1989,
December 15, 1989,
June 16, 1993,
August 1, 1993
and May 1, 1994
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NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
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                             NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
Purpose
The primary purposes of the National Fuel Gas Company Deferred Compensation Plan ("Plan") are to help attract and retain high caliber employees in high-level management positions, and to provide such employees with a tax-favored vehicle to accumulate assets and to enhance retirement benefits. Selected executives of National Fuel Gas Company and its subsidiaries and certain other select management and highly compensated employees will be allowed to participate in the Plan.
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Article I
Definitions
For purposes hereof, unless otherwise clearly apparent from the context, the following phrases or terms shall have the following indicated meanings:
1.1 "Account" shall mean an individual account maintained on behalf of a Participant under the Plan. Accounts shall be utilized solely as recordkeeping devices for the measurement and determination of the amounts to be paid to the Participant pursuant to this Plan. Separate Accounts may be maintained respecting separate Deferral Periods. A Participant's Accounts shall not constitute or be treated as trust funds or in other respects as the property of the Participants for which they are maintained.
1.2 "Base Salary" shall mean gross cash compensation per regular payroll period, including salary continuation payments made by an Employer on account of sickness or accident, which are paid to a Participant for employment services rendered to an Employer, before reduction for compensation deferred pursuant to this Plan or pursuant to the National Fuel Gas Company Tax-Deferred Savings Plan for Non-Union Employees, and shall also include payments made to a participant pursuant to the Company's Annual At Risk Compensation Incentive Program, or a successor plan thereto, but shall exclude all other fees, commissions, special, extra or nonperiodic compensation in any form.
1.3 "Beneficiary" shall mean the person, persons, or entity designated by the Participant to receive any benefits payable under this Plan upon the death of a Participant.
1.4 "Committee" shall mean the committee appointed to manage and administer the Plan in accordance with its provisions pursuant to Article 11.
1.5 "Company" shall mean National Fuel Gas Company and all successor companies thereto.
1.6 "Deferral Agreement" shall mean the form of written agreement, as amended from time to time, which is entered into by and between an Employer and a Participant, respecting each Deferral Period prior to the commencement thereof.
1.7 "Deferral Amount" shall mean the amount of Base Salary deferred by a Participant with respect to a Deferral Period pursuant to his election in the form of a Deferral Agreement.
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1.8      "Deferral Period" shall mean the period established from time to time
         by the Company during which amounts of Base Salary may be deferred by
         means of the deferral election of the Participant as set forth in the
         Participant's Deferral Agreement.  The first Deferral Period consisted
         of four Plan Years beginning August 1, 1986.  The Company, by action
         of or pursuant to the authorization of its Board of Directors, may
         from time to time establish subsequent Deferral Periods and set forth
         the particular terms and conditions therefor.  Each cycle is a
         Deferral Period.

1.9      "Employer" shall mean the Company and each of its subsidiaries which
         has one or more eligible employees who have been selected to
         participate in the Plan.  Where the context dictates, the term
         "Employer" as used herein refers to the particular Employer that has
         entered into a Deferral Agreement with a specific Participant.

1.10     "Moody's Index" shall mean the Moody's Composite Average of Yields on
         Corporate Bonds, an economic indicator prepared and published by
         Moody's Investors Service, Inc., which is an arithmetic average of
         yields on representative bonds:  industrials, public utilities, Aaa,
         Aa, A and Baa, as it shall be constituted from time to time, or some
         other index as selected by the Committee which shall be reasonably
         similar or reasonably reflective of long-term corporate bond yields.

1.11     "Moody's Election" shall mean the election by a Participant,
         respecting Cycle III-A (which has a Deferral Period of May 1, 1994
         through July 31, 1997) and subsequent cycles, to earn a return on his
         Deferral Amounts, on a semimonthly basis, equal to the semimonthly
         equivalent of the Basic Interest Rate in accordance with Sections 4.1
         and 4.4(b), which return shall be compounded.

1.12     "Participants" shall mean those persons currently or formerly in the
         regular full-time employment of an Employer, who were made eligible to
         defer compensation under the Plan by the President of the Company, who
         have deferred compensation under the Plan, and whose Accounts have not
         been completely distributed to them.

1.13     "Plan" shall mean the National Fuel Gas Company Deferred Compensation
         Plan, as amended from time to time.

1.14     "Plan Year" shall mean the 12 consecutive month period commencing on
         August 1 and ending on the next following July 31.

1.15     "Retirement" and "Retire" shall mean severance from employment with
         the Employer at or after the attainment of age fifty-five (55), or
         prior thereto pursuant to the disability retirement provisions of the
         National Fuel Gas Company Retirement Plan ("Retirement Plan").

1.16     "Retirement Benefit Date" shall mean the date at which the Retired
         Participant has commenced retirement under the Retirement Plan or a
         successor plan thereto; i.e., the date as of which he first receives
         retirement benefits.
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1.17     "S&P 500" shall mean the Standard & Poors 500 stock index, an index of
         American stocks published by Standard and Poors Inc., or some other
         index as selected by the Committee which shall be reasonably similar
         to or reasonably reflective of the performance of the American stock
         market.

1.18     "S&P 500 Minus 1.2% Election" shall mean the election by a
         Participant, respecting Cycle III-A and subsequent cycles, to earn a
         return on his Deferral Amounts, on a semimonthly basis, equal to the
         semimonthly return of the S&P 500 (including reinvestment of
         dividends), minus .045%, which when compounded will provide a total
         return approximately equal to the total annual return of the S&P 500,
         minus 1.2%, from time to time.  A Participant making this election
         shall, beginning six months before his Retirement (if he retires),
         cease earning a return on the above basis.  Instead, for such
         six-month period, he shall earn a return as if he had then made the
         Moody's Election.

1.19     "Termination of Employment" shall mean the cessation of employment
         with the Company, voluntarily or involuntarily, for any reason other
         than Retirement.

1.20     "Maximum Matching Contribution Percentage" shall mean the maximum
         employer matching contribution percentage to which a Participant would
         be entitled under Section 3.05 (or successor section) of the TDSP.

1.21     "TDSP" shall mean the National Fuel Gas Company Tax-Deferred Savings
         Plan for Non-Union Employees, as it may be amended from time to time.
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Article 2
Eligibility
2.1 Selection. The President of the Company shall have the sole discretion to determine the management and highly compensated employees of an Employer who are eligible to become Participants in the Plan with respect to each Deferral Period, subject to any restrictions the Company's Board of Directors may impose. The President shall be eligible to be a Participant in the Plan for each Deferral Period during which he is President of the Company.
2.2 Deferral Agreement of Participant. As a condition of deferral of compensation with respect to each Plan Deferral Period, each Participant shall complete, execute and return to the Employer a Deferral Agreement by the enrollment deadline respecting each Deferral Period.
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Article 3
Deferral Commitments
3.1 Minimum Deferral. The Participant must agree to defer no less than $10,000 over the Deferral Period as a condition of Plan participation respecting that Deferral period, or such other minimum as may be established from time to time.
3.2 Maximum Deferral. The Participant may defer no more than 60% of Base Salary in any Plan Year, or such other maximum as may be established from time to time.
3.3 Withholding of Deferral Amounts. The percentage of Base Salary deferred by a Participant pursuant to his Deferral Agreement shall be withheld over the Deferral Period in which he participates in the manner set forth in the Deferral Agreement of the Participant.
3.4 Commitments as Percentage of Salary. A Participant's deferral commitment respecting each Deferral Period, and each deferral commitment to his Savings Account or Retirement Account, must be expressed as a whole percentage of his Base Salary. A Participant shall, prior to the Deferral Period, make his commitment (if any) for all or part of the Deferral Period, at varying percentages, provided that those percentages shall be constant for each 6-month period beginning August 1 and February 1 (unless shorter periods are from time to time authorized). If, within any such six months (or shorter authorized period), a Participant's Base Salary changes, such change shall not be reflected in the amount of his deferral until the next February 1 or August 1.
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Article 4
Deferral Crediting Rates and Accounts
4.1 Basic Interest Rate. Respecting Cycles I, II, II-A and III, and respecting Cycles III-A and subsequent cycles for Participants making the Moody's election, the Basic Interest Rate for a Plan Year shall equal the Moody's index in effect in May prior thereto.
4.2 Supplemental Interest Rate. The Supplemental Interest Rate for each Plan Year in the Deferral Period equals 35% of the Basic Interest Rate in effect for that Plan Year. The Supplemental Interest Rate or the formula for determining it that will be in effect respecting each Deferral Period shall from time to time be established by the Company by action of or pursuant to the authorization of its Board of Directors. For Plan cycles beginning in and after 1994 (i.e., Cycle III-A and subsequent cycles), there shall be no Supplemental Interest Rate.
4.3 Available Accounts. Each Participant shall have either a Savings Account or a Retirement Account, and may have both, depending upon his deferral election as expressed in his Deferral Agreement. Each Participant in Cycles I, II, II-A and III shall have an Accumulation Account.
4.4 Crediting of Deferrals and Interest. Each Participant's Deferral Amounts shall be credited to his Retirement Account and/or Savings Account in accordance with his deferral election as expressed in his Deferral Agreement, on or about such time as the Participant would have been paid such Deferral Amounts had he not participated in the Plan. The percentage of Base Annual Salary credited from time to time to a Participant's Accounts shall equal the percentage thereof that the Participant has deferred.
(a) Respecting Cycles I, II, II-A, and III, interest on each Participant's Deferral Amounts shall be credited semimonthly at the semimonthly equivalent of the Basic Interest Rate, and shall be compounded semimonthly. Each Participant shall have an Accumulation Account to which additional interest shall be credited (subject to forfeiture as described in Article 7). Interest shall be credited to the Accumulation Account, and compounded, semimonthly, at the semimonthly equivalent of (i) the Basic Interest Rate plus Supplemental Interest Rate times the aggregate of Retirement Account, Savings Account and Accumulation Account balances, less (ii) the Basic Interest Rate times the aggregate of Retirement Account and Savings Account balances.
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(b) Respecting Cycles III-A and subsequent cycles, for Participants making the Moody's Election, interest on Deferral Amounts shall be credited semimonthly at the semimonthly equivalent of the Basic Interest Rate, and shall be compounded semimonthly.
(c) Respecting Cycle III-A and subsequent cycles, for Participants making the S&P 500 Minus 1.2% Election, a return on each Participant's Deferral Amounts shall be credited semimonthly, at a rate equal to the semimonthly total return of the S&P 500 (including reinvestment of dividends) minus .045%, and shall be compounded semimonthly.
4.5 Account Statements. Each Participant will receive a statement of his accounts annually.
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Article 5
Savings Account
5.1 Definition. A Savings Account is an Account to which a Participant may defer a percentage of his Base Salary, as he shall designate pursuant to his Deferral Agreement.
5.2 Four Year Minimum. Respecting each Deferral Period, all funds in a Participant's Savings Account must remain in the Plan until at least the end of the fourth year after the commencement of the Deferral Period (or for such other minimum period as is established by the Company), unless the Participant terminates employment, in which case he thereupon should receive his Savings Account.
5.3 Distribution of Savings Account. As part of his Deferral Agreement, a Participant shall designate the date(s), but no more than three, on or about which his savings account is to be distributed to him, and the apportionment of such distribution if more than one is to be made. If a Participant retires or otherwise terminates employment, his Savings Account shall be paid to him then in a lump sum payment even if that date is earlier than the date(s) he elected. The Company may from time to time revise these requirements and establish other requirements as to Savings Account elections and distributions.
5.4 Elections Within Savings Account. With respect to a Participant's Deferral Amounts allocated to his Savings Account for Cycle III-A or subsequent cycles, the Participant may make either the Moody's Election or the S&P 500 Minus 1.2% Election, but not both.
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Article 6
Retirement
6.1 Definition. A Retirement Account is an Account to which a Participant may defer a percentage of his Base Salary as he shall designate pursuant to his Deferral Agreement.
6.2 Retirement Benefit. A Participant who Retires shall become eligible to receive, in accordance with this Article, a monthly payment based on his Retirement Account and Accumulation Account. However, if the Participant has no Retirement Account balance and his Accumulation Account balance is less than $10,000 at the date of his retirement, that account shall be paid in the form of a lump sum equal to the value of such account.
6.3 Forms of Annuity. A Participant who Retires shall receive a 15-year certain annuity, commencing on the Retirement Benefit Date (except as described above), unless he has elected to receive a 5 or 10 year certain annuity prior to the Deferral Period. The Participant must give the Company at least 90 days notice of Retirement. Notwithstanding the above, respecting Cycle III-A and subsequent cycles, the Participant may elect to have the 5, 10 or 15 year certain annuity he has chosen pursuant to this Section commence on the latter of his retirement or as of the first of the month coinciding with or next following a designated birthday, but no later than his 70th birthday.
6.4 Determination of Annuity. Respecting Plan balances attributable to the Deferral Periods for Cycles I, II, II-A and III, the annuity shall be determined by using an interest rate equal to 135% of the average of the Moody's Index in effect for the 60-month period that ends with the month preceding the month in which the Participant's Retirement Benefit Date occurs. Respecting Plan balances attributable to Cycle III-A and subsequent Deferral Periods, the annuity shall be determined by using the average of the Moody's Index in effect for the 60-month period that ends with the month preceding the month in which the Participant's Retirement Benefit Date occurs, unless the Participant has made an election to commence receipt of his Plan benefits in the form of a 5, 10 or 15 year certain annuity for such cycle or cycles at a later date pursuant to the last sentence of Section 6.3, in which case the same 60-month formula shall be used but the 60 months shall end with the month preceding the month in which the annuity commences.
6.5 Death Prior to Completion of Retirement Benefits. If a Retired Participant dies before the retirement annuity hereunder has commenced or has been paid in full, any unpaid benefit payments shall continue and be paid to that Participant's Beneficiary.
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6.6 Elections within Retirement Account. With respect to a Participant's Deferral Amounts allocated to his Retirement Account for Cycle III-A or subsequent cycles, the Participant may make either the Moody's Election or the S&P 500 Minus 1.2% Election, but not both.
For Cycle III-A and subsequent cycles, a Participant who had made the S&P 500 Minus 1.2% Election for his Retirement Account may, after his 55th birthday, at one time only, switch all his Retirement Account balances out of such election effective as of the first of the month following receipt by the Company of his written notification requesting the switch. If a Participant makes such a switch, such Retirement Account balance will commence earning a return, on a semimonthly basis, equal to the semimonthly equivalent of the Basic Interest Rate, minus .04%, which when compounded will provide a total annual return approximately equal to the Moody's Index minus 1% per Plan Year, from time to time. This crediting rate of less than the Moody's Index shall not affect the Participant's annuity computation, which shall be in accordance with Section 6.4.
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Article 7
Termination
7.1 Termination. If the Participant incurs a Termination of Employment by means other than death, such Participant shall receive any undistributed Savings Account balance, and his Retirement Account balance, as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, but shall forfeit his Accumulation Account balance, if any.
7.2 Death. If the Participant incurs a Termination of Employment by reason of death, or dies while in active service with an Employer at or after age 55, his Beneficiary shall receive his Retirement Account balance, any undistributed Savings Account balance, and his Accumulation Account balance (if any), as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter, in the form of a lump sum payment.
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Article 8
Beneficiary Designation
8.1 Beneficiary Designation. Each Participant shall have the right, at any time, to designate any person, persons or entity as his primary and secondary Beneficiary or Beneficiaries.
8.2 Change of Beneficiary Designation. Any Beneficiary designation may be changed by a Participant at any time by executing and filing a form prescribed by the Committee. The filing of a new Beneficiary designation form will cancel all Beneficiary designations previously filed. The Committee shall be entitled to rely on the last designation filed by the Participant prior to his death.
8.3 No Beneficiary Designation. If a Participant fails to designate a Beneficiary as provided above, or if all designated Beneficiaries predecease the Participant or die prior to complete distribution of the Participant's benefits, then the Participant's designated Beneficiary shall be deemed to be the surviving spouse. If the Participant has no surviving spouse, the benefits remaining under the Plan shall be payable to the Participant's personal representative, executor or administrator of the Participant's estate.
8.4 Effect of Payment. The payment of benefits under the Plan to the named Beneficiary shall completely discharge the Employer's obligations under this Plan.
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Article 9
Other Benefits and Agreements
9.1 Coordination With Other Benefits. The benefits provided for a Participant or for the Beneficiary of a Participant under the Plan are in addition to any other benefits to which the Participant or Beneficiary may be entitled under any other plan or program of the Employer. This Plan shall supplement and shall not supersede, modify, amend, enhance or diminish any other such plan or program except as may otherwise be expressly provided.
9.2 Restoration of Benefits-Tophats. (a) Amounts deferred under the Plan, under the current state of the law, will not be considered as compensation for purposes of the computation of benefits under plans qualified under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, ("ERISA") and Sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("Code"). In order to restore to Plan Participants benefits under other plans that are lost as a result of the above, or as a result of legal limits on participation in such plans, as these plans may be amended from time to time, the following "tophats" are instituted:
(i) Each Participant who has elected a deferral percentage under the TDSP that otherwise would be sufficient to entitle him to receive the Maximum Matching Contribution Percentage under the TDSP and who defers under the Plan compensation otherwise payable with respect to one or more pay periods in a Plan Year shall be credited with an additional amount equal to the Participant's Maximum Matching Contribution Percentage for each such pay period times the Participant's Base Salary actually deferred under the Plan with respect to each such pay period, adjusted as of the end of the Plan Year to reflect the increased value of his TDSP accounts had such amounts been actually contributed as additional employer matching contributions to the TDSP. If a participant elects a deferral percentage under the TDSP that is less than the Maximum Matching Contribution Percentage, the applicable matching contribution percentage received under the TDSP shall instead be used in the manner described above to determine the amount credited to the Participant.
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(ii) Each Participant who has elected a deferral percentage under the TDSP that otherwise would be sufficient to entitle him to receive the Maximum Matching Contribution Percentage under the TDSP and who is prevented, as a result of legal limits (imposed under Sections 401(k)(3), 401(a)(17), 402(g) or 415 of the Code or a successor to any such section), from making additional elective deferrals under the TDSP and thus receiving the maximum employer matching contribution to which he would otherwise be entitled under the TDSP, for one or more pay periods in a Plan Year, shall be credited with an additional amount under the Plan equal to the employer matching contributions foregone (i.e., that would have been received if additional elective deferrals under the TDSP not subject to such legal limits could have been made), provided that a TDSP participant who is prevented from making elective deferrals under the TDSP due to legal limits shall not be obligated to contribute to this Plan. In determining the employer matching contribution forgone for purposes of this clause, it shall be assumed that the TDSP Maximum Matching Contribution Percentage applies to Base Salary as defined in the Plan, and that the legal limits would not have permitted the application of such percentage under the TDSP to any part of the excess of Base Salary under this Plan over Base Salary as defined in the TDSP with respect to any participant. However, this clause when operated in conjunction with clause (i) shall not result in a "double tophat" respecting Plan deferrals. The amount credited hereunder shall be adjusted as of the end of the Plan Year to reflect the increased value the TDSP accounts would have had, had such amounts credited hereunder been actually contributed as additional employer matching contributions to the TDSP. If a participant elects a deferral percentage under the TDSP that is less than the Maximum Matching Contribution Percentage, the applicable matching contribution percentage received under the TDSP shall instead be used in the manner described above to determine the amount credited to the Participant.
(iii) This example shall illustrate how the "tophat" provisions of this paragraph (a) are to be applied. Assume that a particular Plan participant's Plan deferral percentage for an entire calendar year is 10%, that his TDSP deferral percentage (salary contribution percentage) is 7%, and that his Maximum Matching Contribution Percentage under the TDSP is 6%. Also assume that his Base Salary as defined in the Plan for that calendar year is $420,000 (i.e., $300,000 base annual pay plus $120,000 paid under the Annual At Risk
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Compensation Incentive Program), that his Base Salary as defined in the TDSP for the same period is $270,000 ($300,000 minus the 10% Plan deferral) that the Code section 401(a)(17) limit for that year is $150,000, that the Code section 402(g) limit is $10,000 for that year, and that the Code section 401(k)(3) and section 415 limits do not adversely
affect the Plan participant in this example. Also, assume that there are no distortions caused by the operation of the Plan on a Plan Year basis and the TDSP's use of a calendar year. Applying these assumptions, under clause (i) a "tophat" is provided in the amount of 6% x 10% x $420,000, or $2,520. Under clause (ii), since the $10,000 per annum limit on permitted TDSP deferrals would result in the participant receiving an $8,333 Maximum Matching Contribution Percentage, whereas he should have received a total "tophat" under Section 9.2 of 6% x $420,000, or $25,200 minus the match received under the TDSP, he should, at first blush, receive $25,200 - $8,333, or $16,867 under clause (ii). However, he has already received $2,520 by virtue of clause (i), and thus should only receive $14,347 by virtue of clause (ii), for a total tophat of $16,867, and a total aggregate "employer matching contribution" of $25,200 ($8,333 in the TDSP and $16,867 by virtue of these "tophats".) In actuality, these tophat amounts will be adjusted for changes in the value of Company common stock, as further alluded to in this paragraph. As can be seen by this illustration, the tophats are intended to make up for and not under- or overcompensate for Participants' losses of Maximum Matching Contribution Percentages caused by the various legal limitations applying to, and the Base Salary definition of, the TDSP.
(b) Any loss of benefits to a participant under the National Fuel Gas Company Retirement Plan and the National Fuel Gas Company Executive Retirement Plan in the aggregate, as these plans may be amended from time to time, which results from the deferrals made under the Plan by the Participant, shall be restored by the Company.
(c) Participants, as part of their Deferral Agreements, shall elect to receive the tophat entitlements annually or at their termination of employment.
(d) The tophats shall be paid in the manner and under such terms and conditions as determined by the Committee and shall in other respects also be administered by the Committee in accordance with their intent.
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Article 10
Termination and Modification

10.1     Termination and Amendment.  The Company reserves the right to
         terminate or amend the Plan in whole or in part at any time.  Such
         termination or amendment shall have a binding effect on Participants
         and their Beneficiaries.  Upon termination of the Plan, the
         Participants' Accounts shall be paid out at such time and in such
         manner as the Committee deems appropriate.

10.2     Change in Interest Rate.  The Company may, at any time it deems it
         appropriate (on a prospective or retrospective basis), increase the
         Supplemental Interest Rate.  The Company may also reduce or eliminate
         the Supplemental Interest Rate on a prospective basis with respect
         both to future deferrals and future interest on past deferrals.  The
         Company has eliminated the Supplemental Interest Rate with respect to
         Cycle III-A.

10.3     Limited Power of President to Amend Plan.  The President is empowered
         to amend, restate or otherwise change the Plan as (i) counsel may
         advise to be necessary or appropriate in order to ensure that the Plan
         continues to operate as a plan of deferred compensation for tax
         purposes, remains exempt from many of the provisions of ERISA and
         otherwise continues to fulfill the purposes for which the Plan was
         adopted and intended, (ii) as he may deem necessary in order to make
         technical or clarifying changes not inconsistent with or in order to
         fulfill the purposes of the Plan, and (iii) in other respects except
         as will materially increase the cost of the Plan to the Company or its
         subsidiaries or the benefits of the Plan to Participants.
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Article 11
Administration

11.1     Committee Duties.  This Plan shall be administered by a committee the
         members of which shall be appointed by the Board of Directors of the
         Company.  The Committee shall have the authority to make, amend,
         interpret, and enforce all appropriate rules, regulations, and
         procedures for the administration of this Plan, and to decide or
         resolve any and all questions including interpretations of this Plan,
         as may arise in connection with the Plan.  The Committee shall have no
         power to waive or in any other way modify the terms of Deferral
         Agreements.  Members of the Committee who are eligible to participate
         in the Plan may participate to the same extent as other Participants
         but shall not take part in any determination directly relating only to
         their own participation or benefits.

11.2     Agents.  In the administration of this Plan, the Committee may, from
         time to time, employ agents, including employees of the Company and
         Plan Participants, and may delegate to them such administrative duties
         as it sees fit, and may from time to time consult with counsel who may
         be counsel to the Employer.

11.3     Binding Effect of Decisions.  The decision or action of the Committee
         with respect to any question arising out of or in connection with the
         administration, interpretation and application of the Plan and the
         rules and regulations promulgated hereunder shall be final, conclusive
         and binding upon all persons having any interest in the Plan.

11.4     Indemnity of Committee.  The Company and Employer shall indemnify and
         hold harmless the members of the Committee and their agents and
         delegates against any and all claims, losses, damage, expense
         (including counsel fees) or liability arising from any action or
         failure to act with respect to this Plan, except in the case of
         willful misconduct by the Committee or any of its members or agents.
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Article 12
Miscellaneous

12.1     Unsecured General Creditor.  Participants and their Beneficiaries,
         heirs, successors and assigns shall have no legal or equitable rights,
         interest or claims in any property or assets of any Employer, nor
         shall they be Beneficiaries of, or have any rights, claims or
         interests in any life insurance policies, annuity contracts or the
         proceeds therefrom owned or which may be acquired by the Employer
         ("Policies").  Such Policies or other assets of the Employer shall not
         be held under any trust for the benefit of Participants, their
         Beneficiaries, heirs, successors or assigns, or held in any way as
         collateral security for the fulfilling of the obligations of the
         Employer under this Plan.  Any and all of the Employer's assets and
         Policies shall be, and remain, the general assets of the Employer.
         The Employer's obligation under the Plan shall merely constitute an
         unfunded and unsecured promise of the Employer to pay money in the
         future.

12.2     Nonassignability.  Neither a Participant nor any other person shall
         have any right to sell, assign, transfer, pledge, mortgage or
         otherwise encumber, hypothecate or convey in advance of actual
         receipt, the amounts, if any, payable hereunder, or any part thereof
         or interest therein.  No part of the amounts payable shall, prior to
         actual payment, be subject to seizure or sequestration for the payment
         of any debts, judgments, alimony or separate maintenance owed by a
         Participant or any other person, nor be transferable by operation of
         law in the event of a Participant's or any other person's bankruptcy
         or insolvency.

12.3     Not a Contract of Employment.  The terms and conditions of this Plan
         shall not be deemed to constitute a contract of employment between the
         Employer and the Participant, and the Participant (or his Beneficiary)
         shall have no rights against the Employer except as may otherwise be
         specifically provided herein.  Moreover, nothing in this Plan shall be
         deemed to give a Participant the right to be retained in the service
         of the Employer or to deny to the Employer the right to discipline a
         Participant (including reducing his salary) or discharge him at any
         time.

12.4     Health Information.  The Participant shall provide to the Company, if
         so requested and as a precondition for Plan participation, all health
         information and other information as the Company may require in order
         to purchase Policies.
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12.5     Governing Law.  The provisions of the Plan shall be construed and
         interpreted according to the laws of the State of New York.

12.6     Withholding.  All payments that are to be made by an Employer to a
         Participant shall be subject to withholding for any and all taxes as
         the Employer in its discretion deems appropriate.

12.7     Binding Effect.  The provisions of this Plan shall bind the
         Participant and his Beneficiaries, and shall bind and inure to the
         benefit of the Employer and its successors and assigns.

12.8     Borrowing.  No portions of any Accounts may be borrowed by a
         Participant or his Beneficiaries under this Plan.

12.9     Validity.  In case any provision of this Plan shall be illegal or
         invalid for any reason, said illegality or invalidity shall not affect
         the remaining parts hereof, but this Plan shall be construed and
         enforced as if such illegal and invalid provision had never been
         inserted herein.

12.10    Incapacity of Person Entitled To Payment.  If the Committee shall
         reasonably determine, upon evidence satisfactory to it, that it is not
         desirable, because of the incapacity of the person who shall be
         entitled to receive any payment in accordance with the provisions of
         the Plan, to make such payment directly to such person, the Committee
         may apply such payment for the benefit of such person in any way that
         the Committee shall deem advisable, or the Committee may make such
         payment to any third person who, in the judgment of the Committee,
         will apply such payment for the benefit of the person entitled
         thereto.  Such payment for the benefit of the person entitled thereto,
         or to a third person for his benefit, shall be a complete discharge of
         all liability with respect to such payment.  The Committee may retain
         any amount that would otherwise be payable in accordance with the
         provisions of the Plan to a person who may be under legal disability
         until a representative of such person competent to receive such
         payment on his behalf shall have been appointed pursuant to law.

12.11    Captions.  The captions of the articles, sections and paragraphs of
         the Plan are for convenience only and shall not control or affect the
         meaning or construction of any of its provisions.

12.12    Construction.  Whenever any words are used herein in the masculine,
         they shall be construed as though they were used in the feminine in
         all cases where they would so apply; and whenever any words are used
         herein in the singular or in the plural, they shall be construed as
         though they were used in the plural or the singular, as the case may
         be, in all cases where they would so apply.
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ARTICLE 1
Purpose
1.1 National Fuel Gas Company established this National Fuel Gas Company and Participating Subsidiaries Executive Retirement Plan effective as of February 19, 1987 for the purpose of attracting and retaining executives, and for these additional purposes: (1) to provide retirement benefits to eligible employees in addition to basic retirement benefits provided them under the National Fuel Gas Company Retirement Plan as it may be amended and restated; (2) to provide retirement benefits to such employees to make up for benefit reductions, if any, under the National Fuel Gas Company Retirement Plan caused by participation in the National Fuel Gas Company Deferred Compensation Plan, as it may be amended and restated; (3) to provide retirement benefits to such employees without regard to the $200,000 limit on qualified plans' covered compensation that became effective respecting the National Fuel Gas Company Retirement Plan effective July 1, 1989 (and as that limit may change from time to time); and (4) to provide to such employees benefits which would have been payable from the tax-exempt trust under the National Fuel Gas Company Retirement Plan but for the limitations placed by Section 415 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it may be amended, on benefits payable and contributions made with respect to such employees under such plans.
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1.2 The National Fuel Gas Company and Participating Subsidiaries Executive Retirement Plan is intended to constitute an unfunded deferred compensation plan under Section 201(2) of the Act and the Company's obligation to pay benefits hereunder, if any, is unfunded and unsecured.
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ARTICLE 2
Definitions
When used herein, the following terms shall have the following meanings:
2.1 Act means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time.
2.2 Basic Pension Plan means the National Fuel Gas Company Retirement Plan, as amended and restated from time to time.
2.3 Beneficiary means the person or persons entitled to receive the amount, if any, payable under the Basic Pension Plan upon the death of a member or retired member thereof who also is a Member in the Plan.
2.4 Benefit Limitations means (i) the maximum "annual benefit" payable under the Basic Pension Plan in accordance with Section 415 of the Code and the implementing provisions of the Basic Pension Plan (as they operate in conjunction with the relevant provisions of other Company employee benefit plans), and (ii) the maximum amount of annual compensation of an employee that may be taken into account under the Basic Pension Plan in accordance with
Section 401(a)(17) of the Code, as amended and supplemented, and the implementing provisions of the Basic Pension Plan.
2.5 Board of Directors means the Board of Directors of National Fuel Gas Company.
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2.6 Change in Control shall mean the happening of any of the following:
(a) the acquisition by any party or parties of the beneficial ownership of 30% or more of the voting shares of National Fuel Gas Company; or
(b) the occurrence of a transaction requiring shareholders' approval for the acquisition of National Fuel Gas Company through purchase of stock or assets, or by merger, or otherwise; or
(c) the election during any period of 24 months, or less, of 40% or more of the members of the Board of Directors, without the approval of three-fourths of the members of the Board of Directors as constituted at the beginning of the period.
2.7 Code means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.
2.8 Committee means the committee appointed from time to time by the Board of Directors to administer the Plan.
2.9 Company means National Fuel Gas Company and each of the following subsidiaries, which participate in the Plan: National Fuel Gas Distribution Corporation, National Fuel Gas Supply Corporation, Penn-York Energy Corporation and Empire Exploration, Inc., each of which has adopted or has indicated that it will adopt the Plan.
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2.10 Early Retirement Date shall be the Retirement Date selected by the Member that is no earlier than the first day of the calendar month immediately following or coinciding with the Member's 55th birthday, or any first of a month thereafter, but prior to the Member's Normal Retirement Date, provided the Member is Vested.
2.11 Employment Year is the consecutive 12-month period commencing on the date in which the Member was hired by a Company, and each subsequent 12-month period commencing on each anniversary thereof.
2.12 Final Average Pay means the average of the Annual Cash Compensation payable by a Company or Companies to a Member, determined as of July 1 of each year, which, on each of the five consecutive July 1sts among the 10 consecutive July 1sts immediately preceding the date the Member retires (or in the event of a Change in Control, terminates employment), produces the highest average. The Member's Annual Cash Compensation for a particular July 1 equals 12 times the Member's monthly base salary in effect at that time, plus the Member's compensation actually paid to (or credited to or deferred by) the Member under National Fuel Gas Company's short-term annual incentive program, known as the Annual At Risk Compensation Incentive Program (or any successor program thereto), for the 12 months ending on that July 1. The Member's Annual Cash Compensation shall exclude all commissions, stock and option awards, special allowances, supplemental compensation, and any other extra compensation or incentives or bonuses not provided under the above incentive program.
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2.13 Member means any person employed by a Company who is designated as a Member by the Chief Executive Officer of National Fuel Gas Company.
2.14 Normal Retirement Date is the first day of the month coinciding with or immediately following the Member's 65th birthday. A Member may retire and begin to receive a Retirement Benefit, payable commencing on his Normal Retirement Date, equal to his Additional Benefit Base.
2.15 Plan means the National Fuel Gas Company and Participating Subsidiaries Executive Retirement Plan as set forth herein and as amended and restated from time to time.
2.16 Retirement Date is the date with respect to which Retirement Benefits under the Plan commence.
2.17 Retirement Benefits means the benefits payable under this Plan.
2.18 Vesting with respect to a Member occurs on the latter of (i) the first of the month coinciding with or immediately following his 55th birthday or (ii) the date on which the Member has completed five Years of Service with a Company. A "Vested" Member is a Member with respect to whom "Vesting" has occurred.
2.19 Years of Service equals the number of Employment Years completed by a Member. An Employment Year in which a Member completed 1,000 or more but less than the normal number of Hours of Service (as such term is defined in the Basic Pension Plan) for a full-time employee of the Company shall be credited as a partial Year of Service equal to the number of Hours of Service credited in such Employment Year divided by the normal number of Hours of Service for a full-time employee of the Company. Years of Service shall not exceed 40. No more than one Year of Service shall be credited in any Employment Year.
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2.20 In construing the Plan, masculine pronouns shall refer to both males and females, as appropriate.
<PAGE 10>
ARTICLE 3
Determination of Retirement Benefits
3.1 Total Benefit Base. The Total Benefit Base of a Vested Member shall be a monthly annuity for his life, commencing at his Normal Retirement Date, under which the annual payments shall equal an amount calculated by adding the products of .0197 times the Member's Years of Service not in excess of 30 and .0132 times his Years of Service, if any, in excess of 30 (but not to exceed 10), and multiplying the sum thereof by his Final Average Pay.
3.2 Social Security Benefit means the annual Primary Insurance Amount estimated by the Committee to be payable to the Member under the Social Security Act of 1935, as amended, at his Retirement Date, calculated on the assumption that the Member will not receive any future wages that would be treated as such for purposes of that act. If a Member's Retirement Date precedes his attainment of age 62, the Primary Insurance Amount estimated to be payable to the Member at age 62 (without assuming any cost of living increases) shall be reduced by .75% per month for the first 24 months, and by .5% per month for the remaining months, if any, by which the Member's Retirement Date precedes his attainment of age 62. The Social Security Benefit, once calculated, will be frozen as of the Member's Retirement Date.
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3.3 Additional Benefit Base for Member Retiring at Normal Retirement Date. The Additional Benefit Base of a Vested Member who retires on a Normal Retirement Date shall be a monthly annuity for his life, commencing at his Normal Retirement Date, under which the annual payments shall equal the Member's Total Benefit Base less the sum of (i) .0125 times his Years of Service times his Social Security Benefit and (ii) the Member's Benefit Base (as reduced, if at all, on account of Benefit Limitations) under the Basic Pension Plan. If the remainder is negative, the Additional Benefit Base shall be zero.
3.4 Additional Benefit Base for Members Retiring on an Early Retirement Date. The Additional Benefit Base of a Vested Member who retires on an Early Retirement Date shall be a monthly annuity for the Member's life, commencing on such Early Retirement Date, under which the annual payments shall equal (i) the Member's Adjusted Basic Pension Plan Benefit Base as determined in (a) below, plus (ii) the Early Retirement Percentage as determined in (b) below times the remainder of his Total Benefit Base less his Adjusted Basic Pension Plan Benefit Base, minus (iii) .0125 times his Years of Service times his Social Security Benefit, minus (iv) the Member's Benefit Base (as reduced, if at all, on account of Benefit Limitations) under the Basic Pension Plan.
(a) Adjusted Basic Pension Plan Benefit Base equals the Benefit Base as determined under the Basic Pension Plan without reduction on account of Benefit Limitations and adjusted as if deferrals under the National Fuel Gas Company Deferred Compensation Plan were not excluded from the definition of Final Average Pay under the Basic Pension Plan, and multiplied by the appropriate Early Retirement Percentage, if applicable, as provided for in
Section 4.02 of the Basic Pension Plan.
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(b) The Early Retirement Percentage under the Plan is determined in accordance with the following scale:

         Retirement Age           Early Retirement
Percentage
               65                            100
               64                             94
               63                             88
               62                             82
               61                             70
               60                             58
               59                             46
               58                             34
               57                             22
               56                             10

55 years and 2 months 0
The Early Retirement Percentage determined in accordance with the above scale respecting ages 62, 63 and 64, shall be increased by 1/2 of 1% for each whole calendar month by which a Member's Early Retirement Date follows the first of the month coinciding with or immediately following his 62nd, 63rd, or 64th birthday, as the case may be. The Early Retirement Percentage determined in accordance with the above scale respecting ages 55 years and 2 months, 56, 57, 58, 59, 60, and 61, shall be increased by 1% for each whole calendar month
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by which his Early Retirement Date follows the first of the month coinciding with or immediately following his 55 year and 2 month, 56th, 57th, 58th, 59th, 60th and 61st birthdays, as the case may be. Furthermore, the Early Retirement Percentage shall be increased by .125% for each whole calendar month by which a Member's Years of Service exceed 30; provided, however, that this shall never result in an Early Retirement Percentage in excess of 100%. (In the event a Member desires to retire on the earliest possible Early Retirement Date, i.e., on the first of the month coinciding with or immediately following his 55th birthday, the increase in percentage as a result of Years of Service in excess of 30 shall be made from a base percentage of -2%, in computing Early Retirement Percentage.)
(c) The benefit a Member will receive through the Plan if he retires early consists of two parts. The first part will make him whole for any reduction in the regular pension he receives under the Basic Pension Plan resulting from Internal Revenue Code limitations and his participation in the National Fuel Gas Company Deferred Compensation Plan. This is frequently called a "tophat." The second part is a benefit equal to a percentage of the Plan benefit normally paid at age 65. This normal Plan benefit is calculated by subtracting the amount received under the Basic Pension Plan and the "tophat" from the Total Benefit Base. The percentages are set forth in Section 3.4(b) on page 10. The benefit payable under this second part but not the "tophat" will be reduced by a lesser Social Security offset. The offset is .0125 times Years of Service times Social Security Benefit (as defined in 3.2).
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For example, if an employee had 30 Years of Service under this Plan (29 under the Basic Pension Plan) and a Final Average Salary of $100,000; if he desired to retire at age 58 (10% reduction under the Basic Pension Plan); if the applicable limits under Section 415 of the Code capped the Basic Pension Plan annual benefits expressed as a Benefit Base equivalent, at $85,000; and if his Social Security Benefit as determined hereunder were $10,000; the formula would work as follows:
(i) Adjusted Basic Pension Benefit Base =
[(.0125) ($7,800) + (.015) ($92,200)] (29) (.90) =
$38,641.05
(ii) Early Retirement Percentage times [Total
Benefit Base minus (i)] = (.34) [(.591) ($100,000)
- $38,641.05] = $6,956.04
(iii) Additional Benefit Base = $38,641.05 +
$6,956.04 - [(.0125) (30) ($10,000)] - $38,641.05
= $3,206.04
(d) If, respecting any Member, his Early Retirement Percentage times the remainder of Total Benefit Base less Adjusted Basic Pension Plan Benefit Base, results in a figure which is less than or equal to .0125 times his Years of Service times his Social Security Benefit, Additional Benefit Base shall equal Adjusted Basic Pension Plan Benefit Base less the Member's Benefit Base (as reduced, if at all, on account of Benefit Limitations) under the Basic Pension Plan. This provides that, if the bonus for Early Retirement under the Plan is less valuable than the Social Security offset provided hereunder, the Member will not be prejudiced thereby; i.e., will not lose any portion of the benefits provided for under the Plan to undo the impact of Benefit Limitations.
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3.5 Late Retirement. A Member's Years of Service shall be credited if they extend beyond his Normal Retirement Date, (but shall not exceed 40 in total), and the Final Average Pay determination shall reflect such Years of Service. However, there shall be no actuarial adjustment to his Additional Benefit Base on account of a Member's retirement after Normal Retirement Date; for such purpose Additional Benefit Base hereunder shall be computed as if his late retirement date were his Normal Retirement Date.
3.6 Adjustment of Retirement Benefit. The amount of Retirement Benefits payable to or in respect of a Member shall be reduced by the amount of any increases in the benefits payable under the Basic Pension Plan to or in respect of such Member (whether due to increases in the Benefit Limitations or otherwise) subsequent to the Member's Retirement Date, and shall be increased by the amount of any such decrease subsequent to the Member's Retirement Date, as the case may be. Notwithstanding the above, (i) any increase in benefits payable under the Basic Pension Plan due to a full or partial cost of living adjustment or (ii) any increase in Basic Pension Plan benefits due to a change in benefit formula thereunder shall not cause a reduction in Retirement Benefits. Moreover, any such increase in (i) or (ii) above, if and to the extent ineffective respecting a Member due to Benefit Limitations, shall be provided through this Plan.
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ARTICLE 4
Vesting; Forfeiture
4.1 Time of Vesting. No Retirement Benefits will be payable to or in respect of any Member unless (i) that Member remains employed by the Company until he is Vested under this Plan; or (ii) Section 4.4 applies.
4.2 Misconduct. Notwithstanding Section 4.1 hereof, no Retirement Benefits will be payable to or in respect of a Member whose employment is terminated by the Company for serious, willful misconduct in respect of his obligations to the Company, including but not limited to the commission of a felony or a perpetration of a common law fraud which has damaged, or is likely to result in damage to, the Company.
4.3 Competition. If and so long as a Member or retired Member shall be employed by any corporation, entity or individual which is then engaged in a business competitive with the Company, or shall be engaged in any such business, or shall aid, advise or assist or attempt to aid, advise or assist any corporation, individual or entity in engaging in any such business, or shall endeavor, directly or indirectly, to interfere with the relations between the Company and any customer or engage in any activity that would be deemed by the Committee in its sole discretion to be detrimental to the Company's best interests, the rights of such Member or retired Member to Retirement Benefits, including the rights of any Beneficiary, shall be forfeited with the same full
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force and effect as though the Retirement Benefits had not been granted under any of the provisions of the Plan, unless the Committee determines that such activity is not detrimental to the best interests of the Company; provided that from and after 60 days following cessation by the Member or retired Member of such activity and written notice by him to the Committee, his right to receive Retirement Benefits hereunder shall be restored, unless the Committee, in its sole discretion, determines that the prior activity has caused substantial damage to the Company.
No action under the Section shall be taken upon or after the occurrence of a Change in Control.
4.4 In the Event of a Change in Control. If a Change in Control occurs, and a Member hereof at that time or within three years thereafter shall no longer be an officer of, or employed by, a Company, his Retirement Benefit shall vest at the time of his cessation of employment with a Company, and shall be payable to him or for his benefit in the form of a lump sum, based upon his accrued Additional Benefit Base at Normal Retirement Date and discounting same by using the interest assumption(s) then used by the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation for computing the value of immediate annuities upon the termination of a tax-qualified defined benefit plan such as the Basic Pension Plan.
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ARTICLE 5
Form of Payment of Benefits
5.1 Coordination with Basic Pension Plan. Retirement Benefits shall be payable to or in respect of a Member eligible therefor at the same time, in the same manner and form, and subject to the same terms and conditions as stated in Sections 5.02 to 5.06 of the Basic Pension Plan, except that there shall be no disability benefit under this Plan. If Retirement Benefits are to be paid after the Member's or retired Member's death to his Beneficiary, Retirement Benefits shall be payable to such Beneficiary in the same time, manner and form as payments under the Basic Pension Plan.
5.2 Right to Adjust. The Committee shall have the right to adjust Retirement Benefits payable under this Plan to correct errors, and/or to provide uniform treatment of Members, retired Members or Beneficiaries.
5.3 Spouse's Benefit. In the event of a Vested Member's death, his spouse shall receive Retirement Benefits hereunder equal to the greater of (i) or (ii):
(i) .50 times the Member's Additional Benefit Base computed under
Section 3.3, except that if the Member's surviving spouse is more than five years younger than the Member, the .50 multiplier described in this clause shall be reduced by .00125 for each month in excess of 60 that the surviving spouse's age is less than that of the Member. Thus, for example, the multiplier declines to .30 if the surviving spouse is 220 months younger than the Member.
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(ii) 50% of the Retirement Benefit which the Member would have received had payment thereof commenced on the day before the date of his death in the form of the Automatic Joint and Survivor Annuity (as defined and described in the Basic Pension Plan).
5.4 Lump Sum Payment Option. There shall be one exception to Section 5.1: A Member may elect to receive Retirement Benefits in the form of a lump sum payment even if he does not or may not select such option under the Basic Pension Plan. The most recently published mortality table that is generally accepted by American actuaries and reasonably applicable to the Plan, and a 6 percent annual interest rate or discount rate, shall be used to convert the Member's Additional Benefit Base to a lump sum equivalent. (However, with respect to other forms of benefit available under the Plan, the mortality table used in the Basic Pension Plan and described in Section 1.01 thereof, or a successor section, shall continue to be used.) If the Member's Additional Benefit Base, had it been paid in the form of an annuity, would otherwise have been expected to increase or decrease subsequent to the Member's Retirement Date, (for example, due to cost of living increases that effectively raise the maximum amounts that may be paid from the Basic Pension Plan as a result of the operation of Code Section 415 limits), the Company may adjust such lump sum payment accordingly and shall later true it up either by paying an additional sum to the Member or by receiving a refund of any excess from the Member.
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ARTICLE 6
Source of Payment
6.1 All payments provided for under the Plan shall be paid in cash from the general funds of the Company; provided, however, that such payments shall be reduced by the amount of any payments made to or in respect of a Member from any trust or special or separate fund established by the Company to assure such payments. The Company shall not be required to establish a special or separate fund or other segregation of assets to assure such payments, and, if the Company shall make any investments to aid it in meeting its obligations hereunder, the Member and his Beneficiary shall have no right, title, or interest whatever in or to any such investments except as may otherwise be expressly provided in a separate written instrument relating to such investments. Nothing contained in this Plan, and no action taken pursuant to its provisions, shall create or be construed to create a trust of any kind between the Company and any Member or Beneficiary. To the extent that any Member or Beneficiary acquires a right to receive payments from the Company hereunder, such right shall be no greater than the right of an unsecured creditor of the Company.
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ARTICLE 7
Administration of the Plan
7.1 Committee to Administer. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee which shall have full power and authority to interpret, construe and administer the Plan, and review claims for benefits under the Plan, and the Committee's interpretations and constructions of the Plan and actions thereunder shall be binding and conclusive on all persons and for all purposes.
7.2 Agents. For purposes of the Act, the members of the Committee shall be the named fiduciaries of the Plan for administration of the Plan (including but not limited to complying with reporting and disclosure requirements and establishing and maintaining Plan records), and shall engage such certified public accountants, who may be accountants for the Company, as it shall require or may deem advisable for purposes of the Plan. The Committee may arrange for the engagement of such legal counsel, who may be counsel for the Company, and make use of such agents and clerical or other personnel as they each shall require or may deem advisable for purposes of the Plan. The Committee may rely upon the written opinion of such counsel and the accountants engaged by the Committee and may delegate to any agent, who may be a Company employee, or to any sub-committee or member of the Committee, its authority to perform any act hereunder, including without limitation those matters involving the exercise of discretion, provided that such delegation shall be subject to revocation at any time at the discretion of the Committee.
<PAGE 22>
7.3 Liability; Indemnity. To the maximum extent permitted by the Act, no member of the Committee, nor any of their agents, including Company officers or employees, shall be personally liable by reason of any contract or other instrument executed by any of them in their capacity as members of the Committee or otherwise, nor for any mistake of judgment made in good faith, and the Company shall indemnify and hold harmless, directly from its own assets, each member of the Committee and each other officer, employee, or director of the Company to whom any duty or power relating to the administration or interpretation of the Plan or to the management or control of the assets of the Plan may be delegated or allocated, against any cost or expense (including counsel fees) or liability (including any sum paid in settlement of a claim with the approval of the Company) arising out of any act or omission to act in connection with the Plan unless arising out of such person's own fraud or bad faith. Said persons shall be entitled to rely conclusively upon, and shall be fully protected in any action taken by them or any of them in good faith in reliance upon, any table, valuation, certificate, opinion or report which shall be furnished to them or any of them by an actuary, accountant, counsel or other expert who shall be employed or engaged by them.
7.4 Binding Effect of Decisions. The decision or action of this Committee with respect to any question arising out of or in connection with the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan and the rules and regulations promulgated hereunder shall be final, conclusive and binding upon all persons having any interest in the Plan.
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ARTICLE 8
Amendment and Termination
8.1 Subject to the application of Article 4 in the situations therein enumerated, the Plan may be amended, suspended or terminated, in whole or in part, by the Board of Directors, and Members may be adversely affected thereby provided that such actions may not deprive Vested Members of Retirement Benefits accrued until the date of such actions. However, any amendment that changes the interest rate described in Section 5.4 or otherwise changes the methods for computing lump sum equivalents thereunder, or that otherwise reduces or eliminates the lump sum payment option or any other form of benefit payment option under the Plan, shall not be considered to be a deprivation of the accrued Retirement Benefits of Vested Members. In addition, prior to a Change in Control, the rights of Vested Members may be affected if failing to make changes would be administratively burdensome and if the Member voluntarily consents to such change in writing, or if changes are required by law.
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ARTICLE 9
General Provisions
9.1 Effect of Corporate Reorganization. This Plan shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Company and its successors and assigns and the Member, and his designees, Beneficiaries, legal representatives and estate. Nothing in this Plan shall preclude the Company from consolidating or merging into or with, or transferring all or substantially all of its assets to, another corporation which assumes this Plan and all obligations of the Company hereunder. Upon such a consolidation, merger or transfer of assets, and assumption of the Plan, the term "Company" shall refer to such other corporation and this Plan shall continue in full force and effect.
9.2 Right to Discharge Member. Neither the Plan nor any action taken hereunder shall be construed as giving to a Member the right to be retained in the employ of the Company or as affecting the right of the Company to discharge any Member, at any time without regard to the effect such discharge would have upon his eligibility for or receipt of benefits under the Plan.
9.3 Withholding. The Company may withhold from any benefits payable under this Plan all federal, state, city or other taxes as shall be required (as determined by the Company) pursuant to any law or governmental regulation or ruling.
9.4 Assignability. No right to any amount payable at any time under the Plan may be assigned, transferred, pledged, or encumbered, either voluntarily or by operation of law, except as provided
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expressly herein as to payments to a Beneficiary or as may otherwise be required by law. If, by reason of any attempted assignment, transfer, pledge, or encumbrance, or any bankruptcy or other event happening at any time, any amount payable under the Plan would be made subject to the debts or liabilities of the Member or his Beneficiary or would otherwise not be enjoyed by him, then the Committee, if it so elects, may terminate such person's interest in any such payment and direct that the same be held and applied to or for the benefit of the Member, his Beneficiary, or any other person deemed to be the natural objects of his bounty, taking into account the expressed wishes of the Member (or, in the event of his death, his Beneficiary).
9.5 Inability to Utilize Benefits. If the Committee shall find that any person to whom any amount is or was payable hereunder is unable to care for his affairs because of illness or accident or other reasons, or has died, then the Committee, if it so elects, may direct that any payment or any part thereof due such person shall be paid to his estate (unless a prior claim therefor has been made by a duly appointed legal representative) or be paid or applied for the benefit of such person or to or for the benefit of his spouse, children or other dependents, an institution maintaining or having custody of such person, any other person deemed by the Committee to be a proper recipient on behalf of such person otherwise entitled to payment, or any of them, in such manner and proportion as the Committee may deem proper. Any such payment shall be in complete discharge of the liability therefor of the Company, the Plan or the Committee or any member, officer or employee thereof. The Committee may
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withhold the payment of any amount that shall be payable in accordance with the provisions of the Plan to a person under legal disability until a representative of such person competent to receive such payment on his behalf shall have been properly appointed.
9.6 Actuarial Equivalents. Except as otherwise set forth in Section 5.4, whenever, under this Plan, it is necessary to determine whether one benefit is less than, equal to, or larger than another, or whether one benefit is the actuarial equivalent of another whether or not such benefits are provided under this Plan, such determination shall be made using mortality, interest and any other assumptions used at the time in determining actuarial equivalents under the Basic Pension Plan.
9.7 Health Information. The Member shall provide to the Company, if so requested and as a precondition for remaining a Member, all health information and other information as the Company may require should it decide to purchase life insurance policies or annuity contracts.
9.8 Additional Benefit. The benefits payable under this Plan shall be in addition to all other benefits provided for Employees of the Company, except as otherwise provided in this Plan.
9.9 Headings. The captions preceding the sections and articles hereof have been inserted solely as a matter of convenience andin no way define or limit the scope or intent of any provisions of the Plan.
9.10 Governing Law. This Plan shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York as from time to time in effect.
CWL
 2/17/94

EXHIBIT 10.9
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SPLIT DOLLAR DEATH BENEFITS AGREEMENT
Recitals
WHEREAS, National Fuel Gas Company (hereinafter called the "Company"), in recognition of the highly valued services of Richard Hare (hereinafter called the "Executive"), his importance to the success of the Company and its subsidiaries, and the need of his family for greater financial security in the event of his death, has, through its Board of Directors, authorized the adoption of a death benefits agreement benefiting the Executive; and
WHEREAS, the Executive is consenting to cease participating in a non-contributory group term life insurance program that provides non-contributory basic death benefits equal to 2 times his annual salary while he remains employed by the Company; and
WHEREAS, the Company desires to recover a reasonable return on the cost of its purchase of life insurance policies for these purposes, if the Executive should die before those policies split;
NOW THEREFORE, for mutual consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which the Company and Executive each acknowledge, the Company and Executive, for themselves, their beneficiaries and their successors, heirs and assigns, agree as follows:
I. Other Company Benefits; Beneficiary
(a) The Executive shall not, during his employment with the Company and its subsidiaries, be eligible to receive any non-contributory group term life insurance from or through the Company or its subsidiaries. (Company shall hereafter mean the Company, its subsidiaries, or both, where appropriate.) However, the Company will provide the Executive with non-contributory accidental death and dismemberment coverage equal to 2 times his annual salary. In other respects, the benefits provided under this Agreement to the Executive shall be separate from and in addition to other benefits that may be offered by the Company to the Executive.
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(b) The Executive (or any party succeeding to Executive's rights hereunder) shall, in writing, from time to time, designate the beneficiary or beneficiaries ("Beneficiary") who shall receive death benefits pursuant to this Agreement. If (i) no Beneficiary is alive at the time the distribution of the moneys to beneficiaries under this Agreement is to be made, (ii) the Company or insurer has received notice, or has reason to believe, that all or certain portions of the moneys to be paid pursuant to this Agreement are subject to adverse claim, or that their allocation is in doubt, or (iii) the Company or insurer has substantial reason to believe that a Beneficiary is incompetent to receive such moneys, whether or not incompetency has been legally adjudicated, or is otherwise incapable of receiving or managing those moneys, as the Company or insurer in its good faith and sole discretion determines, then the Company or insurer may withhold all or a portion of such moneys until such time as issues of competency and capacity are resolved, or until such time as adverse claims and doubts as to allocations are resolved, or may, as it seems appropriate, make the benefit payment to the estate of the Executive or to a trustee, conservator, committee, or guardian of the Beneficiary.
II. Benefits provided to the Company and to Executive's Beneficiary if the Policies have not Split before Executive dies
(a) After the death of the Executive, if the Policy (as defined in Article III) has not split (see Article IV) before Executive's death, the Policy shall pay to the Beneficiary (i) 24 times the base monthly salary provided by the Company to the Executive ("Base Monthly Salary") at the time of Executive's death, if the Executive dies while employed by the Company, or
(ii) 24 times the Base Monthly Salary for the month prior to the Executive's commencement of retirement. If the Executive has retired on disability retirement and become reemployed by the Company, or if the Executive otherwise becomes reemployed by the Company, the second date of commencement of retirement shall be used for purposes of computing benefits. The Company shall then be entitled to recover, out of the Policy's proceeds and directly from the Policy's insurer, the total of the premiums paid by the Company on the Policy, less any distributions to the Company (including loans) on the Policy.
(b) If the Policy's death benefits exceed the amounts that are to be paid to the Beneficiary and Company pursuant to paragraph (a), the Company shall be entitled to recover, from the Policy's proceeds and directly from the Policy's insurer, or if necessary, from the Beneficiary who has received
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payment of the Policy's proceeds, 100% of that excess. If the Policy's death benefits are inadequate to pay the Beneficiary in full pursuant to paragraph
(a), the Company shall have no obligation for the shortfall, except to the extent the shortfall is due to the Company's receipt of loans or other distributions on the Policy.
(c) An example of the Company's recovery from the Policy's proceeds hereunder is as follows. If the Company paid $150,000 in premiums on the Policy, and the Policy paid death benefits of $1,000,000, and the Executive's salary was $25,000.00 per month, the Beneficiary would first receive 24 times $25,000, or $600,000. Then, the Company would receive the $150,000 in premiums and the $250,000 excess, or $400,000 in total.
(d) The Executive agrees that he shall execute all documents and take all other actions that the Company may deem necessary or appropriate to enable it to obtain and secure the recovery from such Policy, from the proceeds thereof, and otherwise, of all of Company's entitlements under this Agreement and interests in the Policy. Among other things, this means that the Executive shall execute a collateral assignment in favor of Company respecting any Policy. Effectively, the Company shall have a first lien on the Policy and its proceeds in order to obtain such security. Also, the Executive shall cooperate with the Company and insurer so that it may obtain and maintain the Policy, and in this connection shall, if necessary, use his best efforts to provide, from time to time, such evidence of insurability as the insurer determines is necessary.
III. Policy and Premiums
(a) The Company has paid for or will pay for, from time to time, on behalf of and in the name of the Executive, a policy or policies which insure the Executive's life. This policy or policies are herein referred to as "the Policy". The Executive will own the Policy, although he hereby agrees, in this Agreement and through a collateral assignment designed to help implement this Agreement, to certain limitations upon his ownership rights, and to the transfer to the Company of interests in the Policy; i.e., rights in the Policy equivalent to its rights under this Agreement. Until such time as the split dollar arrangement is terminated pursuant to Article IV, the Executive or his
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successor ininterest may not assign, pledge, attach, borrow or receive distributions from or otherwise encumber or alienate the Policy, except for the benefit of the Company, without the written consent of the Company. For example, if the Policy is assigned to a trust established by the Executive, or another assignee, such assignee may not assign, pledge, attach, borrow or receive distributions from or otherwise encumber or alienate the Policy without the written consent of the Company. If the Company substitutes a new policy or policies for any Policy, this new policy or policies shall be a Policy for purposes of this Agreement.
(b) The Company shall, until the time the Policy "splits" (see Article IV), use its best efforts to maintain in effect, from a financially strong insurer, the death benefits provided thereby. This normally will require the Company to pay the premiums on the Policy on a timely basis. The Company may use dividends on the Policy to pay those premiums in whole or in part, if same can be done without eliminating, reducing or otherwise impairing the death benefits provided under this Agreement. The Company shall also have the right to substitute a new policy or policies for an old Policy, provided the Executive consents, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. In that case, the Company shall have the right to receive the cash surrender value of the Policy to be cancelled or surrendered.
IV. Splitting the Policy
(a) The Policy shall "split" on August 24, 2008, i.e., the Executive's 70th birthday, if he survives to that date. Or, the Executive and Company may only by mutual agreement elect to split the Policy before or after that date. The Executive and Company, at least 90 days prior to the split date, shall provide the insurer of the Policy a written signed direction by which Executive assumes all the Company's rights and obligations under this Agreement and otherwise respecting the Policy, and by which Company gives up it rights in return for the payment described in (b) below. However, the splitting of the Policy shall comply with any other reasonable requirements as may be imposed by the Company, and any requirements of the Policy's insurer.
(b) When and if the Policy splits, the Company shall recover immediately, or at such other time as it elects, the total of the premiums it paid to maintain the Policy, less any distributions therefrom to the Company (including the then outstanding principal amount of loans to the Company).
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This recovery may be in cash or in the form of a paid-up policy having equivalent value, and the Company shall accomplish such recovery out of the values or proceeds of the Policy, or from the insurer of the Policy. If the Company cannot receive full recovery out of those proceeds or from the insurer, the Company may seek recovery from the Executive, his estate, his Beneficiary, or any assignees or successors of Executive's or Beneficiary's rights, if and to the extent any of them have received some or all of those proceeds. Notwithstanding the sentence above, if the Company's inability to obtain full recovery is due to the insurer's default or insolvency, the Company and the Executive shall share in this shortfall in proportion to their interests in the Policy, and the Company shall have no right to seek recovery against the Executive, his estate, or any assignees or successors of Executive's rights.
(c) After the Policy splits, the Company shall have no rights to or respecting the Policy other than as described in paragraph (b) above; all remaining rights are held by Executive or his Beneficiary, estate, assignee or successor.
V. Noninterference
The Executive covenants that neither he, nor his Beneficiary, nor any heirs, successors or assigns of either, shall interfere in any way in the Company's rights under this Agreement. The Executive also covenants that he and such other persons will not take any voluntary action that causes the Policy to fail, lapse or otherwise lack the full dollar coverage for which the Company purchased them, and will cooperate with Company and the insurer in all respects in obtaining and maintaining the Policy.
VI. Agreement Binding; Termination and Modification
This Agreement, and any amendments hereto, shall be binding upon the Company, the Executive, and his Beneficiary, and their heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns. If any part of this Agreement or the application of any part to certain persons or circumstances shall be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of the Agreement shall continue to be effective. This Agreement may not be terminated or modified by the Company or by the Executive without the written consent of both parties. Any oral modifications or modifications by reason of course of conduct, which shall not subsequently be agreed to in writing, shall be ineffective.
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VII. Assignment, Alienation and Change of Control
(a) This Agreement, the Executive's rights, benefits and obligations hereunder, and the rights, benefits and obligations of his Beneficiary hereunder, may not be assigned, pledged, attached, delegated or otherwise encumbered or alienated, without the written consent of the Company.
(b) The Company's obligations under this Agreement may not be assigned, delegated or otherwise alienated except that, in the event of an acquisition or other change of control of the Company, the Company may assign its obligations to the acquirer or entity assuming control if Executive is then alive, if Company gives at least ninety days notice to Executive, and provided that the acquirer or entity assuming control expressly affirms its obligations hereunder.
(c) This Article shall not be construed to prevent the Executive from revoking or modifying any Beneficiary designation. However, such revocation or modification must be in writing and be actually received by an officer of National Fuel Gas Company before it shall be effective respecting the Company.
VIII. If Executive Quits or Competes
The following may occur if the Executive's employment with the Company is terminated prior to his 65th birthday:
(a) If the Executive's employment is terminated for serious, wilful misconduct in respect of his obligations to the Company, which has damaged or is likely to damage the Company, or if the Executive, before or after the termination of his employment with the Company, shall be employed by any party which is then or becomes engaged in a business enterprise of any sort that is, in any material respect, competitive with the Company, or shall assist any such enterprise in engaging in such competition, or if the Executive shall endeavor, directly or indirectly, to interfere in the business relations of the Company or otherwise harm the Company as it shall reasonably determine, then the Chief Executive Officer of the Company or its Board of Directors may terminate the Executive's rights under this Agreement in whole or in part.
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(b) If none of the events described in (a) above has occurred, the Company may not terminate all of the Executive's rights under this Agreement but may cease paying all or some of the premiums respecting the Policy that may come due after such termination of employment, notwithstanding other provisions of this Agreement, even if that cessation prejudices the Beneficiary's expectation of receiving all or part of his death benefits under this Agreement.
IX. Miscellaneous
The laws of the State of New York shall govern this Agreement. The schedule attached hereto provides an example of how this Agreement is intended to operate, but shall not be considered to be a prediction, projection or guarantee in any respect.
The Executive understands that the benefits provided under this Agreement will or may result in taxable income to him, and the Company reserves the right to implement tax withholding respecting such amounts as and when it may deem it appropriate.
If the Executive commits suicide, while sane or insane, on or before April 1, 1993, no benefits shall be paid to Executive's Beneficiary or otherwise under this Agreement.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement at Buffalo, in the County of Erie and State of New York, effective April 1, 1991.
NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY

By/s/Robert J. Dauer                              By/s/Philip C. Ackerman
Witness                                                Philip C. Ackerman
                                                       Senior Vice President

EXECUTIVE

By/s/Robert J. Dauer                                By/s/Richard Hare
Witness                                                  Richard Hare


EXHIBIT 10.10
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SPLIT DOLLAR DEATH BENEFITS AGREEMENT
Recitals
WHEREAS, National Fuel Gas Company (hereinafter called the "Company"), in recognition of the highly valued services of Philip C. Ackerman (hereinafter called the "Executive"), his importance to the success of the Company and its subsidiaries, and the need of his family for greater financial security in the event of his death, has, through its Board of Directors, authorized the adoption of a death benefits agreement benefiting the Executive; and
WHEREAS, the Executive is consenting to cease participating in a non-contributory group term life insurance program that provides non-contributory basic death benefits equal to 2 times his annual salary while he remains employed by the Company; and
WHEREAS, the Company desires to recover a reasonable return on the cost of its purchase of life insurance policies for these purposes, if the Executive should die before those policies split;
NOW THEREFORE, for mutual consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which the Company and Executive each acknowledge, the Company and Executive, for themselves, their beneficiaries and their successors, heirs and assigns, agree as follows:
I. Other Company Benefits; Beneficiary
(a) The Executive shall not, during his employment with the Company and its subsidiaries, be eligible to receive any non-contributory group term life insurance from or through the Company or its subsidiaries. (Company shall hereafter mean the Company, its subsidiaries, or both, where appropriate.) However, the Company will provide the Executive with non-contributory accidental death and dismemberment coverage equal to 2 times his annual salary. In other respects, the benefits provided under this Agreement to the Executive shall be separate from and in addition to other benefits that may be offered by the Company to the Executive.
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(b) The Executive (or any party succeeding to Executive's rights hereunder) shall, in writing, from time to time, designate the beneficiary or beneficiaries ("Beneficiary") who shall receive death benefits pursuant to this Agreement. If (i) no Beneficiary is alive at the time the distribution of the moneys to beneficiaries under this Agreement is to be made, (ii) the Company or insurer has received notice, or has reason to believe, that all or certain portions of the moneys to be paid pursuant to this Agreement are subject to adverse claim, or that their allocation is in doubt, or (iii) the Company or insurer has substantial reason to believe that a Beneficiary is incompetent to receive such moneys, whether or not incompetency has been legally adjudicated, or is otherwise incapable of receiving or managing those moneys, as the Company or insurer in its good faith and sole discretion determines, then the Company or insurer may withhold all or a portion of such moneys until such time as issues of competency and capacity are resolved, or until such time as adverse claims and doubts as to allocations are resolved, or may, as it seems appropriate, make the benefit payment to the estate of the Executive or to a trustee, conservator, committee, or guardian of the Beneficiary.
II. Benefits provided to the Company and to Executive's Beneficiary if the Policies have not Split before Executive dies
(a) After the death of the Executive, if the Policy (as defined in Article III) has not split (see Article IV) before Executive's death, the Policy shall pay to the Beneficiary (i) 24 times the base monthly salary provided by the Company to the Executive ("Base Monthly Salary") at the time of Executive's death, if the Executive dies while employed by the Company, or
(ii) 24 times the Base Monthly Salary for the month prior to the Executive's commencement of retirement. If the Executive has retired on disability retirement and become reemployed by the Company, or if the Executive otherwise becomes reemployed by the Company, the second date of commencement of retirement shall be used for purposes of computing benefits. The Company shall then be entitled to recover, out of the Policy's proceeds and directly from the Policy's insurer, the total of the premiums paid by the Company on the Policy, less any distributions to the Company (including loans) on the Policy.
(b) If the Policy's death benefits exceed the amounts that are to be paid to the Beneficiary and Company pursuant to paragraph (a), the Company shall be entitled to recover, from the Policy's proceeds and directly from the Policy's insurer, or if necessary, from the Beneficiary who has received
<PAGE 3>
payment of the Policy's proceeds, 100% of that excess. If the Policy's death benefits are inadequate to pay the Beneficiary in full pursuant to paragraph
(a), the Company shall have no obligation for the shortfall, except to the extent the shortfall is due to the Company's receipt of loans or other distributions on the Policy.
(c) An example of the Company's recovery from the Policy's proceeds hereunder is as follows. If the Company paid $150,000 in premiums on the Policy, and the Policy paid death benefits of $1,000,000, and the Executive's salary was $25,000.00 per month, the Beneficiary would first receive 24 times $25,000, or $600,000. Then, the Company would receive the $150,000 in premiums and the $250,000 excess, or $400,000 in total.
(d) The Executive agrees that he shall execute all documents and take all other actions that the Company may deem necessary or appropriate to enable it to obtain and secure the recovery from such Policy, from the proceeds thereof, and otherwise, of all of Company's entitlements under this Agreement and interests in the Policy. Among other things, this means that the Executive shall execute a collateral assignment in favor of Company respecting any Policy. Effectively, the Company shall have a first lien on the Policy and its proceeds in order to obtain such security. Also, the Executive shall cooperate with the Company and insurer so that it may obtain and maintain the Policy, and in this connection shall, if necessary, use his best efforts to provide, from time to time, such evidence of insurability as the insurer determines is necessary.
III. Policy and Premiums
(a) The Company has paid for or will pay for, from time to time, on behalf of and in the name of the Executive, a policy or policies which insure the Executive's life. This policy or policies are herein referred to as "the Policy". The Executive will own the Policy, although he hereby agrees, in this Agreement and through a collateral assignment designed to help implement this Agreement, to certain limitations upon his ownership rights, and to the transfer to the Company of interests in the Policy; i.e., rights in the Policy equivalent to its rights under this Agreement. Until such time as the split dollar arrangement is terminated pursuant to Article IV, the Executive or his
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successor in interest may not assign, pledge, attach, borrow or receive distributions from or otherwise encumber or alienate the Policy, except for the benefit of the Company, without the written consent of the Company. For example, if the Policy is assigned to a trust established by the Executive, or another assignee, such assignee may not assign, pledge, attach, borrow or receive distributions from or otherwise encumber or alienate the Policy without the written consent of the Company. If the Company substitutes a new policy or policies for any Policy, this new policy or policies shall be a Policy for purposes of this Agreement.
(b) The Company shall, until the time the Policy "splits" (see Article IV), use its best efforts to maintain in effect, from a financially strong insurer, the death benefits provided thereby. This normally will require the Company to pay the premiums on the Policy on a timely basis. The Company may use dividends on the Policy to pay those premiums in whole or in part, if same can be done without eliminating, reducing or otherwise impairing the death benefits provided under this Agreement. The Company shall also have the right to substitute a new policy or policies for an old Policy, provided the Executive consents, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. In that case, the Company shall have the right to receive the cash surrender value of the Policy to be cancelled or surrendered.
IV. Splitting the Policy
(a) The Policy shall "split" on February 14, 2014, i.e., the Executive's 70th birthday, if he survives to that date. Or, the Executive and Company may only by mutual agreement elect to split the Policy before or after that date. The Executive and Company, at least 90 days prior to the split date, shall provide the insurer of the Policy a written signed direction by which Executive assumes all the Company's rights and obligations under this Agreement and otherwise respecting the Policy, and by which Company gives up it rights in return for the payment described in (b) below. However, the splitting of the Policy shall comply with any other reasonable requirements as may be imposed by the Company, and any requirements of the Policy's insurer.
(b) When and if the Policy splits, the Company shall recover immediately, or at such other time as it elects, the total of the premiums it paid to maintain the Policy, less any distributions therefrom to the Company (including the then outstanding principal amount of loans to the Company).
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This recovery may be in cash or in the form of a paid-up policy having equivalent value, and the Company shall accomplish such recovery out of the values or proceeds of the Policy, or from the insurer of the Policy. If the Company cannot receive full recovery out of those proceeds or from the insurer, the Company may seek recovery from the Executive, his estate, his Beneficiary, or any assignees or successors of Executive's or Beneficiary's rights, if and to the extent any of them have received some or all of those proceeds. Notwithstanding the sentence above, if the Company's inability to obtain full recovery is due to the insurer's default or insolvency, the Company and the Executive shall share in this shortfall in proportion to their interests in the Policy, and the Company shall have no right to seek recovery against the Executive, his estate, or any assignees or successors of Executive's rights.
(c) After the Policy splits, the Company shall have no rights to or respecting the Policy other than as described in paragraph (b) above; all remaining rights are held by Executive or his Beneficiary, estate, assignee or successor.
V. Noninterference
The Executive covenants that neither he, nor his Beneficiary, nor any heirs, successors or assigns of either, shall interfere in any way in the Company's rights under this Agreement. The Executive also covenants that he and such other persons will not take any voluntary action that causes the Policy to fail, lapse or otherwise lack the full dollar coverage for which the Company purchased them, and will cooperate with Company and the insurer in all respects in obtaining and maintaining the Policy.
VI. Agreement Binding; Termination and Modification
This Agreement, and any amendments hereto, shall be binding upon the Company, the Executive, and his Beneficiary, and their heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns. If any part of this Agreement or the application of any part to certain persons or circumstances shall be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of the Agreement shall continue to be effective. This Agreement may not be terminated or modified by the Company or by the Executive without the written consent of both parties. Any oral modifications or modifications by reason of course of conduct, which shall not subsequently be agreed to in writing, shall be ineffective.
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VII. Assignment, Alienation and Change of Control
(a) This Agreement, the Executive's rights, benefits and obligations hereunder, and the rights, benefits and obligations of his Beneficiary hereunder, may not be assigned, pledged, attached, delegated or otherwise encumbered or alienated, without the written consent of the Company.
(b) The Company's obligations under this Agreement may not be assigned, delegated or otherwise alienated except that, in the event of an acquisition or other change of control of the Company, the Company may assign its obligations to the acquirer or entity assuming control if Executive is then alive, if Company gives at least ninety days notice to Executive, and provided that the acquirer or entity assuming control expressly affirms its obligations hereunder.
(c) This Article shall not be construed to prevent the Executive from revoking or modifying any Beneficiary designation. However, such revocation or modification must be in writing and be actually received by an officer of National Fuel Gas Company before it shall be effective respecting the Company.
VIII. If Executive Quits or Competes
The following may occur if the Executive's employment with the Company is terminated prior to his 65th birthday:
(a) If the Executive's employment is terminated for serious, wilful misconduct in respect of his obligations to the Company, which has damaged or is likely to damage the Company, or if the Executive, before or after the termination of his employment with the Company, shall be employed by any party which is then or becomes engaged in a business enterprise of any sort that is, in any material respect, competitive with the Company, or shall assist any such enterprise in engaging in such competition, or if the Executive shall endeavor, directly or indirectly, to interfere in the business relations of the Company or otherwise harm the Company as it shall reasonably determine, then the Chief Executive Officer of the Company or its Board of Directors may terminate the Executive's rights under this Agreement in whole or in part.
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(b) If none of the events described in (a) above has occurred, the Company may not terminate all of the Executive's rights under this Agreement but may cease paying all or some of the premiums respecting the Policy that may come due after such termination of employment, notwithstanding other provisions of this Agreement, even if that cessation prejudices the Beneficiary's expectation of receiving all or part of his death benefits under this Agreement.
IX. Miscellaneous
The laws of the State of New York shall govern this Agreement. The schedule attached hereto provides an example of how this Agreement is intended to operate, but shall not be considered to be a prediction, projection or guarantee in any respect.
The Executive understands that the benefits provided under this Agreement will or may result in taxable income to him, and the Company reserves the right to implement tax withholding respecting such amounts as and when it may deem it appropriate.
If the Executive commits suicide, while sane or insane, on or before April 1, 1993, no benefits shall be paid to Executive's Beneficiary or otherwise under this Agreement.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement at Buffalo, in the County of Erie and State of New York, effective April 1, 1991.
NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY

By/s/Robert J. Dauer                              By/s/Bernard J. Kennedy
Witness                                                 Bernard J. Kennedy,
                                                       Chairman of the Board,
                                                      Chief Executive Officer
                                                         and President

EXECUTIVE

By/s/Robert J. Dauer                                  By/s/Philip C. Ackerman
Witness                                                    Philip C. Ackerman



                                                                            EXHIBIT 12

                                 COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF
                                EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
                                       (UNAUDITED)

                                              Fiscal Year Ended September 30
                                  1994        1993        1992        1991        1990
                                    $           $           $           $           $
EARNINGS:

Income Before Interest
 Charges (2)                     127,885     125,742     118,222     110,240     109,781
Allowance for Borrowed
 Funds Used in Construct.            209         174       1,088       2,278       1,273
Federal Income Tax                36,630      21,148      17,680      (3,929)     17,435
State Income Tax                   6,309       2,979       3,426         342       2,419
Deferred Inc. Taxes - Net(3)       4,857      16,923      14,130      26,880       7,657
Invest. Tax Credit - Net            (685)       (698)       (711)       (746)       (798)
Rentals (1)                        5,730       5,621       5,857       4,915       4,915


                                 180,935     171,889     159,692     139,980     142,682

FIXED CHARGES:

Interest and Amortization
 of Premium and Discount
 on Funded Debt                   36,699      38,507      39,949      41,916      37,236
Interest on Commercial
 Paper and Short-Term
 Notes Payable                     5,599       7,465      12,093      11,933      12,521
Other Interest (2)                 3,361       4,727       6,958       9,679       9,298
Rentals (1)                        5,730       5,621       5,857       4,915       4,915

                                  51,389      56,320      64,857      68,443      63,970
Ratio of Earnings to
 Fixed Charges                      3.52        3.05        2.46        2.05        2.23

Notes:

<FN1>  Rentals shown above represent the portion of all rentals (other than
       delay rentals) deemed representative of the interest factor.

<FN2>  The fiscal years ended 9/30/94 and 9/30/93 reflect the reclassification
       of $1,674 and $1,374, respectively, representing the loss on reacquired
       debt amortized during each period, from Other Interest Charges to
       Operation Expense.

<FN3>  Deferred Income Taxes - Net for the fiscal year ended 9/30/94 excludes
       the cumulative effect of changes in accounting.
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EXHIBIT 23.1
RALPH E. DAVIS ASSOCIATES, INC.
CONSULTANTS-PETROLEUM AND NATURAL GAS
3555 TIMMONS LANE - SUITE 1105
HOUSTON, TEXAS 77027
 (713) 622-8955
CONSENT OF ENGINEER
We hereby consent to the reproduction of our report dated October 1, 1994, and to the reference to our estimate dated October 1, 1994, appearing in this National Fuel Gas Company Annual Report on Form 10-K.
We also consent to the incorporation by reference in (i) the Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 2-94539), as amended, relating to the National Fuel Gas Company 1983 Incentive Stock Option Plan and the National Fuel Gas Company 1984 Stock Plan, and in the related Prospectuses, (ii) the Registration Statements (Form S-8, No. 33-28037, and Nos. 2-97641 and 33-17341), as amended, relating to the National Fuel Gas Company Tax-Deferred Savings Plan and the National Fuel Gas Company Tax-Deferred Savings Plan for Non-Union Employees, respectively, and in the related Prospectuses, (iii) the Registration Statement (Form S-3, No. 33-49401), as amended, relating to $350,000,000 of National Fuel Gas Company debentures and/or medium term notes and in the related Prospectus, (iv) the Registration Statement (Form S-3, No. 33-51881), as amended, relating to the National Fuel Gas Company Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plan, and in the related Prospectuses, (v) the Registration Statement (Form S-3, No. 33-36868), as amended, relating to the National Fuel Gas Company Customer Stock Purchase Plan, and in the related Prospectus, and (vi) the Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 33-49693), as amended, relating to the National Fuel Gas Company 1993 Award and Option Plan, and in the related Prospectus; of the reproduction of our report dated October 1, 1994, appearing in this National Fuel Gas Company Annual Report on Form 10-K.
RALPH E. DAVIS ASSOCIATES, INC.

Houston, Texas                           /s/Allen C. Barron
December 22, 1994                            Allen C. Barron
                                            Vice President


EXHIBIT 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Prospectuses constituting part of the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 33-51881), Form S-3 (No. 33-49401), Form S-3 (No. 33-36868), Form S-8 (No. 2-97641), Form S-8 (No. 33-17341), Form S-8 (No. 33-28037), Form S-8 (No. 2-94539) and Form S-8 (No. 33-49693) of National Fuel Gas Company of our report dated October 28, 1994 appearing on page 53 of this Form 10-K.
PRICE WATERHOUSE LLP
Buffalo, New York
December 22, 1994
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EXHIBIT 3.1
Amended 2/21/85
6/19/86
7/07/88
6/14/90
6/18/92
12/8/93
6/09/94
NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY
BY-LAWS
ARTICLE I
Meeting of Stockholders
l. Meetings of stockholders may be held at such place, within or without the State of New Jersey, as may be fixed by the Board of Directors and stated in the notice of the meeting.
2. In 1995 and thereafter, the annual meeting of stockholders shall be held on the third Thursday in February in each year beginning at ten o'clock in the forenoon, local time, unless such day shall be a holiday, in which event such meeting shall be held at the same hour on the next succeeding business day. In 1994, the annual meeting of stockholders shall be held on Wednesday, February 16, at ten o'clock in the forenoon, local time.
3. Except as otherwise provided by New Jersey law, written notice of the time, place and purpose or purposes of every meeting of stockholders shall be given not less than l0 nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting, either personally or by mail, to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting.
4. Unless otherwise provided by statute, all Special Meetings shall be called upon the written request of three or more directors or of stockholders owning one-fourth of the capital stock issued and outstanding.
5. Unless otherwise provided in the Company's Certificate of Incorporation or in New Jersey law, (i) the holders of shares entitled to cast a majority of the votes at any meeting of stockholders shall constitute a quorum at such meeting except that the votes that holders of any class or
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series of shares are entitled to cast shall not be counted in the determination of a quorum for action to be taken at a meeting with respect to which such class or series has no vote, and (ii) the holders of shares of any class or series entitled to cast a majority of the votes of such class or series entitled to vote separately on a specified item of business shall constitute a quorum of such class or series for the transaction of such specified item of business.
If a quorum shall not be so represented, the stockholders present at any meeting of stockholders shall have power to adjourn the meeting to another time at the same or at another place. If the time and place to which the meeting is adjourned are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken and at the adjourned meeting only such business is transacted as might have been transacted at the original meeting, it shall not be necessary to give notice of the adjourned meeting unless after the adjournment the Board of Directors fixes a new record date for the adjourned meeting. In the event the Board of Directors fixes such a new record date, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each stockholder of record at the new record date entitled to notice under Article I paragraph 3 of these By-Laws.
6. At each election of Directors, the proxies and ballots shall be received and all questions respecting the qualification of voters shall be decided by two inspectors, who shall be appointed by the presiding officer of the meeting; provided however, that no candidate for election as Director shall act as inspector. Such inspectors shall be sworn faithfully to perform their duties and shall report in writing the results of the ballot.
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ARTICLE II
 Board of Directors
1. The Board of Directors shall consist of (i) such number of directors, not less than seven nor more than eleven, as may be determined from time to time by resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the entire Board of Directors, and (ii) such directors as may be elected by vote of the holders of shares of preferred stock, when and as provided in the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company. In order to qualify for election as a director, a nominee must be a shareholder of the Company.
2. Subject to the provisions of the Statutes of the State of New Jersey, the Certificate of Incorporation, and the By-Laws of the Corporation, the Board of Directors shall have full and complete management and control of the business and affairs of the Corporation.
3. The Board of Directors may hold its meetings or any adjournment thereof either in the State of New Jersey or elsewhere and keep the books of the Corporation (except the stock and transfer books) at such places within or without the State of New Jersey as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine.
4. Meetings of the Board of Directors may be called at the direction of the Chairman of the Board, the President, or any three of the Directors for the time being in office.
5. Notice of any meetings of the Board of Directors shall be given to each Director by mailing the same to him at his last known address, as the same appears upon the records of the Corporation at least five days before the meeting or by telegraphing, telephoning or delivering the same to him personally at least one day before the meeting.
6. At any meeting of the Board of Directors, there may be transacted without special notice, any business within
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the powers of the Directors to transact, except that of which the Statutes of the State of New Jersey expressly require special notice shall be given.
7. A majority of the Directors in office shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of any business which may properly come before them. If a majority of said Directors shall not be present at any meeting, the Directors present shall have power to adjourn to a day certain, and notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given by mailing the same addressed to each Director at his address as the same appears upon the records of the Corporation, at least two days prior to the adjourned meeting, or by telegraphing, telephoning or delivering the same to him personally at least one day before said adjourned meeting. But, if a majority of the said Board of Directors are present, the said meeting or any adjourned meeting thereof, may be adjourned to a subsequent day without notice of such adjournment.
8. A. The Corporation shall indemnify any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any pending, threatened or completed civil, criminal, administrative or arbitrative action, suit or proceeding, and any appeal therein and any inquiry or investigation which could lead to such action, suit or proceeding ("Proceeding") by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the Corporation, or, while a director or officer of the Corporation, is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, trustee, employee or agent of another foreign or domestic corporation, or of any partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship, employee benefit plan, trust or other enterprise, whether or not for profit, to the fullest extent permitted and in the manner provided by the laws of the State of New Jersey.
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B. Nothing in this paragraph 8 shall restrict or limit the power of the Corporation to indemnify its employees, agents and other persons, to advance expenses (including attorneys' fees) on their behalf and to purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation in connection with any Proceeding.
C. The indemnification provided by this paragraph 8 shall not exclude any other rights to which a person seeking indemnification may be entitled under the Certificate of Incorporation, By-Laws, agreement, vote of shareholders or otherwise. The indemnification provided by this paragraph 8 shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director or officer, and shall extend to the estate or personal representative of any deceased director or officer."
9. Each Director who is not a regular full time employee of the Corporation or one or more of its subsidiaries, shall be paid an annual fee of $l8,000.00 payable quarterly in advance. Each Director of the Corporation who is not a regular full time employee of the Corporation or one or more of its subsidiaries, shall receive a fee of $1,000 for attendance at any meeting of the Board of Directors and a fee of $800 for attendance at any meeting of any committee of the Board of Directors, except that if a Director participates in a committee meeting by telephone, the fee shall be $500. Each Director shall be reimbursed for the travel expenses incurred by him/her in attending any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee of the Board of Directors.
10. No contract or other transaction between this Corporation or a subsidiary of this Corporation and any other corporation shall be affected by the fact that Directors of this Corporation are interested in, or are directors or officers of such other corporation. If at the meeting of the Board of Directors authorizing or confirming such contract or transaction, there shall be present a number of Directors not
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interested in the contract or transaction equal to the number of Directors necessary for a quorum plus one, any Director individually may be a party to any contract or transaction of this Corporation provided that such contract or transaction shall be approved or be ratified by the affirmative vote of at least five Directors.
ARTICLE III
Officers
1. At the first meeting after the annual election, the Board of Directors shall choose a Chairman of the Board and a President, both of whom shall be members of the Board of Directors, and one or more Vice Presidents, a Secretary, a Treasurer and a Controller, who need not be members of the Board of Directors, and who shall hold their respective offices until others are chosen and qualify in their stead. The offices of Secretary and Treasurer may be filled by the same person.
2. In its discretion, the Board of Directors may leave unfilled for such period as it may determine, any office except the offices of the President, Treasurer and Secretary.
3. The Chairman of the Board shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. He shall preside at all meetings of the Board of Directors and shall, during the recess of the Board of Directors, have general control and management of the affairs and business of the Corporation. In the absence of the President, he shall preside at stockholders' meetings.
4. In addition to the duties and responsibilities specified in the laws of the State of New Jersey and these By-Laws, the President shall preside at all stockholders' meetings and shall perform such other duties as from time to time may be assigned to him by the Board of Directors. In the absence of the Chairman of the Board, or in the event that there is a vacancy in the office of the Chairman of the Board,
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the President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation and shall perform all the duties of the Chairman of the Board as well as those of President.
5. Each Vice President shall perform such duties as shall from time to time be assigned to him by the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board, or the President.
6. The Secretary, in addition to his statutory duties, shall give proper notice of all meetings of the stockholders and of the Board of Directors. He shall act as Secretary of all meetings of the stockholders and shall perform such other duties as shall from time to time be assigned to him by the Board of Directors or President.
7. The Treasurer, in addition to his statutory duties, shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements of the funds belonging to the Corporation, and shall cause to be deposited all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Corporation in such depositories as may from time to time be designated by the Board of Directors. He shall disburse the funds of the Corporation as may be ordered by the Board, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the President and Directors whenever they may require it, account of all his transactions as Treasurer, and of the financial condition of the Corporation. He shall perform such other duties as shall be assigned to him by the Board or President, and shall give a bond for the faithful discharge of his duties in such sum and with such surety or sureties as the Board of Directors may from time to time require.
8. The Controller shall see that adequate records of all assets, liabilities and transactions of the Corporation are maintained; that adequate audits thereof, are currently and regularly made, and in conjunction with other officers, initiate and enforce measures and procedures whereby the
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business of the Corporation shall be conducted with maximum efficiency, safety and economy. He shall also perform all such other duties as usually pertain to the office of Controller. He shall be in all matters subject to the control of and responsible to the Board of Directors alone.
9. The Board of Directors may from time to time appoint such other officers and agents as they may deem necessary or advisable for the transaction of the business of the Corporation, who shall hold their offices during the pleasure of the Board of Directors and perform such duties as may from time to time be designated or assigned to them by said Board of Directors.
10. If the office of the Chairman of the Board, the President, Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer, or Controller or one or more of them becomes vacant for any reason whatsoever, the Board of Directors at any duly convened meeting may, by a majority vote of those present, fill such vacancy and the person elected shall hold office for the unexpired term of such office and until his successor shall be chosen.
11. All officers and agents chosen or appointed by the Board of Directors shall be subject to removal by the Board of Directors at any time with or without cause, and in the case of the absence of any officer or agent of the Corporation, or for any other reason that may seem sufficient to the Board of Directors, the said Board of Directors subject to the limitations herein contained and the statutes in such case made and provided, may, without removal, delegate his powers and duties to any other officer or suitable person for such period as it shall deem proper.
12. All duly authorized bonds and debentures of the Corporation shall be signed on behalf of the Corporation by its Chairman of the Board or its President, or one of its Vice Presidents or, if so provided by resolution of the Board of
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Directors, by one or more of such officers and such other officer or officers designated by the Board of Directors; any or all such signatures may be manual or facsimile signatures, the signature on interest coupons attached to any said bonds or debentures shall be a facsimile signature; and the corporate seal or a facsimile of such seal may be impressed, affixed, imprinted or otherwise reproduced on said bonds and debentures and, if attested, shall be attested by the Corporation's Secretary or Assistant Secretary by manual or facsimile signature. In case any person whose signature (manual or facsimile) appears upon any said bond or debenture or coupons attached thereto shall cease to be an officer of the Corporation, or shall cease to be the officer specified thereon, before the bonds or debentures so signed shall have been authenticated by the trustee under the indenture or other instrument pursuant to which the bonds or debentures are delivered or sold, such bonds or debentures or coupons may nevertheless be adopted by the Corporation, without further action by the Board of Directors, and authenticated and delivered and sold as though the person or persons who so signed or attested such bonds or debentures or coupons had not ceased to be an officer of the Corporation or the officer specified thereof; and any bonds or debentures may be signed as aforesaid; and the seal of the Corporation impressed, affixed, imprinted or otherwise reproduced thereon may be attested on behalf of the Corporation as aforesaid, and coupons attached may be signed as aforesaid by such persons as at the actual date of the execution of the bonds or debentures or coupons shall be the proper officers of the Corporations, although at the time of the date of the bonds or debentures, such persons may not have been officers of the Corporation.
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ARTICLE IV
 Executive Committee
1. The Directors may appoint an executive committee and one or more other committees of not less than three members to be chosen from among the members of the Board of Directors. Such committees may meet at such times and places as the committee shall, by resolution, determine and it shall make its own rules of procedure. A majority of the members of any such committee shall constitute a quorum.
2. Except as otherwise provided by Board resolution, each such committee shall have and may exercise the power of the Board of Directors in the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation at any time when the Board of Directors are not in session. Each such committee shall, however, be subject to the specific directions of the Board of Directors.
3. Each such committee shall keep regular minutes of their transactions and shall cause them to be recorded in books to be kept for that purpose in the office of the Corporation, and shall report the same to the Board of Directors at their regular meetings.
ARTICLE V
Transfer of Shares
1. Except as otherwise provided by statute, shares shall be transferred on the books of the Corporation only by the holder thereof in person or by his attorney upon the surrender and cancellation of the certificate or certificates of a like number of shares, except in case of lost or destroyed certificates, and in that case only after the receipt of a satisfactory bond if required by the Board of Directors.
2. The Board of Directors may appoint a transfer agent and a registrar of transfers, and may require all stock certificates to bear the signatures of either or both.
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ARTICLE VI
 Fiscal Year
1. The fiscal year of the corporation shall begin on the 1st day of October in each calendar year and end on the 30th day of September of the next succeeding year.
ARTICLE VII
Dividends and Working Capital
1. Before declaring any dividends or making any distribution of profits, the Directors may set apart out of the net profits or out of the surplus of the Corporation as a reserve fund to be used as working capital or for any other proper purpose, such sum or sums as the Directors shall in their discretion deem just and proper and most for the benefit of the Corporation.
2. Dividends upon the capital stock of the Corporation when declared shall be payable on dates to be determined by the Board of Directors.
ARTICLE VIII
Closing of Transfer Books and Fixing a Record Book
The Board of Directors may close the stock transfer books of the Corporation for a period not exceeding sixty days preceding the date of any meeting of stockholders or the date for payment of any dividend, or the date for the allotment of rights, or the date when any change or conversion or exchange of capital stock shall go into effect.
In lieu of so closing the stock transfer books, the Board of Directors may fix, in advance, a date, not exceeding sixty days preceding the date of any meeting of stockholders, or the date for the payment of any dividend, or the date for the allotment of rights, or the date when any change or conversion or exchange of capital stock shall go into effect, as a record date for the determination of the stockholders
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entitled to notice of, and to vote at, any such meeting, or entitled to receive payment of any such dividend, or any such allotment of rights, or to exercise the rights in respect to any such change, conversion or exchange of capital stock, and in such case only stockholders of record on the date so fixed shall be entitled to such notice of, and to vote at, such meeting, or to receive payment of such dividend, or allotment of rights or exercise of such rights, as the case may be, and notwithstanding any transfer of any stock on the books of the Corporation after any such record date fixed as aforesaid.
ARTICLE IX
Waiver of Notice
1. Any notice required to be given by these By-Laws may be waived by the person entitled thereto.

ARTICLE X
 Seal
1. The common corporate seal is and until otherwise ordered by the Board of Directors shall be an impression upon paper or wax bearing the words - "NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY, NEW JERSEY, INCORPORATED 1902".
ARTICLE XI
Amendment of By-Laws
1. Except as otherwise provided by statute, the Board of Directors shall have power to make, alter or repeal the By-Laws of the Corporation by a vote of a majority of all the Directors at any duly convened meeting of the Board, but any By-Laws so made or otherwise promulgated may be altered or repealed and new By-Laws made by the stockholders at any duly conveyed meeting thereof.
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EXHIBIT 99.1
[Letterhead]
Ralph E. Davis Associates, Inc.
Consultants-Petroleum and Natural Gas
3555 Timmons Lane-Suite 1105
Houston, Texas 77027
(716) 622-8955
October 21, 1994
Seneca Resources Corporation
333 Clay Street, Suite 4150
Houston, Texas 77002

Attention:    Mr. Emmett Wassell
              General Manager


              Re:  Oil, Condensate and Natural Gas
                   Reserves and Future Net Revenues,
                   Certain Leaseholds of
                   Seneca Resources Corporation
                   As of October 1, 1994

Gentlemen:
At your request, the firm of Ralph E. Davis Associates, Inc. has made a study of the oil, condensate and natural gas reserves on leaseholds in which Seneca Resources Corporation has certain interests. This report presents our estimate of the Proved Developed (producing and non-producing) and/or Proved Undeveloped reserves anticipated to be produced from those leaseholds.
The reserves associated with these estimates have been classified in accordance with the Security and Exchange Commission's Regulation S-X, Rule 4-10, Financial Accounting and Reporting for Oil and Gas Producing Activities. We have also estimated the non-escalated future net revenue and discounted present value associated with those reserves ad of October 1, 1994. The present value is presented for your information and should not be construed as an estimate of fair market value. The results of our study may be summarized as follows:
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Seneca Resources Corp.
Mr. Emmett Wassell
October 21, 1994
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Estimated Reserves and Future Income Net to Seneca Resources Corporation
As of October 1, 1994
Proved Reserves

                              Developed
Remaining Reserves      Producing Non-Producing  Undeveloped    Total

Oil/Condensate, MBbls     6,598          3,514     7,383         17,495
Gas, MMSCF              111,093         68,197    68,157        247,447

Future Income: $1000.00

Future Gross Revenue    327,762        159,107   219,004        705,874
Operating Expense        85,018          7,094    23,428        115,540
Taxes & Trans. Expense   28,106          4,945    10,010         43,061
Future Capital Expense   21,629         18,455    54,215         94,299

Future Net Income (FNI) 193,009 128,613 131,351 452,973 FNI Discounted at 10% 122,518 78,584 81,770 282,872
Oil and condensate volumes are expressed in barrels or thousands of barrels (MBbls) of stock tank oil and condensate. Gas volumes are expressed in millions of standard cubic feet (MMCF) at the official temperature and pressure bases of the areas wherein the gas reserves are located.
DISCUSSION
Calculations of reserves presented in this report were accomplished by either volumetric or performance techniques. The bulk of basic data, including certain logs, core analysis reports and oil and gas production records, were provided by the client. Other information was obtained from commercial sources. Ralph E. Davis Associates, Inc. performed no basic geologic interpretations, but did review the geologic data and interpretations furnished by Seneca Resources Corporation.
Proved reserves were established for all wells with zones on commercial production, shut-in awaiting pipeline connection, shut-in awaiting recompletion or undrilled locations on proven spacing. Schedules for future development drilling were furnished by either Seneca Resources or the operator of the property and were reviewed as to the reasonableness of the programs.
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SUMMARY CONCLUSIONS
Seneca Resources Corporation has provided access to all of its accounts, records, geological and engineering data, reports and other information as required for this investigation. The ownership interests, prices, product classifications relating to prices and other factual data were accepted as furnished without verification. No independent well tests, property inspections, or audits of operating expenses were conducted by our staff in conjunction with this study.
In order to estimate the reserves, costs and future revenues shown in this report, we have relied in part on geological, engineering and economic data furnished by Seneca Resources Corporation. Although we have a best efforts attempt to acquire all pertinent data and to analyze it carefully with methods accepted by the petroleum industry, there is no guarantee that the volumes of oil or gas or the revenues projected will be realized. The reserve and revenue projections presented in this report may require revision as additional data become available.
No consideration was given in this report to potential environmental liabilities which may exist, nor were any costs included for potential liability to restore and clean up damages, if any, caused by past operating practices.
Neither Ralph E. Davis Associates, Inc. nor its employees has any interest in the subject properties and neither the employment to make this study nor our compensation is contingent on our estimates of reserves and future income for the subject properties.
This report has been prepared under the direct supervision of Allen C. Barron, P. E., Registered Professional Engineer No. 49284, State of Texas, U.S.A.
We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you in this matter. Any questions or inquiries should be directed to the above.
Very truly yours,
RALPH E. DAVIS ASSOCIATES, INC.

    /s/Allen C. Barron
    Allen C. Barron, P. E.
    Vice President
ACB:cg
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QUALIFICATIONS
The following statements relate to the attached reserve report and define both specific items and general circumstances addressed by Ralph E. Davis, Associates, Inc. (RED) in its analysis.
DATA SOURCE
Basic well and field data used in the preparation of this report were furnished by Seneca Resources Corporation, the operators, or were obtained from commercial sources. RED has accepted as correct the records as they pertain to factual matters such as acreage controlled, the number and depths of wells, reservoir pressure and production history, the existence of contractual obligations to others and similar matters. Additionally, the analysis of these properties utilized not only the basic data on the subject wells, as provided, but also data on analogous properties as acquired by RED through its own files and certain industry, statistical libraries. Well logs, ownership interest, prices, and operating costs were furnished by Seneca Resources Corporation. RED made no physical inspection of the properties nor conducted any well tests.
RESERVE ESTIMATES
In determining the estimates of oil, gas, and condensate reserves included in this report, available data relating to pressure and production history and geological and well test information were utilized. Reserve estimates are based primarily upon extensive pressure or production history or were determined from volumetric analysis or by analogy with wells in the area producing from the same or similar formations.
The accuracy of reserve estimates is dependent upon the quality of available data and upon the independent geological and engineering interpretation of that data. Reserve estimates presented in this report were calculated using accepted engineering methods and procedures and are believed to be reasonable. However, future reservoir performance might justify revision of these estimates.
PRODUCING RATES
For the purpose of this report, estimated reserves are scheduled for recovery on the basis of actual producing rates or appropriate well test information. They were prepared giving consideration to engineering and geological data such as reservoir pressures, core analysis, reservoir volumes, anticipated producing mechanisms, the number and types of completions, as well as the past performance of analogous reservoirs.
These and other future rates may be subject to regulation by various agencies or changes in market demand or other factors; consequently, reserves actually recovered and the real rates of recovery may vary from the estimates included herein.
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PRICING PROVISIONS
Crude Oil and Condensate - Unit prices used throughout this report for crude oil and condensate are those specific prices being received by the company where properties are currently being produced. Prices for liquid reserves scheduled for initial production at some future date were estimated from current prices on the same property. Liquid prices were held constant throughout the producing life of the properties.
Natural Gas - Unit prices used throughout this report for natural gas are those specific prices being received by the company where properties are currently being produced. Adjustments for BTU content and tax reimbursement were taken into account where appropriate. Prices for other gas reserves scheduled for initial production at some future date were estimated from current prices on the same property. Gas prices were held constant throughout the producing life of the properties.
FUTURE NET INCOME
Future net income or net cash flow is based upon gross income from future production, less direct lease operating expenses and taxes (production, severance, ad valorem or other). Estimated future capital for development and workover costs were also deducted from gross income at the time they will be expended. No allowance was made for depletion, depreciation, income taxes or administrative expense.
Direct lease operating expense includes direct costs of operations of each lease or an estimated value for future operations based upon analogous properties. No direct lease operating expense or taxes have been included in the cash flow schedules of those wells which currently have no economic reserves. Neither capital costs for drilling and/or major workover expense nor operating costs were escalated. Neither the cost to abandon onshore properties nor the salvage value of equipment was considered in this report.
Future net income has been discounted for present worth at values ranging from 0 to 100 percent using continuous discounting. In this report the future net income is discounted at a primary rate of ten (10.0) percent.


ARTICLE UT
THE SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM NATIONAL FUEL GAS COMPANY'S CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES.




PERIOD TYPE
12 MOS
FISCAL YEAR END
SEP 30 1994
PERIOD END
SEP 30 1994
BOOK VALUE
PER BOOK
TOTAL NET UTILITY PLANT
1,542,739
OTHER PROPERTY AND INVEST
0
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
220,938
TOTAL DEFERRED CHARGES
15,796
OTHER ASSETS
202,184
TOTAL ASSETS
1,981,657
COMMON
37,278
CAPITAL SURPLUS PAID IN
379,156
RETAINED EARNINGS
363,854
TOTAL COMMON STOCKHOLDERS EQ
780,288
PREFERRED MANDATORY
0
PREFERRED
0
LONG TERM DEBT NET
462,500
SHORT TERM NOTES
102,500
LONG TERM NOTES PAYABLE
0
COMMERCIAL PAPER OBLIGATIONS
10,000
LONG TERM DEBT CURRENT PORT
96,000
PREFERRED STOCK CURRENT
0
CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS
0
LEASES CURRENT
0
OTHER ITEMS CAPITAL AND LIAB
530,369
TOT CAPITALIZATION AND LIAB
1,981,657
GROSS OPERATING REVENUE
1,141,324
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
47,792
OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES
967,629
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
1,015,421
OPERATING INCOME LOSS
125,903
OTHER INCOME NET
3,656
INCOME BEFORE INTEREST EXPEN
129,559
TOTAL INTEREST EXPENSE
47,124
NET INCOME
85,672
PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS
0
EARNINGS AVAILABLE FOR COMM
85,672
COMMON STOCK DIVIDENDS
57,725
TOTAL INTEREST ON BONDS
36,699
CASH FLOW OPERATIONS
199,229
EPS PRIMARY
2.32
EPS DILUTED
2.32

